# NetDMR National Installation



## Permittee and Data Provider User Guide

July 2012

NetDMR Regulatory Authority User Guide July 2012







## **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1. Structure of this Guide	1
1.1.1. Organization	1
1.1.2. User Guide Notation and Conventions	1
1.1.2.1. Tips	1
1.2. Background – What is the National Installation of NetDMR?	1
1.3. System Requirements	2
1.3.1. Enabling Session Cookies	2
1.4. Types of Users and Their Roles	3
1.5. Security	6
1.5.1. System Access	6
1.5.1.1. System Time-Out	9
1.5.1.2. Logging Out	9
1.6. Look and Feel	9
1.6.1. General System Navigation	9
1.6.2. NetDMR Pages	9
1.6.3. Entry of Data	11
1.6.3.1. Text Boxes	11
1.6.3.2. Checkboxes	11
1.6.3.3. Radio Buttons	12
1.6.3.4. Pick lists	12
1.6.3.5. Multi-Select Lists	12
1.6.3.6. Calendar Icons	13
1.6.4. Page Types	14
1.6.4.1. Search Pages	14
1.6.4.2. List Pages	15
1.7. Resources for More Information	15
Chapter 2. Managing Your Account	.16
2.1. Creating an Account	16
2.1.1. General Information Rules	19
2.2. Searching for Available Permit Ids	20
2.3. Requesting View or Edit Access	20
2.4. Requesting a Permit Administrator and Signatory Role	22
2.5. Viewing an Account	25
2.6. Editing an Account	27
2.6.1. Request Access Rights Change	28
2.6.2. Security Questions and Answers	28
2.6.2.1. Reset Security Questions	28
2.6.3. Change Password	29
2.6.3.1. Reset Password	30
2.6.4. Lock Account	31
2.7. Unlocking Your Account	31
2.8. Resetting a Password	32
2.9. Retrieving a Forgotten User Name	33
2.10. Retrieving a Forgotten Password	34
2.11. Disabled Accounts	35



Chapter 3. Permit Administrator Procedures	36
3.1. Managing Access Requests	37
3.1.1. Managing Permittee and Data Provider User Access Requests	38
3.1.2. Deleting User Access Rights	39
3.1.3. Managing Partially Completed Internal User Access Requests	41
3.2. Sign and Submit DMRs	42
3.3. Edit, Import, Correct and Delete DMRs	43
3.4. Search and View DMRs and CORs	43
3.5. Download Blank DMRs	43
3.6. Search Permits	43
3.6.1. Permit Search from Home Page	43
3.6.2. View Permit Details	44
3.7. Search Users	46
3.7.1. User Search from Home Page	46
3.7.2. User Search Results	47
3.7.3. View User Account Details	48
3.8. Viewing All Signatories and Users for Permits	50
3.8.1. Viewing All Permit Signatories	50
3.8.2. Viewing All Permit Users	51
3.8.2.1. View User Details	52
Chapter 4. Signatory Procedures	54
4.1. Search and View DMRs Not Ready to Submit	55
4.2. Edit, Import, Correct and Delete DMRs	55
4.3. Search and View CORs	55
4.3.1.1. Search Using Last 10 Logins Table	55
4.4. Download Blank DMRs	56
4.5. Sign and Submit DMRs	56
4.5.1. Sign & Submit DMRs	56
4.5.1.1. Search for DMRs Using the DMRs Ready to Submit Tab	56
4.5.1.2. Selecting DMRs to Sign and Submit Using the DMR Search Results Page	57
4.5.1.3. Sign and Submit a DMR	59
4.5.1.4. Submission Confirmation	61
4.5.1.5. View Submission Errors/Warnings	62
4.6. COR Functionality	63
4.6.1. Repudiating the COR	63
4.7. Managing Access Requests	63
4.8. Search Permits	64
4.9. Search Users	64
4.10. Viewing All Signatories and Users for Permits	64
Chapter 5. View and Edit Roles	65
5.1. Searching for DMRs	66
5.1.1. Search All DMRs & Copies of Record	67
5.1.2. Search DMRs Ready to Submit	68
5.2. Viewing DMRs	69
5.2.1. Edit a DMR	72
5.2.1.1. Header Section	73
5.2.1.2. Parameter Section	75





5.2.1.3. Edit Check Errors Table	79
5.2.1.4. Add an Attachment	81
5.2.2. Import DMRs	82
5.2.2.1. Import Procedure	83
5.2.2.2. Import Validation	85
5.2.2.3. DMR Import Results	85
5.2.2.4. DMR Import Log	87
5.2.3. Correct a DMR	
5.2.3.1. Correct a DMR	89
5.2.4. Delete a DMR	90
5.3. COR Functionality	91
5.3.1. Searching for CORs	92
5.3.2. Viewing a COR	94
5.3.3. Downloading a COR	95
5.3.4. Viewing a COR's Certification	97
5.3.5. Viewing a COR Signature	98
5.3.6. Downloading a COR's Signature Public Key	99
5.4. Download a Blank DMR	101
Appendix A – Subscriber Agreement	102
Appendix B – Import DMR File Format	109
Appendix C – Import DMR File Specifications	112
Appendix D – ICIS DMR Processing Errors	118
Appendix E – NetDMR Error Messages	125
Appendix F – Agency Maps	128
Appendix G – Basic Permit and DMR Refresh	130
Appendix H – Job Processing Schedules	135
Appendix I – Troubleshooting Missing DMRs	136
Appendix J – Frequently Asked Questions	139
Appendix K – Requesting Assistance	149
Appendix L - 40 CFR 122.22	150

## **List of Figures**

Figure 1-1: NetDMR User Categories and Their Roles	5
Figure 1-2: Functions of the Various NetDMR Roles	6
Figure 1-3: NetDMR Welcome Page	7
Figure 1-4: NetDMR Login Page	8
Figure 1-5: NetDMR Permittee User Home Page	8
Figure 1-6: Example of Text Boxes	11
Figure 1-7: Example of Checkboxes	11
Figure 1-8: Example of Radio Buttons	12
Figure 1-9: Example of a Pick list	12
Figure 1-10: Example of Multi-Select List	13
Figure 1-11: Calendar Pop-up Window	13
Figure 1-12: Sample Search Page	14
Figure 1-13: Sample List Page	15





Figure 2-1: NetDMR Create Account Page	17
Figure 2-2: NetDMR Complete Account Creation Process Page	18
Figure 2-3: New Account Data Checking Rules	20
Figure 2-4: Request Access to Permits and Associated DMRs Page	21
Figure 2-5: Request Access to Permits and Associated DMRs Page	23
Figure 2-6: Additional Information Required Page	24
Figure 2-7: My Account Page	26
Figure 2-8: Edit Account Page	27
Figure 2-9: Locked Account Notification Page	31
Figure 2-10: Regulatory Authority Contact Page	32
Figure 3-1: Permit Administrator Home Page	
Figure 3-2: Manage Access Requests Page	
Figure 3-3: View Users Page	40
Figure 3-4: Manage Access Requests Page	41
Figure 3-5: Search Permit ID Page	43
Figure 3-6: View Permit Details Page	44
Figure 3-7: Search Users Page	46
Figure 3-8: User Search Results Page	47
Figure 3-9: View User Account Details Page	49
Figure 3-10: View Permit Page	50
Figure 3-11: View Users Page	51
Figure 3-12: View Users Page	
Figure 4-1: Signatory Home Page	
Figure 4-2: DMRs Ready to Submit Page	
Figure 4-3: DMR/COR Search Results Page	
Figure 4-4: Sign & Submit DMR Page	59
Figure 4-5: Submission Confirmation Page	61
Figure 4-6: DMR Submission Error and/or Warnings Page	62
Figure 5-1: Permittee/Data Provider View Home Page	65
Figure 5-2: Permittee/Data Provider Edit Home Page	66
Figure 5-3: DMRs Ready to Submit Page	68
Figure 5-4: DMR/COR Search Results Page for View Access	69
Figure 5-5: DMR/COR Search Results Page – Edit Access	69
Figure 5-6: Edit DMR Page	73
Figure 5-7: Import DMRs Page	83
Figure 5-8: DMR Import Results Page	86
Figure 5-9: DMR Import Log Page	87
Figure 5-10: DMR Copy of Record Page	94
Figure 5-11:COR Certification Statement Page	98
Figure 5-12:COR Signature Page	99





## **Chapter 1. Introduction**

#### 1.1. Structure of this Guide

#### 1.1.1. Organization

The intent of this guide is to provide step-by-step instruction, guidance, and pertinent information on how to use the National Installation of NetDMR.

This guide addresses the technical basics of entering and submitting DMR data into the National Installation of NetDMR. For the most part, it does not deal with policy regarding what data should be entered in particular circumstances. Descriptions and information are written for clarity for the average User, not for regulatory precision. Finally, this guide is not exhaustive. Data elements and other aspects of the system that are reasonably self-explanatory are not discussed.

#### 1.1.2. User Guide Notation and Conventions

The bulk of this guide consists of step-by-step guides to performing various tasks. Within each task, steps are enumerated and screen shots are included to illustrate the steps.

#### 1.1.2.1. Tips

Throughout the Guide you will find text boxes containing Tips. Tip boxes contain information that should make your job easier. They include ideas for streamlining data entry or information pertaining to particular situations. Tips include ideas for streamlining data entry or information pertaining to particular situations.

## 1.2. Background – What is the National Installation of NetDMR?

The National Installation of NetDMR is a web-based application that will allow National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permittees to electronically submit discharge monitoring reports (DMRs) to EPA's data system for discharge information, the Integrated Compliance Information System (ICIS)-NPDES database. NPDES permits are issued under the authority of the Clean Water Act.

The NetDMR application, or "installation", resides at CDX and allows each State Agency, Tribe or EPA Regional office to have their own separate working environment, or "Instance" that can be customized with their own logos, permits, DMRs, new alerts and contact information.

NetDMR includes the following key components:

• **Common Functionality**: Create an account, request access to a permit and associated DMRs/and copies of record (CORs), edit account information, retrieve a forgotten user name or reset a forgotten password, and unlock a locked account.





- **System Administrator**: Configure a NetDMR installation and customize settings for each Instance associated with an installation.
- **Regulatory Administrator**: Manage user accounts; set additional customization options for an Instance; approve signatories; and search, view, and download DMRs and CORs submitted for permits administered by the regulatory authority associated with the Instance.
- **Permit Administrator**: Manage user read and write access to DMRs for a specific permit.
- Search Functionality: Search and view permit details.
- DMR Functionality: Search, view, edit, sign and submit DMRs; import DMR data.
- COR Functionality: Search, view, and download copies of record for DMRs.
- Interaction with ICIS: NetDMR retrieves permit and expected DMR data from ICIS and submits reported DMR data to ICIS automatically.
- Database: Store information needed by NetDMR or generated by NetDMR users.
- **Help System**: Provide on-line instruction on how to use specific elements of NetDMR functionality.

Descriptions for all key components except the System Administrator are described in subsequent sections of this document. Details on NetDMR functionality available to System Administrator are provided in the NetDMR System Administrator User Guide

#### 1.3. System Requirements

The following are the minimum PC requirements to access and use the National Installation of NetDMR:

- > Pentium III/IV or equivalent processor
- > 128 MB RAM (512 MB recommended)
- Monitor with resolution of at least 800 x 600
- Internet access
- Microsoft Internet Explorer 6.0 or above, with settings:
  - JavaScript enabled
  - Session cookies enabled
  - Pop-up blockers disabled

#### 1.3.1. Enabling Session Cookies

NetDMR requires that you enable session cookies to function properly. A cookie is a small text file containing information that a Web site copies to your computer. NetDMR will automatically detect whether you have cookies enabled after login and provide instructions on how to enable cookies if needed. All cookies generated by NetDMR are removed once you close your browser.

After you enable cookies, log into NetDMR again. The following cookies will be used by NetDMR:



NetDMR was designed for use with Internet Explorer. Unexpected results may occur if any other Web browser is used.





- <u>JSESSIONIID</u> A number generated by the NetDMR to identify your browser. This cookie is removed once you close your browser and contains no personal identifying information.
- <u>COOKIETEST</u> A cookie that has the value of 1. This cookie is set only to test that your browser allows cookies. This cookie contains no personal identifying information.

To enable cookies using Internet Explorer 6.0 or 7.0:

- 1. Choose Tools, then Internet Options.
- 2. Click the Privacy tab.
- 3. Default setting is medium. Move the slider to determine which setting you prefer.
- 4. You can also click on Advanced for specialized cookie treatment.

#### 1.4. Types of Users and Their Roles

The ability to view and modify data within the National Installation of NetDMR is controlled by the organization a User is affiliated with (a facility, a lab or contractor, a state, an EPA region, or EPA headquarters) and the roles a User can be assigned to. Permittees are assigned a Permit Administrator role, a Signatory role, an Edit role or a View role. Data Providers are assigned an Edit role or a View role. Figure 1-1 lists the different Roles and User Categories NetDMR offers.

Role	User Category	Functions
System	EPA Headquarters	Create and manage an installation
Administrator		Create and manage downtimes and
		settings
		Create and manage Instances:
		• Create the first Regulatory
		Administrators for a new
		Instance
		<ul> <li>Manage General Information</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Manage Regulatory</li> </ul>
		Administrators requests
		<ul> <li>Manage Agency Maps</li> </ul>
Regulatory	EPA Region or State	Customize an Instance:
Administrator	(Internal)	<ul> <li>Manage some General</li> </ul>
		Information
		<ul> <li>View System Administrators</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Manage Subscriber Agreements</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>View Agency Maps</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Manage e-mail messages</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Manage DMR submission and</li> </ul>
		attachment notifications
		<ul> <li>Manage news and notices</li> </ul>
		Manage Regulatory Administrators,
		Signatory and Regulatory View requests
		Create the first Permit Administrator for
		a new Instance





Role	User Category	Functions	
		Assist Permit Administrators with	
		managing Permit Administrator,	
		External Permitte and Data Provider	
		Edit and View Requests	
		View permits and users	
		View, validate, download and repudiate	
		CORs	
		Manage user accounts	
		View logs and network activity	
		Request access to View Partially	
		completed DMRs	
Signatory	Permittee or Facility	Request access to view, modify, sign or	
	(External)	submit DMRs/CORs for a permit	
		Import DMRs	
		Sign and submit Subscriber Agreements	
		Download blank DMRs	
		Download CORs	
Permit	Permittee or Facility	Manage Permit Administrator, External	
Administrator	(External)	Permittee and Data Provider Edit and	
		View requests, and Regulatory View	
		Partial DMR Requests to view or	
		modify DMRs and CORs	
		Manage Regulatory view access to	
		partially completed DMRs	
		Request access to view, modify, sign or	
		submit DMRs/CORs for a permit	
		Import DMRs	
		Sign and submit Subscriber Agreements	
		Download blank DMRs	
		Download CORs	
Edit	Permittee or Facility	Request access to view and modify a	
	(External)	permit and its DMRs/CORs	
		View users	
		Download blank DMRs	
		Download CORs	
Edit	Data Provider -	Request access to view and modify a	
	Contractor or Lab	permit and its DMRs/CORs	
	(External)	View users	
		Download blank DMRs	
<b>T</b> 7•		Download CORs	
view	EPA Region or State	Request access to view a permit and its	
	(Internal)		
		<ul> <li>Request Regulatory Administrators</li> </ul>	
		➤ View users	
		Download blank DMRs	





Role	User Category	Functions
View	Permittee or Facility	Request access to view a permit and its
	(External)	DMRs/CORs
		View users
		Download blank DMRs
View	Data Provider -	Request access to view a permit and its
	Contractor or Lab	DMRs/CORs
	(External)	View users
		Download blank DMRs

Figure 1-1: NetDMR User Categories and Their Roles

- System Administrator EPA Headquarters staff responsible for configuring and performing routine maintenance on the National NetDMR Installation, establishing state Instances of NetDMR within the National Installation, and creating the first Regulatory Administrators.
- Regulatory Administrator State and EPA Regional (Regulatory Authority) staff responsible for managing User accounts, customizing their own Instance within the National Installation, approving DMR signatories, and searching, viewing and downloading DMRs and their Copies of Record (CORs) submitted for permits administered by the regulatory authority associated with the Instance, and provide Technical Support of NetDMR for Permittees and Data Providers
- Permit Administrator Facility or permittee staff responsible for approving all COR and DMR view requests, and DMR edit requests for the Permit. Permit Administrators may edit DMRs only if they have been granted Edit access to a permit.
- Signatory Facility or permittee staff responsible for signing and submitting DMRs on behalf of an organization. A request for the signatory privilege requires submission of a Subscriber Agreement to the Regulatory Authority that administers a particular NPDES permit



Until the first Signatory Privilege is granted for a permit, no accesses or privileges can be requested for that permit by other users.

- Permitee User Facility or permittee staff responsible for viewing, entering, editing or uploading Discharge Monitoring Reports (DMRs) into a state Instance.
- Data Provider Contractor or laboratory staff responsible for viewing, entering, editing or uploading Discharge Monitoring Reports (DMRs) into a state Instance. Data Providers are not allowed to sign and submit DMRs or approve access to permits.

Figure 1-2 illustrates the functions available to each role within NetDMR.



Figure 1-2: Functions of the Various NetDMR Roles

#### 1.5. Security

#### 1.5.1. System Access

The National Installation of NetDMR is accessed through a secure web site by navigating to http://www.epa.gov/netdmr. Initially, a map of the United States will be displayed. Click on a blue NetDMR state of interest and click on the **Log In** hyperlink to enter the NetDMR site. If your permit is with an EPA Region or Tribe click on any blue NetDMR state and click on the **Log In** hyperlink for that state to enter the NetDMR site. The *NetDMR Welcome* page will appear and prompt you for your Regulatory Authority (Figure 1-3).





Home   FAQs   Getting Started		
NetDMR		
Welcome		
Welcome to NetDMRI If you are a permittee, you may be able to use this web site to complete and submit DMRs electronically for your facility.		
News		
None.		
	Select Regulatory Authority:	Tennessee 🔽 Go
Warning Notice		
The registration procedure for the National Installation of NetDMR is part of the United States Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) Central Data Exchange, which is for authorized use only. Unauthorized access or use of this computer system may subject violators to criminal, civil, and/or administrative action. All information on this computer system may be monitored, recorded, read, copied, and disclosed by and to authorized personnel for official purposes, including law enforcement. Access or use of this computer system by any person, whether authorized or unauthorized, constitutes consent to these terms.		
Privacy Statement		
EPA will use the personal identifying information which you provide for the expressed purpose of registration to the National Installation of NetDMR site at the Central Data Exchange and for updating and correcting information in internal EPA databases as necessary. The Apency will not make this information available for other purposes unless required by law. EPA does not sell or otherwise transfer personal information to an outside third party. [Federal Register: March 18, 2002 (Volume 67, Number 52)][Page 12010-12013]		
©2008 NetDMR		

Figure 1-3: NetDMR Welcome Page

If your permit is administered by a State Environmental Agency or an EPA Region, click on the **Select Regulatory Authority** pick list and

highlight appropriate agency's state name or EPA Region.

Select Regulatory	CA-HI-NE-SD-UT
Authority:	CA-HI-NE-SD-UT
r	CT-KY-PR-RI-SR
	ERG Test-NY
	R10 Partial - AK-ID-OR-WA
	R3 Partial -DC-MD-VA
	R6 Partial - LA-GM
	Texas

Click on Go to proceed to the *NetDMR Login* page for the <u>NetDMR Instance</u> of the Regulatory Authority you selected from the list box.

At the *NetDMR Login* page shown in Figure 1-3, existing NetDMR users enter their NetDMR

**User Name** and **Password** as shown in Figure 1-4, then click on Submit. New users must click on register for a new account to gain access to NetDMR before being able to log into NetDMR.







Figure 1-4: NetDMR Login Page

You are only permitted one NetDMR login at a time (a single active session). If you attempt to log into NetDMR from the same or more than one computer simultaneously NetDMR will terminate the previous session and establish the most recent login attempt.

After a successful login, NetDMR will display the Permittee User, Signatory Administrator, Permit Administrator, Regulatory Administrators or System Administrator home page depending upon your Role and access level. Figure 1-5 is an example of the *Permittee User Home* page for a Regulatory Authority User with View access.

Home   My Account   Request Access   Help   Logout		User:useramk, Permittee User CT-KY-PR-RI-SR
Search Dot All DMRs & CORs Blar	vnioad nk DMR Form	🖉 Session Lockout Timer: 21:03
Search: All DMRs & COR	s	Last 10 Logins 5/30/08 2:33 PM
All DMRs & Copies Use the following fields to sunot to filter on that field.	of Record (CORs) earch for DMRs and CORs. Leaving a field blank will instruct NetDMR	
Permit #:	All	
Facility:	All Y Update	
Permitted Feature:	All 🖌 Update	
Discharge:	All	
Monitoring Period End Date Range:	(mm/dd/yyyy)	
Edited or Submitted By:	AII	

Figure 1-5: NetDMR Permittee User Home Page





A list of up to 10 previous logins are always displayed on the right side of each home page.

Last 10 Lo	ogins
7/1/08	5:26 PM
7/1/08	5:19 PM

#### 1.5.1.1. System Time-Out

NetDMR will automatically log you out and prompt you to log back in if the page is left idle for 30 minutes.

Home   FAQs   Getting Started
Session Timeout
Your session has expired. To continue using NetDMR you must loain to the application again.

The Session Lockout Timer, which is a countdown from 30 minutes, is displayed at the top right corner of every page.

The timer resets to 30 minutes every time you perform an action that refreshes the page (e.g. save, submit, cancel, etc). Once you are logged out you may sign back in immediately. Any unsaved information will be lost.

#### 1.5.1.2. Logging Out

Log out of NetDMR by clicking on **Logout** at the top of any NetDMR page.

#### 1.6. Look and Feel

#### 1.6.1. General System Navigation

Hyperlinks take you to a particular page. By convention, hyperlinks are indicated by an arrow or hand icon when hovering your cursor over them. A standard set of hyperlinks are found at the top of all NetDMR pages and customized hyperlinks are sprinkled in the body of certain pages as necessary.



Submit		
Go		
Search		
Update		

Buttons cause the system to perform some action, such as searching, saving, or deleting. Buttons are generally found near the bottom of the page or next to a block of data, and the actions they perform are dependent on information you have entered on the page.

#### 1.6.2. NetDMR Pages

The *NetDMR Welcome* page has hyperlinks at the top that provide answers to Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) and explain how to get started in NetDMR. The body of the page displays

🞾 Session Lockout Timer: 29:42



news items and has a drop down list box for choosing a Regulatory Authority interface or <u>NetDMR Instance</u>.

The series of hyperlinks on the top of the *NetDMR Login* page provide answers to Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs), explain how to get started in NetDMR, and provide contact information. In the body of the *NetDMR Login* page are hyperlinks to register for a new NetDMR account, create a NetDMR account, retrieve a User Name, retrieve a forgotten password, and check if your permit is in NetDMR.



After you have logged in, the NetDMR pages have hyperlinks at the top that return to the main NetDMR home page, navigate to your account, allow you to request access, provide help and display the *Logout* page. A brief description of each hyperlink is given below.

#### Home

This option returns a User or Administrator to the appropriate NetDMR home page from any page within NetDMR.

#### FAQs

The FAQ page lists topics of interest to most Users of NetDMR. Click on  $\stackrel{\clubsuit}{=}$  to expand the list of questions, and click on  $\stackrel{\blacksquare}{=}$  to collapse the list.

#### **Getting Started**

The Getting Started page displays information Users and Administrations need to know when first starting to use NetDMR.

#### Contact the NetDMR Team

This page displays information on whom to contact with NetDMR questions and assistance.

#### **Register for a New Account**

New Users and Administrators must create an account before they can use NetDMR. Clicking on this link presents the page for creating new accounts.

#### **Forgot Username?**

This option presents a page that allows Users and Administrators to retrieve their forgotten NetDMR User Name.



#### **Forgot Password?**

This option presents a page that allows Users and Administrators to reset a forgotten NetDMR password.

#### Create a NetDMR Account





New Users and Administrators must create an account before they can use NetDMR. Clicking on this link presents the page for creating new accounts.

#### **Checking Your Permit ID**

This option allows Users to find out if any of their permits are available within NetDMR for reporting their DMRs.

#### Help

This option provides step-by-step instructions and guidance on how to use NetDMR.

#### Logout

This option logs a User or Administrator out of NetDMR.

To remind you of how you logged into NetDMR, all NetDMR pages display your User ID, your user type and the name and/or logo of the NetDMR Instance you are currently working with in the upper right corner.



🚵 User:useramk, Permittee User

#### 1.6.3. Entry of Data

A variety of tools, including text boxes, radio buttons and pick lists designed for different types of data entry appear throughout NetDMR. These tools are similar to those found on many web pages. The purpose and use of these tools is described below.

#### **1.6.3.1. Text Boxes**

Text boxes appear as blank rectangles. Examples are shown in Figure 1-6. They allow free entry of letters and/or numbers. All text boxes have a set limit on the number of characters that can be entered. The size of the text box is generally related to the number of characters that may be entered. If you attempt to enter more characters than are allowed, the extra characters will not show up in the text box or be stored in NetDMR.

User Name	
Password	
Figure 1-6	Example of Text Boxes

#### 1.6.3.2. Checkboxes

Checkboxes appear as small squares. Clicking on a check box toggles the appearance of a check mark. Checkboxes often appear along with groupings of items, such as the months of the year, and allow you to select any number or all of the items. An example of a group of checkboxes is shown in Figure 1-7. Checkboxes are also used to indicate yes or no answers to questions.

Approve	Deny	

Figure 1-7: Example of Checkboxes





#### 1.6.3.3. Radio Buttons

Radio buttons appear as small circles, typically next to lists of items. An example of a list with radio buttons is shown in Figure 1-8. From any group of items with radio buttons, only one item may be selected. Clicking on a radio button selects that item, and the selection is indicated by a dot in the circle. If a different item in the list had been selected, the dot and the selection are removed from that item. In many cases, once an item is selected, a button elsewhere on the page must then be clicked to execute a particular action (e.g. edit or delete the selected item in the list).



#### 1.6.3.4. Pick lists

Pick lists appear similar to text boxes, but with a button with a downward pointing arrow at the right side of the rectangle. Clicking on this button, or in the box, causes a list to appear, from which a single item may be selected. Figure 1-9 shows the **Select Regulatory Authority** pick list box and the options for the top box displayed after clicking on the arrow button or within the list. The desired text is selected by clicking on it.

Select Regulatory	CA-HI-NE-SD-UT
Authority:	CA-HI-NE-SD-UT
	CT-KY-PR-RI-SR
	ERG Test-NY
	R10 Partial - AK-ID-OR-WA
	R3 Partial -DC-MD-VA
	R6 Partial - LA-GM
	Texas

Figure 1-9: Example of a Pick list

The list then disappears and the selected item appears in the text box:

Select Regulatory Authority:	CA-HI-NE-SD-UT	• Go

#### 1.6.3.5. Multi-Select Lists

Multi-select lists appear as boxes containing a list of items. These lists allow you to select more than one item from the list by holding down the Ctrl key and clicking on the desired item(s). Selected items are marked with dark blue highlighting. An example of a multi-select list with two of the visible items selected is shown in Figure 1-10.





Type of User:*	Select One
	Select One Permittee User
	Internal User
	Data Provider



## 1il

Selection of multiple items is controlled through the use of the Ctrl and Shift keys. While holding the Ctrl key, clicking on items in the list toggles their selection. Holding the Shift key while clicking an item will select all items between that item and the previously clicked item (any other items will become unselected). Clicking on an item while holding neither the Ctrl nor Shift key will reset the selection, with only that item now selected. As with pick lists, you can move through the list by using the letter keys. Doing so also resets the selection.

#### 1.6.3.6. Calendar Icons

Calendar icons appear to the right of text boxes for date fields. Dates can be entered either by typing directly into the text box or by clicking and choosing a date from the calendar that is displayed. Figure 1-11 shows the calendar pop-up window that appears after clicking on the calendar icon.

Jul	y 20	08	_	_	_	
Su	Mo	Тu	We	Τh	Fr	Sa
		1	2	3	4	<u>5</u>
<u>6</u>	Ζ	<u>8</u>	2	<u>10</u>	<u>11</u>	12
<u>13</u>	<u>14</u>	<u>15</u>	<u>16</u>	17	<u>18</u>	<u>19</u>
<u>20</u>	<u>21</u>	<u>22</u>	<u>23</u>	<u>24</u>	<u>25</u>	<u>26</u>
27	<u>28</u>	<u>29</u>	<u>30</u>	<u>31</u>		

Figure 1-11: Calendar Pop-up Window

The calendar will appear with the current month and day displayed. Above the calendar are a pick list for choosing a month and a set of right and left arrow buttons. Clicking on  $\leq$  will move backward one month. Clicking on  $\geq$  moves forward one month. The individual dates are shown as hyperlinks. Clicking on a date will return you to the data entry page with that date entered in the appropriate text box.



When typing dates directly into text boxes, they must be entered in the format: mm/dd/yyyy. For example, November 6, 2008 would be entered as 11/06/2008.





#### 1.6.4. Page Types

There are three major types of pages in NetDMR: search pages, list pages, and add/edit pages. There are various versions of these pages for the various business areas, but all pages of a given type share a number of features. These common features are described below.

#### 1.6.4.1. Search Pages

Search pages are a common starting point for many tasks in NetDMR, allowing you to search for an activity you wish to edit or determine if a particular activity already exists in the system before adding it. Search pages also appear in the sequence of pages you are guided through while adding certain activities. A sample search page is shown in Figure 1-12.

Permit ID	IL
Monitoring Period End Date Range	(mm/dd/yyyy)
Signatory First Name	
Signatory Last Name	
Signatory User Name	
Signatory Email	
Facility Name	
Permitted Feature Number	
Discharge Number	
Discharge Description	
Confirmation Number	
Include repudiated CORs?	
s	earch Close

Figure 1-12: Sample Search Page

Note that fields are organized in groups or related data elements. You may enter information in as many fields across as many groups as you wish. If information is entered in more than one field, NetDMR combines the information with an 'AND' operation. In other words, it will find records that meet all of the criteria you entered. Therefore, the more information you enter, the fewer results you will receive.

In most cases, you will want to enter as much information as you know about the record you are To search for text that may occur in the middle of the data element, use % at the beginning as a wildcard. For example, entering "%ers" in the owner's last name field on a search page will return all records where the owner's last name is Peters. Peterson. Anderson. etc.

looking for in order to narrow your search results. In other cases you may want to enter fewer search criteria to cast a broader net. One Instance calling for a more general search is when you are searching to ensure that a record does not already exist before adding it.





Search text entered in text boxes can be either full or partial and is not case sensitive. NetDMR will return all records with text that starts with the text entered in the corresponding search field. For example, entering "peters" in the owner's last name field on a search page will return all records where the owner's last name is Peters, Peterson, Petersen, etc.

#### 1.6.4.2. List Pages

List pages are used to display the results of a search. You can choose an item from the displayed list to perform an action on. A sample list page is shown in Figure 1-13.

Home   My Account   Requ	iest Access   I	lelp   Logout				📥 Use	er: amkinternalu I	ser, Internal User Ilinois - IL	
Search View CORs DMRs Permits Users							🞾 Sessio	on Lockout Timer:	
م View Permit [	Details								
Permit ID			IL0029424						
Facility Name			LASALLE STP, CI	TY OF					
Permittee Address			400 RIVER ROAD LASALLE IL, 6130	11					
Users and Roles	Roles .								
<u>User Name</u>	<u>Organization</u>	<u>User Type</u>	Role	Role Status	View	Subscrib	er Agreement		
amkinternaluser	OECA	Internal DMR Data	Partial DMR	Pending	۵				
amkinternaluser	OECA	Internal DMR Data	Partial DMR	Pending					
lescure.nasrin@epa.gov	EPA	Internal DMR Data	Partial DMR	Approved	۵				

Figure 1-13: Sample List Page

Search results are normally presented in a table that lists up to ten records in most cases. If more than 10 records are returned, you can navigate through the list by:

- $\triangleright$  Clicking  $\triangleright$  to display the next page of records.
- Clicking < to view the previous page of records.</p>
- $\succ$  Clicking  $\bowtie$  to display the last 10 records.
- Clicking *d* to display the first 10 records.
- Clicking the **View All** link to show all records in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 records at a time.

You can click on any underlined column title to sort the records by that column in ascending or descending order.

#### 1.7. Resources for More Information

For more information, contact ICIS User Support by telephone or e-mail at: Phone: **202-564-7756** e-mail: **netdmr@epa.gov** 





## Chapter 2. Managing Your Account

This section provides information on how to manage your NetDMR account. Topics include:

- Creating an account
- Searching for available permits
- Requesting view or edit access
- Viewing an account
- Editing an account
- Unlocking an account
- Resetting a password
- Retrieving a forgotten User name
- Retrieving a forgotten password

#### 2.1. Creating an Account

**TÍD** 

A Permittee user is allowed to be a Permit Administrator, a Signatory, both a Permit Administrator and Signatory, have Edit access, and have View access to permits.

Data providers can only have Edit and View access to permits.

Figure 2-1 shows the NetDMR page for creating a new account. Note that Regulatory Administrators accounts will be set up by the NetDMR System Administrator, and Permit Administrator accounts are established by Regulatory Administrators or other Permit Administrators.

Login   FAQs   Getting Started   Contact	the NetDMR Team
🛎 Create a NetDMR Account	
General Account Information	
Please provide the information requested	below to create a NetDMR account. A '*' indicates a required entry.
Email Address:*	john.doe@facility.com
Enter Email Address Again:*	john.doe@facility.com
User Name: *	
$\mathbf{C}$ . Use my email address as my user name	
Create my own user name	johndoe
First Name: *	John
Last Name: *	Doe
Telephone Number:* (###-#################################	800-555-1212
Organization: *	Acme
Type of User: *	Permittee User 🔽
Selected Security Questions	
Please provide responses for the security case-sensitive.	questions below. Select each question only one time. Note that answers are





Question 1*
Who was your childhood hero?
hero
Question 2* What is your mother's maiden name?
Question 3*         What is the name of the high school you attended?         attended
Question 4* What is the name of the street where you grew up? 💌 up
Question 5* What is your favorite city?
Submit Reset Cancel

Figure 2-1: NetDMR Create Account Page

First time users can access the *NetDMR Create Account* page to create their own accounts by following these steps:

1. From the *NetDMR Welcome* page, click on the pick list to select the **Regulatory Authority** for your Permit:



- 2. Click on Go.
- At the *NetDMR Login* page, click on <u>register for a new account</u> or Create a NetDMR Account.
- 4. Fill out the required information on the *Create a NetDMR Account* page:
  - ➢ Enter your e-mail address, and re-enter the e-mail address to confirm
    - Choose whether to use your e-mail address as your User name (recommended) or create your own User name and enter that User name
    - Enter your first name
    - Enter your last name
    - Enter your 10 digit telephone number as xxxxxx-xxxx
    - Enter the name of the organization you are affiliated with

*Refer to Section 1.4 for a description of NetDMR User Types and the functionality available to them.* 



- Choose your User Type ("Permittee Users" are permitted facility staff; "Data Provider Users" are lab or contractor staff; and "Regulatory Users" are state, tribe, or EPA staff.)
- Select 5 or more security questions from the drop down list and enter an answer for each question selected.
- 5. Click on Submit to process your account request, click on Reset to blank out all fields on this page or click on Cancel to return to the *NetDMP Login* page.
- fields on this page, or click on <u>Cancel</u> to return to the *NetDMR Login* page.
  If NetDMR notifies you that data errors were found:

#### Create a NetDMR Account

There were errors processing your request.

Fix the problem indicated in red text next to the field with problems.

- 7. The *Verify NetDMR Account Request* page will appear:
  - Verify NetDMR Account Request

Please verify the information you entered below to create a NetDMR account.

Confirm that the information is correct on this page, then click on verify to establish

the account or click on <u>Cancer</u> to return to the *Create New Account* page.

- 8. At the *Confirm NetDMR Account Request* page click on OK to finalize the request.
- 9. A confirmation page will appear. Read the message, then Click on  $\frac{OK}{C}$ .
- 10. You will receive an e-mail from NetDMR to the e-mail account you provided requesting you to complete your account which will activate it. Click on the hyperlink provided in this e-mail to open the *Complete NetDMR Account Creation Process* page shown in Figure 2-2.



You have only 60 days from the day you request your account to activate your account.

Login EAOs Getting Started Contact the	NetDMR Team	
NetDMR	NELDMA TEalli	
& Complete NetDMR Account C	reation Process	
Hello adminuser. To finish creating your NetDI password for your account.	MR account, provide a response to the security question $\imath$	and create a
What is the name of the street where you grew up?	(Answers are case-sensitive)	
Create Password:	(Case sensitive, 8-20 characters, include letters	
Enter Password Again:	and humbers)	
	Submit Cancel	

Figure 2-2: NetDMR Complete Account Creation Process Page





- 11. Answer the security question, create a password for your account, and enter the password a second time.
- 12. Click on Submit to complete the account creation process and activate your account, or click on Cancel to return to the *NetDMR Welcome* page.
- If the answer to your secret question is wrong, the password does not meet the rules or the two passwords differ, NetDMR will display an error message indicating what the problem was.

There were errors processing	g your request.		
What is your father's middle name?	name	(Answers are case-sensitive)	The information you entered does not match our records. Please try again. Note: answers are case-sensitive.

- 14. Re-enter the correct information and click on Submit to complete the account creation process and activate your account, or click on Cancel to return to the *NetDMR Welcome* page.
- 15. The *NetDMR Account Created* page will appear.

Login   FAQs   Getting Started   Contact the NetDMR Team
NetDMR
NetDMR Account Created
Your NetDMR Account has been created. Click <u>here to access the login page</u> and begin using NetDMR.

16. Click on Login in the upper left corner or here to access the login page on this page to log into NetDMR.

#### 2.1.1. General Information Rules

When entering account information, NetDMR applies data checking rules. A summary of these account rules is provided in Figure 2-3 below.

Account Information	Rules
E-mail address	Only letters, numbers, "@", ".", and "_" are allowed.
	Must contain the "@" symbol.
	Must be unique.
	You must have access to this e-mail account.
Username	Only letters, numbers, "@", ".", and "_" are allowed.
First Name	Only letters, numbers, "@", ".", and "_" are allowed.
Last Name	Only letters, numbers, "@", ".", and "_" are allowed.
Organization	Only letters, numbers, "@", ".", and "_" are allowed.
User Type	<u>Permittee User</u> = permitted facility or lab staff





Account Information	Rules
	<u>Data Provider</u> = organization that provides DMR data to NetDMR <u>Regulatory User</u> = state, tribe, EPA Regional or EPA HQ staff
Telephone Number	Must be in xxx-xxx format.
Security Questions and Answers	All security questions must be different. All security answers must be different. Security Answers are case sensitive. Choose security answers that are easy to remember as you will need to know them to create an account, edit your account, and retrieve forgotten passwords and User names, and sign DMRs.

Figure 2-3: New Account Data Checking Rules

#### 2.2. Searching for Available Permit Ids

In order to view or enter DMR data for a permit into the National Installation of NetDMR, the permit must be present within the system. You can check whether any of your permits are available for DMR reporting by following the instructions below. You do not have to create a NetDMR account before you can check on the status of your permits.

- 1. Click on **Checking your PERMITID** on the **NetDMR Login** page.
- 2. Enter the permit Id to search for:

	$\mathbf{\Gamma}$
	Login   FAQs   Getting Started   Contact the NetDMR Team
	NetDMR
	Check Whether a Permit is Available for Reporting in NetDMR
	Enter a Permit ID * Check Permit ID
_	

- 3. Click on Check Permit ID
- 4. NetDMR will display a message if the permit does not exist. Reenter the permit ID if it was incorrectly entered or contact the NetDMR Regulatory Administrators for your Regulatory Authority to request the permit be added to NetDMR:

The permitID <u>'ZZ0000001'</u> is not available for reporting in NetDMR. Check another permitID or return to the <u>Login</u> page.

5. If the permit exists in NetDMR, you will see a message telling you it is available for reporting:

The permitID <u>SR0026417</u> is available for reporting in NetDMR. You may check another permitID or proceed directly to <u>Creating an Account</u>. If you already have a NetDMR account, <u>Login</u> now.

### 2.3. Requesting View or Edit Access

After your account has been created, you are able to request access to view or edit permit, DMR and



*Until the first Signatory Privilege is granted for a permit, no read only/edit accesses or privileges can be requested for that permit.* 





COR information stored within NetDMR using the *Request Access to Permits and Associated DMRs* page shown in Figure 2-4. Only Permittee users with a Signatory role may submit DMRs for a permit within NetDMR.

Home   My Account	Request Access	:   Help   Logout		📤 User:useramk, Permittee User
NetDMR				CT-KY-PR-RI-SR
Search All DMRs & CORs	Down Blank	load DMR Form		Session Lackout Timer:
A Request A Enter the ID for the Repeat this process	ACCESS to P permit whose D for each permit	ermits and Asso MRs you would like to acc you would like to request	ciated DMRs ess and click the Update button to see the roles th access to. You can make one or more access req	hat you can request. uests from this page.
PermitID: Role:		Select One 💌	Update	
Access Re A summary of the c	equests	quests is presented below		
Permit ID	Requested Role	Remove Access Request		
No Permits found				
			Submit	

Figure 2-4: Request Access to Permits and Associated DMRs Page

The steps for requesting a View or Edit role using this page are:

- 1. Log into NetDMR by selecting the NetDMR Instance, then entering your User ID and password for that Instance.
- 2. Click on Request Access at the top of any NetDMR Home page and the *Request Access to Permits and Associated DMRs* page will appear.
- 3. Enter the 9 character Permit Id that you would like to have access to.
- 4. Click on Update .
- 5. If the Permit Id is for a permit that is not stored in NetDMR Instance an error message is displayed.

There were er	rors processing your request	•
PermitID:	PR0000353 Update	The permitID is not available for reporting in NetDMR .

- 6. Check to make sure what you entered is a valid Permit ID and re-enter it. If it is a valid Permit ID this message indicates that the permit is not stored in NetDMR. Log out of NetDMR, contact your NetDMR Instance Administrator and have he or she add the permit into NetDMR, then perform the steps above after the NetDMR Instance Administrator notifies you the Permit ID is now in NetDMR.
- 7. If you have already requested access to this permit NetDMR will display this message on the page. Enter another permit ID that you do not currently have access for.

You have already requested or received all available roles for this permit

8. Click in the box next to **Roles**, then click on **View**:





Select One 🔄 🔽	
Select One	
View	
Edit	
	•

#### 9. Click on Add Request

10. If you did not choose a Role an error message is displayed. Repeat steps 6 and 7 above.

There were (	errors processing your request.	
PermitID:	PR0000353 Update	The permitID is not available for reporting in NetDMR.

11. Check to make sure the request has been added to the Access Requests table at the bottom of the page, then click on Submit.

💣 Acces	s Requests			
	-			
A summary o	f the current acce	ess requests is presente	ed below.	
H Sammary o				
Permit ID	Requested Role	Remove Access		
Request				
SR0026417 Signatory				

- 12. If the wrong Permit ID or Role was selected on this table, click on a next to the Permit ID to delete request from this table.
- 13. Repeat steps 3 11 above for each different Permit ID you need access for.
- 14. Review the information displayed on the page, then click on Submit.

Your view and edit access requests will be forwarded to the appropriate Administrator for approval. NetDMR will send a notification message to the e-mail address associated with your account after the Administrator approves or denies your request.

#### 2.4. Requesting a Permit Administrator and Signatory Role

If you are a Permittee that needs to approve Edit and View requests for your permit(s) from other Permittee staff, Regulatory Authority staff or Data Providers, you must have a Permit Administrator role. If you are a Permittee that is authorized by your Regulatory Authority to sign and submit DMRs you must have a Signatory role. These roles are requested by using the *Request Access to Permits and Associated DMRs* page shown in Figure 2-5.

**Tip** 

Until the first Signatory Privilege is granted for a permit, no read only/edit accesses or privileges can be requested for that permit.





Home   My Account	Request Access   Help   Logo	ut		📥 User:useramk, Permittee User
NetDMR				CT-KY-PR-RI-SR
Search All DMRs & CORs	Download Blank DMR Form			📽 Session Lockout Timer:
Request A Enter the ID for the Repeat this process	permit whose DMRs you would for each permit you would like	Id Associated I	DMRS the Update button to see the roles the ou can make one or more access requ	at you can request. sets from this page.
PermitID: Role:	Sel	ect One 🔽 dd Request	Update	
Access Requests     A summary of the current access requests is presented below.				
Permit ID No Permits found	Requested Role Remove Acce	ss Request	Submit	

Figure 2-5: Request Access to Permits and Associated DMRs Page

The steps for requesting a signatory role using this page are:

- 1. Log into NetDMR by selecting the NetDMR Instance, then entering your User ID and password for that instance.
- 2. Click on Request Access at the top of any NetDMR Home page and the *Request Access to Permits and Associated DMRs* page will appear.
- 3. Enter the 9 character Permit Id that you would like to have access to.
- 4. Click on Update .
- 5. If the Permit Id is for a permit that is not stored in NetDMR an error message is displayed:

There wer	e errors processing your reques	st.
PermitID:	PR0000353 Update	The permitID is not available for reporting in NetDMR.

Check to make sure what you entered is a valid Permit ID and re-enter it. If it is a valid Permit ID this message indicates that the permit is not stored in NetDMR. Log out of NetDMR, contact your NetDMR Instance Administrator and have he or she add the permit into NetDMR, then perform the steps above after the NetDMR Instance Administrator notifies you the Permit ID is now in NetDMR.

6. If you have already requested access to this permit NetDMR will display this message on the page. Enter another permit ID that you do not currently have access for.



7. Click in the box next to **Roles**, then click on **Permit Administrator** or **Signatory**.

Select One 📃 🔽
Select One Bermit Administrator
View
Signatory
Edit

8. Click on Add Request





9. If you did not choose a Role an error message is displayed. Repeat steps 6 and 7 above.

There were a	errors processing your reques	t.
PermitID:	PR0000353 Update	The permitID is not available for reporting in NetDMR.

10. Check to make sure the request has been added to the Access Requests table at the bottom of the page, then click on Submit.



- 11. If the wrong Permit ID or Role was selected on this table, click on a next to the Permit ID to delete request from this table.
- 12. Repeat steps 3 11 above for each different Permit ID you need access for.
- 13. Review the information displayed on the page, then click on Submit
- 14. For Signatory requests, the *Additional Information Required* page (Figure 2-6) will appear.



Figure 2-6: Additional Information Required Page

15. At this page, click on the **Employer's Relationship** box, then click on the desired relationship:







16. Click on the 🙆 radio button next to either:

"I have the authority to enter into this Agreement for the Company under the applicable standards."

OR

"I am authorized by the person below who does have the authority to enter into this Agreement for the Company under the applicable standards.", then provide their Name and Title.

17. Click on Submit to proceed with the

request, or click on Cancel to return to the **Request Access to Permits and Associated** DMRs page.

18. If an Employer Relationship is not selected or a radio button is not clicked on (there is no dot within the circle) an error message will appear with a message in red by the field causing the error. Repeat steps 14 - 16 above.



Signatory requests will not be approved until your Regulatory Authority has received the Subscriber Agreement.

- 19. The Confirm Access Requests page is displayed again. Review the information displayed on this page, then click on <u>Confirm</u> to continue with the request, or click on <u>Cancel</u> to return to the *Request Access to Permits and Associated DMRs* page.
- 20. A message will appear notifying you that your access request has been submitted for approval.

Your access request(s) have been submitted for approval.

Make sure your printer is ready, then click on .

- 21. The Subscriber Agreement shown in Appendix A will be printed.
- 22. Fill out any information requested on the printed Subscriber Agreement and sign it.
- 23. Mail the signed Subscriber Agreement to your Regulatory Authority at the address listed on the bottom of the document.

#### 2.5. Viewing an Account

You can access the data that you provided when you

created your NetDMR account including your security questions and all permits you have access to by logging into NetDMR and clicking My Account in the upper left corner of the page. The My Account page is shown in Figure 2-7.

Print Subscriber Agreement

The electronic version of a Subscriber Agreement is not a substitute for the original, signed Subscriber Agreement mailed in by a Signatory.







CT-KY-PR-RI-SR     Search   All DMRs & CORs     Devenload   Blank DMR Form     I blank DMR For	me   My Acc	ount   Request	Access   Help	Logout		📥 Use	r:useramk, Permittee User
Search: Download   Blank DMR Form Session Lockout Timer: 29:29   Al DMRS &. CORS   Bank DMR Form Session Lockout Timer: 29:29   A My Account   Email: alison_kittle@yahoo.com   User Name: useramik   First Name: Alison   Last Name: Kittle   Telephone Number: 004-863-7860   Organization: Test User   Type of User: Permittee User   Selected Security Questions.   Selected Security Questions.   Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.   My Permits   One Permit found.   Permit found.   Permit 10   Access Rights   Rougest Date   String Access Status   Request Date   String Access Rights   Remit 10   Subscriber Agreement	NetDM	IR				C	T-KY-PR-RI-SR
Search Download   All DMRs 8. CORs Blank DMR Form              • My Account               Email: alison_kittle@yahoo.com   User Name: useramk   User Name: useramk   First Name: Alison   Last Name: Kittle   Telephone Number: 004-883-7860   Organization: Test User   Type of User: Permittee User   Selected Security Questions      Click to display your security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.      My Permits   One Permit found.    Permit found.            Permit found.    Permits            Nore Permit found.    Permits            Permit found.    Permits            Permit found.    Permits            Dire Permit found.    Permits            Permit found.    Permits            Permits    Permits Per							
▲ My Account     Email:     alison_kittle@yahoo.com     User Name:   useramk   First Name:   Alison   Last Name:   Kittle   Telephone Number:   00rganization:   Type of User:   Permittee User   Selected Security Questions   Click to display your security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.   Pormit found.   Permit found.	Search All DMRs & C	CORs	<b>Download</b> Blank DMR Fo	rm		₩ <sub>Ses</sub>	ssion Lockout Timer: 29;29
Email: alison_kittle@yahoo.com   User Name: useramk   First Name: Alison   Last Name: Kittle   Telephone Number: 804-863-7860   Organization: Test User   Type of User: Permittee User   Selected Security Questions  Click to display your security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.  My Permits One Permit found.  Permit found. P	🔺 My Ac	count					
User Name: useramk   First Name: Alison   Last Name: Kittle   Telephone Number: 804-883-7860   Organization: Test User   Type of User: Test User    Selected Security Questions.  Selected Security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.  My Permit Found.  Permit found.  Permit found.  Permit Selected Security Pending    Update Date  Update Date  Subscriber Agreement  Selected Security Pending  Output Date  Selected Security Pending  Output Date  Subscriber Agreement  Selected Security Pending  Output Date  Selected Security Pending  Output Date  Selected Security Pending  Output Date  Selected Security Pending  Sel	Email:			alison_kittle@	Iyahoo.com 🦯 <u>Edit A</u>	sccount	
First Name: Alison   Last Name: Kittle   Telephone Number: 804-863-7660   Organization: Test User   Type of User: Permittee User   Selected Security Questions Click to display your security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers. My Permit Cone Permit found.	User Nam	ie:		useramk			
Last Name: Kittle   Telephone Number: 804-883-7860   Organization: Test User   Type of User: Permittee User	First Nam	ie:		Alison			
Telephane Number:       804-883-7860         Organization:       Test User         Type of User:       Permittee User         Selected Security Questions       Permittee User         Click to display your security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.         My Permits         One Permit found.         Permit 10       Access Rights       Access Status       Request Date       Subscriber Agreement         SR0026417       Signatory       Pending       2008-07-02 16:19:42.0       @	Last Nam	e:		Kittle			
Organization:       Test User         Type of User:       Permittee User         Selected Security Questions       Click to display your security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.         One Permit found.       Empirity       Request Date       Update Date       Subscriber Agreement         SR0026417       Signatory       Pending       2008-07-02 16;19:42.0       @	Telephone	e Number:		804-883-7860	)		
Type of User:       Permittee User         Selected Security Questions       Selected Security Questions         Click to display your security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.         My Permits         One Permit found.         Permit 10       Access Rights       Access Status       Request Date       Update Date       Subscriber Agreement         SR0026417       Signatory       Pending       2008-07-02 16:19:142.0       Get       Subscriber Agreement	Organizat	tion:		Test User			
Selected Security Questions         Image: Click to display your security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.         My Permits         One Permit found.         Permit ID       Access Rights       Access Status       Request Date       Update Date       Subscriber Agreement         SR0026417       Signatory       Pending       2008-07-02 16:19:142.0       @	Type of U	lser:		Permittee Use	er		
Selected Security Questions         Image: Click to display your security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.         My Permits         One Permit found.         Permit10       Access Rights       Access Status       Request Date       Update Date       Subscriber Agreement         SR0026417       Signatory       Pending       2008-07-02 16;19:42.0       Image: Click Status							
Click to display your security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.  Click to display your security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.  My Permits One Permit found.  Permit D Access Rights Access Status Request Date Update Date Subscriber Agreement  SR0026417 Signatory Pending 2008-07-02 16:19:42.0 2008-07-02 16:19:42.0	Selected S	ecurity Que	stions				
Click to display your security questions. Note that your security answers will not be shown, however you can change your questions and answers.  My Permits One Permit found.  Permit D Access Rights Access Status Request Date Update Date Subscriber Agreement SR0026417 Signatory Pending 2008-07-02 16:19:42.0 2008-07-02 16:19:42.0	beleeteu o	county que.	, cions				
My Permit S       One Permit found.     Request Date     Update Date     Subscriber Agreement       SR0026417     Signatory     Pending     2008-07-02 16:19:42.0     @	1 Click to d	isplay your secu	urity questions. I	Note that your security ar	swers will not be shown,	however you can change	e your questions and answers.
My Permits       One Permit found.     Request Date     Update Date     Subscriber Agreement       SR0026417     Signatory     Pending     2008-07-02 16:19:42.0     @							
My Permits       One Permit found.     Access Status     Request Date     Update Date     Subscriber Agreement       SR0026417     Signatory     Pending     2008-07-02 16:19:42.0     @							
Permit found.     Access Rights     Access Status     Request Date     Update Date     Subscriber Agreement       SR0026417     Signatory     Pending     2008-07-02 16:19:42.0     2008-07-02 16:19:42.0     @	My Permit	s					
Permit ID         Access Rights         Access Status         Request Date         Update Date         Subscriber Agreement           SR0026417         Signatory         Pending         2008-07-02 16:19:42.0         2008-07-02 16:19:42.0         Generalization	One Permit fi	ound.					
SR0026417 Signatory Pending 2008-07-02 16:19:42.0 2008-07-02 16:19:42.0	one remitted				Undate Date	Cub and an American A	
	Permit ID	Access Rights	Access Status	Request Date	opuate Date	subschuer Agreement	
	Permit ID SR0026417	Access Rights Signatory	Access Status Pending	Request Date 2008-07-02 16:19:42.0	2008-07-02 16:19:42.0		

Figure 2-7: My Account Page

The five security questions you selected when you created your account can be displayed by clicking on  $\textcircled{\bullet}$  in the **Selected Security Questions** section. The answers to these questions are not displayed but they can be changed when editing your account. You can hide the questions by clicking on  $\textcircled{\bullet}$ .

At the bottom of the page is the **My Permits** section. **My Permits** includes a list of all permits that a user has requested access to, the access rights and status of the access requests, the date of the request for when an action was taken as well as the ability to print the Subscriber Agreements associated with the permit. Up to ten permits will be displayed by default. If more than 10 permits are associated with your account, you can navigate through the list by:

- $\triangleright$  Clicking  $\triangleright$  to display the next page of permits.
- Clicking d to view the previous page of permits.
- Clicking booth to display the last 10 permits.
- Clicking *d* to display the first 10 permits.
- > Clicking the **View All** link to show all permits in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 permits at a time.

You can click on the Permit column title to sort the Permits in ascending or descending order. To view the Subscriber Agreement for a Signatory request listed in this table, click on like within the Signatory's row to display the Subscriber Agreement in a separate window.





#### 2.6. Editing an Account

All NetDMR Users are able to revise their e-mail address, NetDMR user name, first name, last name, telephone number and organization on the *Edit Account* page as shown in Figure 2-8. In addition, you can request changes to your permit access rights, modify your security questions and answers, and lock your accounts using the steps that follow. Any changes must be confirmed and saved.

IN   My Acces	ent.) Request Acco	ess   Help   Logi	pet.		<ul> <li>Osericathysig01</li> </ul>	pyshoo.com. Permittee U		
NetDMB	ł					Redices in		
Manage Access Reque	ests All DMRs Permits Users	& COR#	port DMRs rform Import eck Results	View Permits Users	Form ¥s	ession Lockout Timeri 29		
Edit My	Account							
su can edit yo	our account by char	nging information	below. You must	t respond correctly to one o	of your security questic	ns before the changes yo	u enter will be saved	and applied.
eneral Acc	ount Informati	on						
mail Addres	551*			[cathysig01@yahoo.com	-			
nter Email /	Address			cathysig01@yahoo.com	Ŧ			
ser Name:								
Use my er	mail address as my	vuser name						
Create my	y own uper name							
irst Name:*	•			Cathy	-			
ast Name:*				Bius				
elephone N	fumber:* (****	*******		214-665-6456				
rganization	nc*			Permittee				
ype of User	n*			Permittee User 🖉				
y Permits ick any under der applied a howing Permit	rlined column title and any selected ch ts 1-10 of 33 44 4	to sort the table teck boxes will be $1, 2, 2, \pm b$	rows in ascending a reset to unselec Qu <sub>view</sub> AS	g or descending order by th ted.	e information in that of	Aumn, If you click View A	ll or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits lick any under der applied a howing Permit formit Id M0023311 3	rlined column title ind any selected ch is 1-10 of 33 <b>44 4</b> Access Sights Signatory	to sort the table week boxes will be 1, 2, 2, 4 b be Access Status Approved	rows in ascending reset to unselec Q: View AS Debsorber Asr Q	or descending order by th ted. Request Date 12/03/09 10:00 A	e information in that or <u>Undate Date</u> M 03/21/11 09:31 PM	lumn. If you click View A Delete Access Rights	ll or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits lick any under der applied a howing Permat permit Id & (M0023011 ) GM0290123	rlined column title ind any selected ch ts 1-10 of 33 44 4 Access Rights Signatory View	to sort the table reck boxes will be Access States Approved Approved	rows in ascending e reset to unselec QL <sub>View</sub> A0 Subscriber Asc Q	or descending order by th ted. Resurest Date 12/03/09 10:00 A 11/03/09 01:52 P	e information in that or <u>Verdate Date</u> M 03/21/11 09/31 PM 11/03/09 01/52 PM	Jumn, If you click View A Delete Access Rights	ll or view Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits lick any under der applied ar rowing Permit semit Id A M0022311 3 0M0290123 NM5000101	rlined column title ind any selected ch to 1-10 of 33 <b>44</b> Access Statts Signatory View Signatory	to sort the table reck boxes will be Access Station Approved Approved Approved	rows in ascending s reset to unselec QL View A3 2 Subsordier Aan @ @	2 or descending order by th ted. <b>Reputal Date</b> 12/03/09 10:00 A 11/02/09 01:52 P 01/12/10 10:05 A	e information in that or <u>Vuolate Date</u> M 03/31/11 09/31 PM M 11/03/09 01/52 PM M 03/21/11 09/51 PM	Delete Access Rights	I or view Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits ick any under der applied a owing Perma armit.13 & M0022311 & 0H02290123 NM0020311 NM0020311	rlined column stile ind any selected ch to 1-10 of 33 44 4 Access Bights Signatory View Signatory Signatory	to sort the table reck boxes will be Access Status Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved	rows in ascending reset to unselec QL view A3 • Solscotler Asn @ •	or descending order by th code. <b>Heavest Date</b> 12/03/09 10:00 A 11/03/09 01:52 P 01/13/10 10:05 A 01/13/10 10:06 A	e information in that or Update Date M 03/31/11 09/31 PM M 01/21/11 09/51 PM M 01/21/11 09/51 PM M 03/21/11 09/51 PM	Nume. If you click View A	ll or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits ck any under der applied e owing Perma semit Id 4 M0022311 3 GM0290123 NM0022011 NM0022311 NM0022311	rlined column tole and any selected ch ts 1-10 of 33 44 4 Access Bishta Signatory View Bignatory Bignatory Edit	to sort the table teck boxes will be Access Status Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved	rows in ascending reset to unselec Q view A0 Solicofler Aar Q Q	o or descending order by th code. <b>Heavest Date</b> 12/03/09 10:00 A 11/03/09 01:02 P 01/13/10 10:05 A 01/13/10 10:06 A 01/04/10 02:33 P	e information in that or Voidate Date M 03/21/11 09/31 PM 11/03/09 01/52 PM 02/21/11 09/51 PM 02/21/11 09/51 PM 02/21/11 09/51 PM	Delete Access Rights	I or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits ck any under der applied a owing Permit wm022311 s GM0290123 GM0290123 NM0020311 NM0022311 NM0022311 NM0022311	rlined oblumn tible and any selected ch ts 1-10 of 33 44 4 Access Bishts Signatory View Bignatory Bignatory Edit View	to sort the table teck boxes will be access Shate Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved	reves in ascending reset to unselec View A3 Subsocier Aan	or descending order by three.           test         12/03/09 01/04           11/03/09 01/04         01/12/10 10/04           01/12/10 10/04 A         01/14/10 10/04 A	e information in that or Undella Date # 02/21/11 09/51 PH # 02/21/11 09/51 PH	Aumn. If you click View A	Il or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits lick any under der applied a voxing Permit wmo123311 a gM0223311 a gM0223311 a gM0223311 a gM0223311 a gM022331 gM022331 gM022331 gM022331 gM022333 gM022333	rined column stile and any selected ch to 1-10 of 33 % 4 Access Bishts Signatory View Signatory Bignatory Edit View Edit View	to sort the table leck boxes will br 1. 2. 3. 4. 6 M Access Shate Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved	eress in ascending reset to unselec Union 23 Solitocher Aan	p. or descending order by th.           extents         Encloses Data           1.2/20109 10:00 A         1.2/20109 10:00 A           1.2/20109 10:00 A         0.0/21/20 10:00 A           0.1/2010 10:00 A         0.0/21/20 10:00 A           0.1/2010 20:00 20:00 A         0.0/21/20 10:00 A           0.1/2010 20:00 20:00 A         0.0/21/20 20:00 20:00 A	e information in that or <b>Multin that</b> M 02/21/11 09/01 99 M 02/21/11 09/01 99	Aumn. If you click View A	Il or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
ty Permits lick any under der applied a howing Permit armit.130 2 MM0229311 2 GM0229311 3 GM0229311 3 RM0022331 RM0022331 RM0022331 RM0022331 RM0022331 RM0022331 RM0022331	rined column stile and any selected ch to 1-10 of 33 % 4 Access Stahts Signatory View Signatory Bignatory	to sort the table beck boxes with the ck boxes with Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved	eves in ascending unseted in reset to unseted Quiven A3 Bollochier Aun O	n or descending order by th ended. I SU(2) (59 50:00 A I SU(2) (59 50:00 A I SU(2) (59 50:00 A I SU(2) (50 50	e information in that or builden that H 02/21/11 09/01 99 H 11/02/09 01:52 PH D2/21/11 09/01 PH 02/21/11 09/01 PH 02/21/11 09/01 PH 02/21/11 09/01 PH 02/21/11 09/01 PH 01/27/10 02/4P PH	humn, B you click View A Delete Access Tophts C C C C C C C C C C C C C	I or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
ty Permits lick any under der appled a howing Permit emmit Id emmit Id	rine any selected ch tas 3-10 of 33 of 1 at https://www. Bignatory View Bignatory Dignatory Bignatory Bignatory View Bignatory Bignatory View Bignatory Bign	In sort the table text boxes will be Access ticks Approved App	revel in ascending revert to unable Q <sub>1</sub> v <sub>iew</sub> Al Deliscoher Aar	an descending order by th annual for the second se	e information in that or Verbia Date M 02/21/11 09/31 PH M 02/21/10 02/49 PH	Aumn, 31 you click View A Delete Access Rights C C C C C C C C C C C C C	I or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
ty Permits     Sick any under     der applied a     howing Permit     howing Pe	rined column thin and any selected of its s-to of 33 44 4 Signature Vere Bapalary Bapalary Bas Signatury Signatury Bas Signatury Signatury Signatury Bas Signatury Sig	In sort the table text boxes will be Accessed to the table Accessed to the table Approved A	nass in ascending in reset to unsets Voin AS Balacenter Aur	an descending order by th test. <b>NETWORK</b> <b>1</b> 2/03/09 10:00 A 11/03/09 10:00 A 01/03/09 A 0	e information in that of Worksta Data # 22/21/21 09/31 PH # 21/21/21 09/31 PH # 22/21/21 09/31 PH # 22/21/21 09/31 PH # 22/21/21 09/31 PH # 02/21/12 09/31 PH # 01/21/12 09/31 PH # 01/21/12 09/31 PH # 01/21/12 09/31 PH # 01/21/12 09/31 PH	Aumin, Ji you click View A Delete Access Rights C C C C C C C C C C C C C	I or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
ty Permits lick any under der soplet a bowing Permit termit.10 ( wh0022311 s 04022311 s 04022312 s 0402312 s 0402311 s 0404	rised column stee of a sny setted of the s-so d state so s-so d state Separatory Ware Separatory Ware Separatory Ware Setter Ware Setter Sette	to sort the table teck boxes will be Accessed and be Accessed and a Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved Approved	the in according network to unsets to unsets to unsets to unsets to unsets of the set of	an descending order by th ended: Interest I	e information in that of <b>Under Date</b> 02/22/12 09:03 PH 02/22/12 09:04 PH	Aumo, B you click View A Delete Access Rights	l or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits lick any under der sopied of howing Permit went Lid ( mod22311 1 0 Mod22012 1 Mod022311 1 0 Mod22012 1 Mod022313 1 Mod022333 Nemo02333 Security Qu Change Yo	And any settered of any settered of the s-12 of 23 eff all Second Balance Big-story Was Big-story Was Big-story Big-	to bord the lable ecc bores will be a 2, 2, 2, 2 + 0 + Access blank Approved Approve	Hand in advanced of instance to unseed to unse	an descending order by th ended. I 20/20/09 20:00 A I 20/20/20 20:00 A I 20/20 A I	e information in that or Variate Date M 02/21/13 09/03 PM M 02/21/13 09/03 PM M 02/21/13 09/01 PM Powever you can chan	humn, B you click View A Defete Access Bights C C C C C C C C C C C C C	ll or View Rarbal, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits lick any under der applied a formul der applied a formul der applied a formul der applied a mesocococo security Qu Change Yor Fassand mus	rised column stile of a sny solitide of the scale of a size of a size Bignatory Ware Bignatory Ware Bignatory Dignatory Bignatory Ware Column State Ware Uses Uses Uses Uses Uses Uses Uses Us	to bord the lable of the control of the lable of the label of the labe	Internet in according to the second of the s	an descending order by the sector of the sector of the se	e information in that or <b>Variate Date</b> 4 20/22/13 09/33 PH 4 21/22/13 09/33 PH 4 22/22/13 09/33 PH 4 22/22/13 09/33 PH 4 23/22/13 09/33 PH 4 23/22/13 09/33 PH 4 23/22/13 09/33 PH 5 0/22/13 09/33 PH 5 0/22/13 09/34 PH 5 0/22/14 09/34 PH 5 0/22/14 PH 5	humn, B you click View A Delete Access Rights	I or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits Lick any under dev applied a traving Permit traving Permit trav	nined column stile of a sey settled of the s-10 of 2014 Second States Second States St	to port the lable over the label ove	the second	and at least one number, 5	e information in that of Undate Date M 02/21/11 09/03 PP 02/21/11 09/03 PP 02/21/11 09/03 PP 02/21/11 09/01 PP 02/21/11 0	humn, B you click view A Defete Access Rights C C C C C C C C C C C C C	I or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits     Sics any under development     sector any under development     merceases     merceaseses     merceases     merceases     merceaseses     merceases	Hind only settled of any settled of the s-so of settled of the s-so of settled of the s-so of settled of the settled of the settled of the settled of the settled of the settled of the settled of any password	to bord the lable exclusions will be a particular to bord Approved	Internet in according insets to unsets to unse	an descending order by the sector of the sector of the se	e information in that of Undits. Date M 02/21/11 09/03 PM 11/21/21 09/03 PM 02/21/11 09/03 PM 02/21/11 09/01 PM 02/21/11 09/01 PM 02/21/11 09/01 PM 02/21/11 09/01 PM 02/21/11 09/01 PM Powever you can chan Powever you can chan pocial characters other in pocial character	humn, B you click View A Defete Access Bights	I or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits Lick any under Applied a sound prevention of the sound sound prevention of the sound prevention sound prevention of the sound prevention of the sound sound prevention of the sound prevention of the sound prevention of the sound prevention of the soun	And a column stile and any settered of the s-top of a stop of a stop Recent Black Pip-Mary Di	to port the lable reck boxes will be a part of the lable Approved	Interest in advanced of insert to unserted of unserted	and descending order by the sector back 12/20/29 10:00 A 12/20/29 10:00 A 12/20/29 10:00 A 02/23/20 10:00 A 02/23/	e information in that of Undate Date # 02/21/11 09/03 PH 1 11/03/09 01/12 PH # 02/21/11 09/03 PH # 02/21/10 03/04 PH Powever you can chan becall characters other # between you can chan becall characters other # between you can chan # between you can chan # because and the power of the power of the power # because and the power of the power	humn, B you click View A	I or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits Lick any under Applied a sound premoved any applied an	rine docum site ind any selected of is 1-10 of 33 44 4 Big-stary Dignator	to port the lable reck boxes will be a part of the Approved Approv	Interest in advanced of interest to unselect Interest to unselect Interest	and descending order by the sector based 12/20/29 10/20 A 12/20/29 10/20 A 12/20/29 10/20 A 12/20/29 10/20 A 02/23/20 A 0/23/20	e information in that of Undukt Date H 02/21/11 09/03 PH 0 22/21/11 09/03 PH H 11/02/09 01/12 PH H 02/21/11 09/03 PH H 02/21/10 03/04 PH however you can chan however you can chan becal characters other mitiganger	Aumn, B you click view A	I or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de
y Permits Use any use of the solution of the	An and a set set of a	In act the lable to the state of the lable o	the second	an extension of a star by the state of the s	e information in that of Undate Date # 02/21/11 09/03 PP 02/21/11 09/03 PP Powerver you can char becall characters other as sealings.	humn, B you click View A	I or View Partial, the	table will be displayed with the de

#### Figure 2-8: Edit Account Page

- 1. Log into NetDMR and click on My Account in the upper left corner of the page.
- 2. Click on **Edit Account** within the *My Account* page.
- 3. Make changes by entering data in any of the **General Account Information** fields except User Type and Delete Access Rights in the **My Permits** section, changing security questions and answers, changing your password, or locking your account in





Click any underlined column

title to sort the permits in ascending or

descending order by the information in

that column.

the **Lock Your Account** section (refer to subsections below for details). Although there is a Delete Access Rights column, only a Permit Administrator may delete access rights to their permit(s).

- 4. Review your changes to confirm they are correct.
- 5. Click on Save, or click on Cancel to cancel changes and return to the *My Account* page.
- 6. Answer the Security Question and provide your current password.

#### 2.6.1. Request Access Rights Change

You can delete access rights to the permits you currently have access to by clicking on the  $\Box$  empty checkboxes in the **Delete Access Rights** column within the **My Permits** table next to the permits to delete. Click on a checked box  $\overrightarrow{P}$  to unselect a permit.

2.6.2. Security Questions and Answers

You can change your Security Questions and Answers by clicking on  $\stackrel{\bullet}{=}$  to display your security questions or  $\stackrel{\bullet}{=}$  to hide the list of security questions. To change a question, click on the drop down arrow and click on the question. To change an answer, simply type the answer in the box under the question.

#### 2.6.2.1. Reset Security Questions

A Regulatory Authority Administrator may have you reset your security questions and answers if they discover your account has been compromised. If this is the case, your account will be suspended and you will receive an email notifying you of the change. If you try to log into NetDMR you will be prompted to reset your password or security questions:



Contact your Administrator to get the secret answer to use for resetting your questions, then follow these steps to change your security questions and answers:

1. Click on the hyperlink within your security reset email notification:



2. The *Reset Account Credentials* page will appear:





Login   FAQs   Getting Started   Co NetDMR	ntact the NetDMR Team		
Reset Account Credent	tials		
To reset your security questions, ple administrator at your regulatory aut	ase enter the answer to the se hority and select new security of	curity question conveyed to you b questions and answers.	r the
Enter a temporary security questic user to force a reset of the securit	on answer for the y questions.:	(Answers are case- sensitive)	
Please provide responses for securi sensitive. Question 1*	ty questions. Select each questi	on only one time. Note that answe	rs are case-
Select One			
Question 2*	=		
Selectone			
Question 3*			
Select One			
	Save Cancel	1	

Type the secret answer provided to you by your Regulatory Administrator into the **Enter a temporary question answer** box.

- 3. Select the first question from the Question 1 drop down box and type in an answer for the question.
- 4. Repeat Step 3 for each of the remaining questions.
- 5. Click on Save to save your security questions and answers.
- 6. If you did not provide the correct answer, select security questions or provide answers an error message will appear:

There were errors processing your request. Repeat steps 2 through 5.

7. You will receive confirmation that your security questions have been reset:



8. Click on the here to access the login page hyperlink to log into NetDMR.

You will receive an email notifying you that your account has been reset:

```
Your NetDMR account crediantials are reset. You may now log into NetDMR. Thank you.
```

#### 2.6.3. Change Password

You can change your password by entering a new password and then reentering it in the space provided.



Be sure to enter a new password that is not the same as the 10 most recent passwords you've used.





#### 2.6.3.1. Reset Password

A Regulatory Authority Administrator may have you reset your password if you are having problems logging in or if they discover your account has been compromised. If this is the case, your account will be suspended and you will receive an email notifying you of the change. If you try to log into NetDMR you will be prompted to reset your password or security questions:

Login   FAQs   Getting Started   Contact the NetDMR Team
Reset Credential via Verification Key
You must change your password and/or security questions before you can continue using this account. You should have received instructions on how to perform this via email. If you did not receive this email, please contact your Regulatory Authority for assistance.
©2008 NetDMR

Follow these steps to change your password:

1. Click on the hyperlink within your security reset email notification:



2. The Complete NetDMR Password Reset Request page will appear:

Login   FAQs   Gett	I ing Started   Contact the NetDMR Team
Complete N Hello cathysigid question and cre characters conta * + = may not b	<pre>letDMR Password Reset Request @yahoo.com. To reset your NetDMR password, provide a response to the security state a new password for your account. Password must be between 8 and 20 aining letters and at least one number. Special characters other than ! @ # \$ ^ &amp; e used.</pre>
What is your favorite city?	(answers are case-sensitive)
Enter Password	(case sensitive, 8-20 characters, include letters and numbers)
Enter Password again	
	Submit Cancel

- 3. Type in the secret answer for the question displayed.
- 4. Enter a new password that is not the same as the previous password.
- 5. Re-enter the new password.
- 6. Click on Submit to save your new password.
- 7. If you did not provide the correct answer to the question or your password is invalid an error message will appear:

There were errors processing your request. Repeat steps 3 through 6.

8. You will receive confirmation that your password has been reset:




Login   FAQs   Getting Started   Contact the NetDMR Team
Password Reset Completed
Your password has been changed. Click here to access the login page and begin using NetDMR.
©2008 NetDMR

9. Click on the here to access the login page hyperlink to log into NetDMR.

#### 2.6.4. Lock Account

If you need to inactivate your account for a period of time you can lock your account by clicking on the  $\square$  empty checkbox in the **Lock Your Account** section. If you do not want to lock your account and the box is  $\square$  checked, click on the checked box to avoid locking your account.

If you lock your account, the next time you attempt to log into the National Instance of NetDMR the *Locked Account* page will display. Follow these steps to unlock a locked account:

- 1. Answer the security question that is displayed.
- 2. Click on Submit

If you respond correctly to the security question you will be directed back to the *NetDMR Login* page to log into your account.

# 2.7. Unlocking Your Account

If you have locked your account in order to inactivate it for a period of time or a Regulatory Administrator locked your account due to security issues, you will receive an e-mail notifying you that your account is locked. The next time you attempt to log into the National Instance of NetDMR the *Locked Account* page will display as shown in Figure 2-9.



Figure 2-9: Locked Account Notification Page

Contact your Regulatory Authority by clicking on **Regulatory authority** and calling the telephone number or sending an e-mail to the address specified in the *Regulatory Authority Contact* page Figure 2-10.





Login   FAQs   Getting Started   Contact the NetDMR Team
Contact the NetDMR Team
If you need assistance, please contact NetDMR at: Phone: 555-555-5555 Email: netdmr@erg.com

Figure 2-10: Regulatory Authority Contact Page

After the Regulatory Authority unlocks your account NetDMR will notify you with an email containing a link. Navigate to the link to display a page confirming your account has been unlocked and follow these steps:

- 1. Answer the security question that is displayed.
- 2. Click on Submit

If you respond correctly to the security question you will be directed back to the *NetDMR Login* page to log into your account.

## 2.8. Resetting a Password

NetDMR passwords expire after 6 months and will display the *Expired Password* page after you log in with an expired password. Use this page to reset your expired password by:

- 1. Answering the security question.
- 2. Entering your current password.
- 3. Entering a new password twice.
- 4. Clicking on Submit .

Be sure to enter a new password that is not the same as the 10 most recent passwords you've used.

You may also reset your password at any time by using the My Account page. To do this:

- 1. Log into NetDMR and click on My Account in the upper left corner of the page.
- 2. Click on **Edit Account** within the *My Account* page.
- 3. Enter a new password and then reenter it in the spaces provided within the **Change Your Password** section.
- 4. The *Confirm Account Edits* page will appear. Answer the Security Question and provide your old password.
- 5. Click on <u>Save</u> to proceed, or click on <u>Cancel</u> to cancel changes and return to the *My Account* page.
- 6. If the security question answer or old password is incorrect, NetDMR will display the error message shown below. Enter your answer and old password again.

There were errors processing your request.

- .....
- 7. If the security answer and old password are correct, NetDMR will display this confirmation message:





Your account changes have been saved

## 2.9. Retrieving a Forgotten User Name

If you have forgotten your User Name, follow these steps to recover it:

- 1. Navigate to the *NetDMR Welcome* page, select your Regulatory Authority, and click on Go
- 2. Click on **Forgot User Name?** on the *NetDMR Login* page.
- 3. Enter the e-mail address you used to create your NetDMR account in the box provided:

Login   FAQs   Getting Started   Co NetDMR	ontact the NetDMR Team	
Retrieve User Name		
Step 1: To retrieve your user created your NetDMR account	name, please enter the e-mail address yo t.	u specified when you
Email Address*:	Submit Cancel	

- 4. Click on <u>Submit</u> to continue, or click on <u>Cancel</u> to return to the *NetDMR Login* page.
- 5. If you provided an e-mail address that NetDMR does not recognize NetDMR will display a message that your User Name could not be found:

A user with the specified email address was not found.

Perform steps 3 - 4 again making sure to use the correct e-mail address for the Regulatory Authority you selected. Otherwise, one of your security questions will be displayed:

Login   FAQs   Getting Started   Contact the N	etDMR Team
NetDMR	
Retrieve User Name	
Step 2: Please respond to the security account.	question you specified when you created your NetDMR
Email Address:	alison_kittle@yahoo.com
What was your high school mascot?	
	Submit Cancel

- 6. Answer the security question that is displayed.
- 7. Click on Submit to continue, or click on Cancel to return to the *NetDMR Login* page.
- 8. If the answer to your secret question is incorrect, NetDMR will display an error message:
  - There were errors processing your request.

Otherwise, NetDMR will display your User Name:





## 2.10. Retrieving a Forgotten Password

If you have forgotten your NetDMR password, follow these steps to recover it:

- 1. Navigate to the *NetDMR Welcome* page, select your Regulatory Authority, and click on Go
- 2. Click on **Forgot Password?** on the *NetDMR Login* page
- 3. Enter the e-mail address you used to create your NetDMR account in the box provided:

Login   FAQs   Getting Starte	Contact the NetDMR Team
NetDMR	
Forgot Password	
Step 1: To reset a passw you created your NetDMR	d that you forgot, please enter the e-mail address you specified when ccount:
Email Address*:	Submit Cancel

- 4. Click on Submit to continue, or click on Cancel to return to the *NetDMR Login* page.
- 5. If you provided an e-mail address that NetDMR does not recognize NetDMR will display a message that your e-mail address could not be found:

A user with the specified email address was not found.

Perform steps 3 - 4 again making sure to use the correct e-mail address for the Regulatory Authority you selected. Otherwise, one of your security questions will be displayed:

Login   FAQs   Getting Started   Contact the M	NetDMR Team
NetDMR	
Forgot Password	
Step 2: Please respond to the security account.	v question you specified when you created your NetDMR
Email Address:	cathysigid@yahoo.com
What was your first pet's name?	
	Submit Cancel





- 6. Answer the security question that is displayed.
- 7. Click on Submit to continue, or click on Cancel to return to the *NetDMR Login* page.
- 8. If the answer to your secret question is incorrect, NetDMR will display an error message:
  - There were errors processing your request.

Otherwise, you will receive an e-mail from NetDMR to the e-mail account you provided. Click on the hyperlink provided in this e-mail to access the *Complete the NetDMR Password Reset Request* page.

Login   FAQs   Getting Started   Contact the NetDMR Team	
NetDMR	
Complete NetDMR Password Reset Request	
Hello cathysigid@yahoo.com. To reset your NetDMR password, provide a question and create a new password for your account. Password must be characters containing letters and at least one number. Special character * + = may not be used.	response to the security e between 8 and 20 s other than ! @ # \$ ^ &
What is your favorite (answers are case-sensitive)	
color?	
Enter Password (case sensitive, 8-20 characters, include letters and numbers)	
Enter Password	
again	
Submit Cancel	

- 9. Answer the security question.
- 10. Enter a new password that is different than the last 10 passwords you specified for your account.
- 11. Enter the new password again.
- 12. Click on Submit .

#### 2.11. Disabled Accounts

A locked account is different than a disabled account. A user's account is disabled if he/she enters their password incorrectly three times or enters three incorrect responses to security questions.

If a user disables their account by entering their password incorrectly three times, the user can enable their account and request a password reset by responding correctly to a security question, then logging into NetDMR. If a user forgets the responses to his/her security question, he/she must contact the Regulatory Administrators directly and request a reset of the security questions.





# **Chapter 3. Permit Administrator Procedures**

A Permit Administrator is a Permittee User who can approve View and Edit requests for their facility's permit(s). Permit Administrators cannot approve a Signatory role; Signatories are approved by the Regulatory. Specifically, a Permit Administrator can:

- > approve and delete DMR View and Edit role requests from other Permittee Users
- > approve and delete DMR View and Edit role requests from Data Providers
- approve and delete Partial DMR View role requests from Regulatory Authority Administrators and Users
- search and view permits
- search and view users
- ➢ sign and submit DMRs only if they have been granted a Signatory role
- > import, edit, delete and correct DMRs only if they have been granted an Edit role
- search and view CORs and DMRs
- search and view DMRs
- download blank DMRs

To become a Permit Administrator, a Permittee User with an existing Edit or View Role must request the Permit Administrator Role for a particular permit and be approved by an existing Permit Administrator for that permit.

Note that the first Signatory approved for a permit is automatically assigned a Permit Administrator role – all future Permit Administrator requests will not be assigned a Signatory role unless the Regulatory Authority sets up their Instance to do this.

Figure 3-1 shows the Permit Administrator Home page that is displayed when a Permit Administrator logs into NetDMR.

The first Signatory role that is approved for a new instance will automatically be assigned both the Signatory and Permit Administrator roles.





DMR	est Access   Help   Lagout			Michigan -	- MI
age Iss Requests	Search Import All DMRs & CORs Permits Jsers	DMRs Import esults	Devvnloed Blank DMR Form	📽 Session Lorkout Timer	29:56
earch: All DMRs	& CORs Permit ID Use	irs		Last 10 Logins 12/0/00 1:50 PM -	
All DMRs & C	opies of Record (COR	s)	lask will instant	10/9/00 9:02 AM - 10/9/08 8:58 AM - 10/9/08 8:37 AM -	
NetDMR not to filt   Permit ID:	er on that field.	Update		10/9/08 8:04 AM - 10/9/08 8:04 AM - 10/8/08 4:54 PM -	
C Facility: Note: The Updat and Discharge se	All e buttons above for Permit ID a lection boxes below.	nd Facility will update	the Permitted Feature		
Permitted Featu	ire: All Updaw				
Monitoring Peri Date Range:	od End		(mm/dd/yyyy)		
Edited or Submi By:	tted AI 2				
Status:	Ready for Dat NetDMR Valida Imported Signed & Subn Submission En Completed	Entry tion Errors ted witted ors/Wernings	id down CTRL or Mac mand key to ut/deselect multiple)		
COR Confirmati	on #:				
ending Access my underlined colu vill be displayed wit ling Access Req	FRequests mn tills to sort the table rows in h the default sort order applied uests - External	ascending or descent and any selected che	ing order by the informati k boxes will be reset to u	on in that column. If you click View selected.	# All or V
ults.					
ing Access Req	uests - Internal				

Figure 3-1: Permit Administrator Home Page

# 3.1. Managing Access Requests

You can approve or deny requests from state and region regulatory authorities, or Permittee and Data Provider Users for access to permit(s) within your instance if you also have Permit Administrator access for the permit. This is done by using the **Pending Access Requests** – **Internal** and **Pending Access Requests** – **External** tables on the *Permit Administrator home* page or the *Manage Access Requests* page (Figure 3-2). The specific types of access requests you can respond to include:

- External Edit Access Requests Edit access allows a Permittee user to view and edit DMRs.
- External View Access Requests View access allows a Permittee user to view DMRs but not modify any entries.
- External Data Provider Access Requests Data provider access allows a Data Provider user to view and edit DMRs.
- Internal View Partial Access Requests Internal view partial access allows a user from the regulatory authority that manages your permits to view a partially completed DMR. This may be useful if you need assistance with a DMR.





NetDMR	equest Access   Help	Lierrentini, Permittee User Michigan - MI			
Manage Access Requests	Search All DMRs & CORs Permits Users	Import DMRs Perform Import Check Results	View Permits Users	Download Blank DMR Form	📽 Session Lookout Timeri 29:39
🚽 Manage Ac	cess Requests				
Pending Access R	equests - Externa	t.			
No results.					
Pending Access F	equests - Internal				
No results.			Car	ncel	

Figure 3-2: Manage Access Requests Page

Up to ten users requests will be displayed by default in the Internal and External request tables. If more than 10 users are associated with this permit or have pending requests, you can navigate through the list by:

- > Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of results.
- > Clicking the green forward arrow to display the next page of Users.
- > Clicking the d green back arrow to view the previous page of Users.
- ➤ Clicking the by double green forward arrow icon to display the last 10 Users.
- > Clicking the *double* green back arrow icon to display the first 10 Users.
- Clicking the View All link to show all Users in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 Users at a time.

You can click any underlined column title to sort the Users in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.

#### 3.1.1. Managing Permittee and Data Provider User Access Requests

External users are Permittee or Data Provider (lab or contractor) staff that view, edit, or sign and submit DMRs for a facility's permit(s). Follow the directions below to approve or deny access requests from Permittee and Data Provider users:

 Log into your NetDMR account as a Permit Administrator and scroll down to the Pending Access Requests – External table at the bottom of the *Permit Administrator Home* page to view all pending requests.

OR

Click on Access Requests under the Manage menu and scroll down to the Pending Access Requests – External table at the bottom of the *Manage Access Requests* page to view all pending requests.

OR

Search by Permit ID (see Section 3.6 for information about how to search for a permit)

and scroll down to the **Pending Access Requests** – **External** table at the bottom of the *View Permit Details* page to view all pending requests.

2. Locate the user of interest in the table. You can click any underlined column title to sort the users in



You may leave a comment for both approval and denial of access, but a comment is required for all denied access requests.





ascending or descending order by the information in that column.

3. Approve or deny the user's access request:

To approve access, click on  $\square$  to check the box in the **Approve** column in the same row as the user.

OR

7.

To deny access, click on  $\square$  to check the box in the **Deny** column in the same row as the user and enter a reason for denying access in the **Comment** column.

- 4. Click on Submit to continue, or click on Cancel to discard your changes.
- 5. If boxes were not checked for the Approve and Deny columns for any of the users, an error window will appear asking you select check one box:

Microsoft Internet Explorer 🛛 🗙							
⚠	Please select at least 1 CheckBox						
	ОК						

Click on OK and repeat Step 4.

6. Review your access changes when the confirmation message appears:

*i* You have requested access rights update for the following users. Please confirm.

Click on Submit to save your changes, or click on Cancel to discard your changes and return to the *Manage Access Requests* page or the home page.

8. If the box next to the Deny column was checked but nothing was entered into the Comments field, an error message will appear:

There were errors processing your request.

Enter the reason for denying the request in the Comments field, then click on Submit to continue or Cancel to discard your changes and return to the *Manage Access Requests* page or the home page.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### 3.1.2. Deleting User Access Rights

You can delete the rights for a user who has access to your permits through the *View Users* page shown in Figure 3-3 by following these steps:





ccess Requests A P U		MRs & CORs Perform lits Check R s	Import Perm tesults User	its Blank Di	MR Form	📽 Session (			
View     The follow     that column     unselecter	v Users ing users are as n. If you click t	sociated with your permits View All or View Parbal, the	. Click any underlin table will be displo	ed column title t	o sort the table ri ault sort order ap	Refine S ows in ascendin- plied and any s	earch g or desce elected ch	New Search Inding order by the informati leck boxes will be reset to	ion i
Einst Name	Last.Name	Beer Name	Eacility	Pertoit.10	Beer.Type	Role	Delete Role	Email	
External	User6	eusr006_hab@yahoo.com	COASTAL OIL B GAS CORPORATION	GMG290015	External	View	Е	eusr006_hab@yahoo.com	-
External	user5	eusi005b_hab@yahoo.com	GAS CORPORATION	GMG290015	External	View		eusr005b_hab@yahoo.com	
Hello BAH	Tester	bahtester@yahoo.com	COASTAL OIL B GAS CORPORATION	GMG290015	Internal DMR Data	Partial DMR		bahtester@vahoo.com	4
Internal	User1	iusr001_hab@yahoo.com	GOASTAL OIL &	GMG290015	Internal DMR Data	Partial DMR	п	iusr001_hab@yahoo.com	-
Permit	Administrator2	pa002c_hab@yahoo.com	COASTAL OIL & GAS CORPORATION	GMG290015	External	🥖 Signatory	п	pa002c_hab@yahoo.com	-
Permit	Administrator2	pa002c_hab@yahoo.com	COASTAL OIL & GAS CORPORATION	GMG290015	External	Permit Administrator	п	pa002c_hab@yahoo.com	•
Won	Lee	lee.von@epa.gov	COASTAL OIL &	GMG290015	Internal	Partial DMR		lee.won@epa.gov	4

Figure 3-3: View Users Page

- 1. Log into your NetDMR account as a Permit Administrator.
- Click on Users under the Search menu (see Section 3.7 for instructions on searching users). Locate the user of interest on the User Search Results page and click on □ to check the box in the Delete Role column of that row. OR

Click on  $\triangleq$  in the same row as the user and access right you would like to remove. On the *View User Account Details* page, locate the access that you would like to remove in the Permits and Roles table. Click on  $\square$  to check the box in the same row under the **Delete Role** column.

3. The Add Comments for Access Rights Removal page will appear:

ne   My Ad NetDN	AR	equest Access   He	p   Logout			📥 User:p	pa002c_hab@yahoo.com, Perm R6 Partial - L	ttee User A-GM
Manage Access Re	equests	Search All DMRs & CORs Permits Users	s Perform Import Check Results	View I Permits E Users	Download Blank DMR F	orm	📽 Session Lockout Tim	er: 29:56
▲ Add	u have re ase prov	ents for Acco equested access r ide comment(s):	ess Rights Remov	val following use	ers.			
<u>First</u> Name	<u>Last</u> Name	<u>User Name</u>	Facility	Permit ID	<u>Role</u>	Delete Role	Comment	Email
Won	Lee	lee.won@epa.gov	COASTAL OIL & GAS CORPORATION	GMG290015	Partial DMR	V		lee.won@epa.gov

- 4. Enter the reason for removing the access rights into the Comments field, then click on Confirm Removal to continue, or click on Cancel to return to the *View Users* page.
- 5. A confirmation page will be displayed:





ne   My A NetDI	ie   Ny Account   Request Access   Nelp   Layout						Useripa002c_habgyahoo.com, Permittee User R6 Partial - LA-GM			
Manage Access Ri	equests	Search All DMRs & COR Permits Users	s Perform Import Check Results	view Permits Users	Downlo Blank D	ad MR Form	📽 Session Lockout Time	rı 29187		
Use  Acc  One item	r Searc	ch Results - s have been upda	Remove Access	Rights		]				
Einst Name	Lost Name	User Name	Eacility	Permit.IR	Role.	Delete Role	Comment	Email		
Wen	Lee	lee.von@epa.gov	COASTAL OIL & GAS CORPORATION	GMG290015	Partial DMR	R	Test = creating screen shot for Permittee User Guide	lee.von@epa.go		
				0	4					

Click on ok to return to the *View User Account Details* page.

## 3.1.3. Managing Partially Completed Internal User Access Requests

As a Permit Administrator, you can provide staff at your regulating agency access to a DMR you are in the process of editing using the **Pending Access Requests** – **Internal** table on the *Permit Administrator Home* or the *Manage Access Requests* page (Figure 3-4). This may be useful if you need assistance with a DMR.

NetDMR	rquest Access   Help	Useriprotimi, Permittee User Michigan - MI			
Manage Access Requests	Search All DMRs & CORs Permits Users	Import DMRs Perform Import Check Results	View Permits Users	Download Blank DMR Form	🗑 Session Lockout Timer: 29:39
a Manage Ac	cess Requests				
Pending Access F	kequests - External	1			
No results.					
Pending Access F	lequests - Internal	l.			
No results.		10	comit: Car	ncel	

Figure 3-4: Manage Access Requests Page

The internal user will provide the following information to you when requesting partially completed access to your DMR:

- ➢ permit ID
- > permitted feature
- ➢ limit set
- monitoring period end date

Follow these steps to approve or deny a request:

 Log into your NetDMR account as a Permit Administrator and scroll down to the Pending Access Requests – External table at the bottom of the *Permit Administrator Home* page to view all pending requests. OR

Click on Access Requests under the Manage menu and scroll down to the Pending Access Requests – External table at the bottom of the *Manage Access Requests* page to view all pending requests.

OR



NetDMR

Search by Permit ID (see Section 3.6 for information about how to search for a permit) and scroll down to the **Pending Access Requests** – **External** table at the bottom of the *View Permit Details* page to view all pending requests.

- 2. Locate the user of interest in the table. You can click any underlined column title to sort the users in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.
- Approve or deny the user's access request: To approve access, click on □ to check the box in the Approve column in the same row as the user. OR

To deny access, click on  $\square$  to check the box in the **Deny** column in the same row as the user and enter a reason for denying access in the **Comment** column.

You may leave a comment for both approval and deny of access, but a comment is required for all denied access requests.

- 4. Click on <u>Submit</u> to continue, or click on <u>Cancel</u> to discard your changes.
- 5. If boxes were not checked for the Approve and Deny columns for any of the users, an error window will appear asking you select check one box:



Click on OK and repeat Step 4.

6. Review your access changes when the confirmation message appears:

🕐 You have requested access rights update for the following users. Please confirm.

Click on Submit to save your changes, or click on Cancel to discard your changes and return to the *Manage Access Requests* page or the home page.

8. If the box next to the Deny column was checked but nothing was entered into the Comments field, an error message will appear:

There were errors processing your request.

Enter the reason for denying the request in the Comments field, then click on Submit to continue or Cancel to discard your changes and return to the *Manage Access Requests* page or the home page.

# 3.2. Sign and Submit DMRs

7.

A Permit Administrator may only perform these tasks if they have been granted a Signatory Role for the permit. See Chapter 4 for details on how to sign and submit DMRs.





# 3.3. Edit, Import, Correct and Delete DMRs

A Permit Administrator may only perform these tasks if they have been granted an Edit or Signatory Role for the permit. See Chapter 5 for details on how to sign and submit DMRs.

# 3.4. Search and View DMRs and CORs

See Chapter 5 for details on how to search for and view DMRs and CORs.

# 3.5. Download Blank DMRs

See Chapter 5 for details on how to download blank DMRs.

## 3.6. Search Permits

You can retrieve and view information about a specific permit such as User Roles and Subscriber Agreements from the *Permit Administrator or Signatory Home* page, or from the *Search Permit ID* page shown in (Figure 3-5).

NetDMR	CA-HI-NE-SD-UT
Manage Access Requests         Search All DMRs & CORs Permits Users         Import DMRs Perform Import Check Results         View Permits Users         Download	🍯 Session Lockout Timeri 29:46
Search: All DMRs & CORs DMRs Ready to Submit Permit ID Users	Last 10 Logins 10/9/08 10:16 AM -
Descrit ID	10/9/08 10:11 AM -
Permit ID	10/9/08 10:04 AM -
Enter a full Permit ID to retrieve and view information about the permit.	
Permit ID:	
Search	
<ul> <li>Pending Access Requests</li> <li>Pending Access Requests - External</li> </ul>	
No results.	
Pending Access Requests - Internal	
No results. Submit: Cancel	

Figure 3-5: Search Permit ID Page

## 3.6.1. Permit Search from Home Page

Follow these directions to search for a permit from the Permit Administrator or Signatory Home Page.

 Log into your NetDMR account as a Permit Administrator. The home page will be displayed. Click on Permits in the gray Search tab OR
 aligh on Permit ID in the Search page

click on **Permit ID** in the *Search* page.

- 2. Type the nine-digit permit ID, and click on Search.
- 3. If the permit is available in NetDMR, the *View Permit Details* page is displayed. See the next section for instructions on how to use this page, OR

If a permit ID other than 9 characters is entered or is not in NetDMR, the following message will be displayed:





🔍 Search Permit	ID	
1 There were er	rors processing you	r request.
Enter a full Permit ID to r	etrieve and view informa	tion about the permit.
Permit ID:	UT002074	The permitID is not available for reporting in NetDMR.

Re-enter a valid Permit ID and click on Search until NetDMR is able to display the permit.

4. When finished viewing the permit, click on Cancel to return to the *Search Permit ID* page.

#### **3.6.2. View Permit Details**

After you search for and NetDMR locates the permit of interest, the *View Permit Details* page as shown in Figure 3-6.

ome   My Ac	count   Roque	st Access	Help   Legout			👗 Uzer:pmt4hi, Permittee Uzer
NetDN	AR					CA-HI-NE-SD-UT
Manage Access Re	quests Al Pe UI	rarch I DMRs & Cl ermits ters	DRs Import D Perform I Check Re:	MRs View port Permits Users	Download Blank DMR Form	🎽 Seesian Lackaut Timer: 29:10
Q View	Permit D	etails				
Permit II	)	HI0000019				
Facility N	lame	KAHE GEN	RATING STATION			
Facility L	ocation	09 900 FAF WATANAE ,	RINGTON HWY HI 96792			
Users an	d Roles es found, displi	aving all Use	rs/Roles			
User Nacon	Organication	User Type	Access Rights	Access Right Status	View Detaile	
pmt4hi	U.S. EPA	External	Signatory	Approved	8	
pmt4hi	U.S. EPA	External	Permit Administrator	Approved	8	
Pending ( No results, Pending ( No results,	Access Requ Access Requ	ests - Ext	submit Cancel submit Cancel submit Cancel	1		
DMR Subi	nission Noti	- fications				
Edit the e submitted Enter and User Em- kutte, alit	mail addresses for this permit ther email addr will to congeps.gov	that are ser ess: Delete User	vt submission ackno	wledgments any time	a DMR is	

Figure 3-6: View Permit Details Page

The following information is shown on this page:

- > Permit Details
  - ✓ Permit ID
  - ✓ Facility Name
  - ✓ Facility Location





- Users and Roles Table
  - ✓ User Name
  - ✓ Organization
  - ✓ User Type
  - ✓ Access Rights
  - ✓ Access Rights Status
  - $\checkmark$  Icon to view details about the user
- Pending Access Requests External Table
  - ✓ Name
  - ✓ User Name
  - ✓ User Type
  - ✓ Requested Access Rights
  - ✓ Approve/Deny
  - ✓ Comment
  - ✓ Link to the *User Details* page
  - ✓ Checkbox to Approve or Deny Request. Note: See Section 3.1 for instructions on Approving/Denying Requests.
- Pending Access Requests Internal Table
  - ✓ Name
  - ✓ User Name
  - ✓ User Type
  - ✓ Requested Access Rights
  - ✓ Approve/Deny Note: See Section 3.1 for instructions on Approving/Denying Requests.
  - ✓ Comment
  - ✓ Link to the *User Details* page
- DMR Submission Notifications (the list of email addresses to which NetDMR will send a submission acknowledgement when a DMR is submitted to ICIS for this permit)

Up to ten users requests will be displayed by default in each of the Pending Access Request tables. If more than 10 users are associated with this permit or have pending requests, you can navigate through the list by:

- Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of results.
- Clicking the green forward arrow to display the next page of Users.
- Clicking the seven back arrow to view the previous page of Users.
- ➤ Clicking the by double green forward arrow icon to display the last 10 Users.
- > Clicking the *double* green back arrow icon to display the first 10 Users.
- Clicking the View All link to show all Users in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 Users at a time.

You can click any underlined column title to sort the Users in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.





To add a new email address to the DMR Submission Notifications table, type the email address into the **Enter another email address** field and click on Add. The address will appear in the User Email table.

To remove an email address from the list, click on **2** in the Delete User column of the row for that email address. The address will be removed from the User Email table.

# 3.7. Search Users

You can search for users from the *Search Users* page shown in Figure 3-7 to view and edit their account information.

NetDMR	uest Access   Help	Logout		Usernetdmitest0019yahoa.com, Permittee User     BAH Delaware - DE			
tanage Iccess Requests	Search All DMRs & CORs Permits Users	Import DMRs Perform Import Check Results	View Permits Users	Download Blank DMR Forr	¥ .,	tssian Ladkout Timeri 29:55	
Search Users serch for Users using a 'jo' would return 'johr	i smy combination of se ismith' end "sjohnson"	arch criteria. For text	and numeric i	nformation, you ce	enter full or par	tial criteria. For example, enteri	ng a use
Search Users serch for Users using a 'jo' would return 'johr User First Name	i any combination of se ismith' and 'sjohnson'	arch criteria. For text	and numeric i	formation, you ca	enter full or par	tial criteria. For example, enteri	ng a use
Search Users earch for Users using a f 'jo' would return 'johr User First Name User Last Name	i any combination of se ismith' and 'sjohnson'	arch criteria. For text	and numeric i	nformation, you ca	n enter full or par	tial criteria. For example, enteri	ng a use
Search Users earch for Users using a "jo" would return "johr User First Name User Lact Name User Name	i any combination of se smith' and 'sjohnson'	arch criteria. For text	and numeric i	formation, you ca	n enter full or par	tial criteria. For example, enteri	ng a use
Search Users earch for Users using a "jo" would return "johr User First Name User Last Name User Name Email	i any combination of se smith' and 'sjohnson'	arch criteria. For text	and numeric i	nformation, you ca	n enter full or par	tial criteria. For example, enteri	ng a use
Search Users earch for Users using or "jo" would return jo in User First Name User Lact Name User Name Email Permit 1D	any combination of se smith' and 'sjohnson'	arch criteria. For text	and numeric i	nformation, you ce	n enter full or pan	tial criteria. For example, enter	ng a us

Figure 3-7: Search Users Page

# 3.7.1. User Search from Home Page

Follow these directions to search for a user from the home page:

 Log into your NetDMR account as a Permit Administrator. The home page will be displayed. Click on Users in the gray Search tab OR

click on **Users** in the *Search* page.

- 2. Enter criteria for the user and click search. You can search by:
  - ✓ User First Name
  - ✓ User Last Name
  - ✓ User Name
  - ✓ Email
  - ✓ Permit ID
  - ✓ Facility Name
- 3. Search
- 4. If the User is found the Search results will be displayed on the *User Search Results*

You can leave Search fields blank to return all users. You can also enter partial information for any criteria. For example, entering "a" in the User Name criteria would return both "AdamSmith" and

"KatieJones@state.xx.us."

page. See the next section for instructions on how to utilize the information on this page, OR

If a User is not in NetDMR, the following message will be displayed:







Re-enter valid data in any of the User search fields and click on Search until NetDMR is able to display the User.

- 5. If the list is too large, click on Refine Search and re-enter the First Name, Last Name, User Name, Email Address, Permit ID or Facility Name, then click on Search to return less results or click on Close to return to the User Search Results page.
- If another search is desired, click on New Search and re-enter the First Name, Last Name, User Name, Email Address, Permit ID or Facility Name, then click on Search to return less results or click on Close to return to the User Search Results page.
- 7. When finished viewing the user information, click on any tab to view that page.

#### 3.7.2. User Search Results

The *User Search Results* page (Figure 3-8) displays a table with the list of roles for each user that match your search criteria. This table includes the following information:

e   My Accous	t   Request	Access   Help   Log	out			💩 User:netdmrtest001@yahoo.com, Permittee User				
NetDMR					BAH Delaware - DE					
Ianage Search Import DMRs View Download Cosss Requests All DMRs & CORs Perform Import Check Results Users Blank DMR						load DMR Form	T Session L	ockout Timer: 29:57		
<ul> <li>View</li> <li>The following in that colum unselected.</li> <li>Users 1 thron</li> </ul>	Users i users are a n. If you cli igh 2 of 2	issociated with your p ick View All or View Pi	ermits. Click ar artial, the table	ny underlined will be displa	column title yed with the	e to sort the table row: e default sort order ap	Refine So s in ascending plied and any	earch Q New Search or descending order by selected check boxes w	the in ill be	
<ul> <li>View</li> <li>The following in that colum unselected.</li> <li>Users 1 throw First.Name</li> </ul>	Users users are a n. If you cli ugh 2 of 2 Last.Naron	ussociated with your p ick View All or View Pi <u>Uner Name</u>	ermits. Click ar artial, the table Eaclicity	y underlined will be displa	column title yed with the User Type	s to sort the table rows default sort order ap <b>Role</b>	Refine So s in ascending plied and any Delete Role	earch Q New Search or descending order by selected check boxes w	the in ill be	
View     The following     in that colum     unselected.     Users 1 throu     Eist.Name     Abigail	Users users are a n. If you di ugh 2 of 2 <u>Last Narron</u> Brown	ssociated with your p ck View All or View Pi <u>View: Naron</u> dedmx002@yahoo.co	ermits. Click er artial, the table <u>Eacility</u> m CARRIE DE	Permit JD DE0000208	column title yed with the Uner Type External	e to sort the table row: e default sort order ap Robs Signatory	Refine Sr s in ascending plied and any Delete Role	earch Q New Search or descending order by selected check boxes w Irmail dedmr002@yahoo.com	the in ill be	

Figure 3-8: User Search Results Page

This table includes the following information:

- ➢ First Name
- ➢ Last Name
- ➢ User Name
- ➤ Facility
- > Permit ID



- User Type (Internal = Regulatory Authority, External = Permittee or Data Provider)
- > Role
- Delete Role (see Section 3.1.2 for instructions on deleting roles)
- ≻ Email
- Link to View User Details

Up to User roles will be displayed by default in the table. If more than 10 users are returned, you can navigate through the list by:



If the user you are searching for is not displayed in the User Search Results table, you can click on **Refine Search** or **New Search** on the upper right. Both links will take you back to the **User Search** popup box where you can refine your search by adding additional search criteria or starting a new search.

- > Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of results.
- Clicking the green forward arrow to display the next page of User roles.
- Clicking the speen back arrow to view the previous page of User roles.
- > Clicking the **b** double green forward arrow icon to display the last 10 User roles.
- ➢ Clicking the <sup>◀</sup> double green back arrow icon to display the first 10 User roles.
- Clicking the View All link to show all User roles in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 User roles at a time.

You can click any underlined column title to sort the User roles in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.

If the user you are searching for is not displayed in the User Search Results table, you can click on Refine Search or Results to the upper right. Both links will take you back to the Search Users page where you can refine your search by adding additional search criteria or starting a new search.

#### 3.7.3. View User Account Details

After locating a user of interest on the *User Search Results* page, click on A in the last column of their row to display the *View User Account Details* page:





Manage Access Reg	All DMRs & COR Permits Users	s Perform Impor Check Results	t Permits E Users	ownload ilank DMR For	m 🕷 Session Lockout Timer: 29:52					
View	User Account Deta	ails								
General A	ccount Information									
First Name		Alison								
Last Name		Kittle								
User Name		pmt4hi	prot4hi							
E-mail Addr	ress	alison_kittle@yahoo	alison_kittle@yaboo.com							
Telephone I	Number	202-564-6233								
Organizatio	0	U.S. EPA								
Type of Use	r	External								
Permits ar Roles 1 throu	nd Roles Jugh 2 of 2	Pala	Pole Provent Status	Calata Pala	famman					
HTDODOD10	FACHTY	file story	Role Request statu	Delete Kole	Lomment					
110000019	Same demonstration station	and records	Athened		2					
HI0000019	KAHE GENERATING STATION	Permit Administrator	Approved		2					
			Submit	Cancel						

Figure 3-9: View User Account Details Page

This page displays the following information about the user:

- General Account Information
  - ✓ First Name
  - ✓ Last Name
  - ✓ User Name
  - ✓ Email Address
  - ✓ Telephone Number
  - ✓ Organization
  - ✓ User Type (Internal = Regulatory Authority, External = Permittee or Data Provider)
- Permit and Roles Table
  - ✓ Permit ID
  - ✓ Facility Name
  - ✓ Role
  - ✓ Role Request Status
  - ✓ Delete Role (see Section 3.1.2 for instructions on deleting roles)
  - ✓ Comment

Up to ten users requests will be displayed by default in the table. If more than 10 users are returned, you can navigate through the list by:

- Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of results.
- Clicking the green forward arrow to display the next page of Users.
- > Clicking the d green back arrow to view the previous page of Users.
- Clicking the boot double green forward arrow icon to display the last 10 Users.
- Clicking the 4 double green back arrow icon to display the first 10 Users.
- Clicking the View All link to show all Users in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 Users at a time.





You can click any underlined column title to sort the Users in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.

While on this page, either click on Submit to save changes or delete roles, or click on Cancel to return to the *User Search Results* page.

# 3.8. Viewing All Signatories and Users for Permits

You can view of all the permits you administer and all the users that are associated with your permits using the **Permits** and **Users** hyperlinks on the **View** tab.

View Permits Users

## 3.8.1. Viewing All Permit Signatories

Permit Administrators are able to view a list of all signatories for the permits they administer using the *View Permit* page:

NetDM	k			BAI	I Delaware - DE
Manage Access Requ	ests Al DMRs & CORs Permits Users	Import DMRs Perform Import Check Results	View Dov Permits Blar Users	vnload & DMR Form 🛛 📽 s.	arrien Lockout Timari 20:54
<ul> <li>View</li> <li>You are the other column.</li> <li>Permits 1 the</li> </ul>	Permit Administrator for the permits If you click View All or View ough 10 of 18 <b>44 4 1, ; } 10</b>	below. Click any under Partial, the table will be QL View All	rined column title to s e displayed with the d	ort the table rows in ascendin efault sort order applied.	g or descending order by the informa
Permit ID	CARRIEDS	Signatory First Name	Signatory Last Name	Signatory Email	-
DE0000208	CARRIE DE	Maureen	Rim	netdmr001@gmail.com	1
DE0000208	CARRIE DE	Amy	Truong	netdmitest001@vahoo.com	10
DE0000208	CARRIE DE	DEPermit	Administrator	pa001a_hab@yahoo.com	10
DEGOGOZOS	CARRIE DE	Abigall	Brown	dedmr002@yahoo.com	10
DE0000200	CARRIE DE	anthony	unger	netdmrtezt4@yehoo.com	<b>1</b>
DE0000200	CARRIE DE	DEExternal	Uzer	samala_family@hotmail.com	1
DE0000990	SYSTEM INTEGRATION TEST	Amy	Trueng	netdmrtezt001@yahoo.com	
DE0000991	SYSTEM INTEGRATION TEST	Amy	Truong	netdmrtest001@yahoo.com	

Figure 3-10: View Permit Page

To access this page:

- 1. Log into your NetDMR account as a Permit Administrator. The home page will be displayed.
- 2. Click on **Permits** within the gray **View** tab.
- 3. The *View Permits* page will display the following information about this permit in a table.
  - ✓ Permit ID
  - ✓ Facility Name
  - ✓ Signatory First Name
  - ✓ Signatory Last Name
  - ✓ Signatory Email
  - ✓ Link to the *View Permit Details* page

Up to ten permits will be displayed by default in the table. If more than 10 signatories exist, you can navigate through the list by:

- Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of signatories.
- ➢ Clicking the ▶ green forward arrow to display the next page of signatories.





- ➢ Clicking the ◀ green back arrow to view the previous page of signatories.
- > Clicking the **b** double green forward arrow icon to display the last 10 signatories.
- Clicking the signatories.
- Clicking the View All link to show all signatories in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 signatories at a time.

You can click any underlined column title to sort the signatories in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.

You can navigate to the *View Permit Details* page by clicking on 🖬 within the row of the desired signatory.

### 3.8.2. Viewing All Permit Users

Permit Administrators are able to view a list of all users for the permits they administer using the *View Users* page:

NetDMR	it   Request	Access   He	Ĩ	Userpmt4bi	Permittee User				
Tanage ccass Reque	sts All C Pen Use	rch MRs & COR nits rs ssociated wit	s Import DMRs Perform Import Check Results h your permits.	View Permits Users	Download Blank DMR	Form 📽	Ression Locko	ut Timeri 29:58	
Users 1 throu	sph Z of Z	-	a contra c		-	10.00 V	matrix mate	F	
Estar riama	Last Patient	Weer roamse.	THEINEX	Second 16	WHEP INDE	ESER	Delete Note	Limat	
Alisen	KRUe	prot4hi	KAHE GENERATING STATION	H10000019	External	Gignatory		alison_kittle@yahoo.com	
			states and second second second second	LITAAAAAAA	External	Berneth & Sectoristics	1.00	the second s	
Alizon	Kittle	prnt4bi	KAHE GENERATING STATION	10000019	E.S. Ogranian	Permit Administrator		alison_kittle@yahoo.com	

Figure 3-11: View Users Page

Follow these directions to view all of the users that can access the permits you administer.

- 1. Log into NetDMR selecting the desired Regulatory Authority and using a Permit Administrator account. The home page will be displayed.
- 2. Click on **Permits** within the gray **View** tab.
- 3. The *View Users* page will display the following information about the users in a table.
  - ✓ First Name
  - ✓ Last Name
  - ✓ User Name
  - ✓ Facility
  - ✓ Permit ID
  - ✓ User Type (Internal = Regulatory Authority, External = Permittee or Data Provider)
     ✓ Role
  - ✓ Delete Role (see Section 3.1.2 for instructions on deleting roles)
  - ✓ Email
  - ✓ Link to the *View User Account Details* page

Up to ten user roles will be displayed by default in each of these tables. If more than 10 user roles are returned, you can navigate through the list by:





- > Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of results.
- ➢ Clicking the ▶ green forward arrow to display the next page of User Roles.
- Clicking the d green back arrow to view the previous page of User Roles.
- ➢ Clicking the 
  → double green forward arrow icon to display the last 10 User Roles.
- > Clicking the 44 double green back arrow icon to display the first 10 User Roles.
- > Clicking the View All link to show all User Roles in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 User Roles at a time.

You can click any underlined column title to sort the User Roles in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.

Clicking on a within the row of the desired user displays the *View User Details*.

#### **3.8.2.1.** View User Details

You can navigate to the *View User Details* page from the *View Users* page by clicking on  $\triangleq$  within the row of the desired user role.

General A	ccount Information						
East Name		Alexa					
Last Name		vine v					
Last Name							
User Name kittle			niscinite bargos				
E-mail Add	ress	kittle.a	alison@epa.gov				
Telephone	Number	202-5	64-6233				
Organizati	on .	U.S. E	PA				
Type of Us	er	Extern	sat				
torente m	nd Bolas						
Permits a Nick any ur lisplayed w	nd Roles derlined column title to sort t th the default sort order appli ugh 2 of 2	he table rou ed and any	vs in ascending or des selected check boxes	cending orde will be reset	r by the information in that o to unselected.	olumn. If you cli	ick View All or
Permits a Dick any ur isplayed w toles 1 thro Permit 10	nd Roles derlined column title to sort to th the default sort order appli- ugh 2 of 2 Facility	he table ros ed and any itule	us in ascending or des selected check boxes	cending orde will be reset Delete Hale	r by the information in that o to unselected.	alumn. If you cli	ick View All or
Permits a lick any ur lisplayed w toles 1 thro Permit ID THODO2968	nd Roles derlined column title to sort it th the default sort order appli- ugh 2 of 2 <u>Eachty</u> USDCE-DAK RIDGE Y12 PLT	he table rou ed and any Role View	vs in ascending or des selected check boxes <u>Bule Request Status</u> Approved	Cending order will be reset	r by the information in that of to unselected.	alumn. If you ci	ick View All or

Figure 3-12: View Users Page

The *View Users* page will display the following information about the user:

- General Account Information
  - ✓ First Name
  - ✓ Last Name
  - ✓ User Name
  - ✓ Email Address
  - ✓ Organization
  - ✓ Type of User (Internal = Regulatory Authority, External = Permittee or Data Provider)
  - ✓ Link to the *View User Account Details* page.
- Permits and Roles Table
  - ✓ Permit ID
  - ✓ Facility





- ✓ Role
- ✓ Role Request Status
- ✓ Delete Role (see Section 3.1.2 for instructions on deleting roles)
- ✓ Comment

Up to ten permit roles will be displayed by default in the Permits and Roles tables. If more than 10 permit roles are returned, you can navigate through the list by:

- Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of results.
- ➢ Clicking the ▶ green forward arrow to display the next page of Permit Roles.
- > Clicking the d green back arrow to view the previous page of Permit Roles.
- > Clicking the *b* double green forward arrow icon to display the last 10 Permit Roles.
- Clicking the *double* green back arrow icon to display the first 10 Permit Roles.
- Clicking the View All link to show all Permit Roles in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 Permit Roles at a time.

You can click any underlined column title to sort the Permit Roles in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.





# **Chapter 4. Signatory Procedures**

A Signatory is the only NetDMR User able to sign and submit DMRs for a facility's approved permit(s).

Signatories can also perform the following tasks:

- ➢ view, edit and delete DMRs
- ➢ import DMRs
- view CORs, permits and users
- download blank DMR forms
- approve and delete DMR View and Edit role requests from other Permittee Users only if they have been granted a Permit Administrator role
- approve and delete DMR View and Edit role requests from Data Providers only if they have been granted a Permit Administrator role
- approve and delete Partial DMR View role requests from Regulatory Authority only if they have been granted a Permit Administrator role Administrators and Users
- > search and view permits only if they have been granted a Permit Administrator role
- search and view users only if they have been granted a Permit Administrator role

To become a Signatory, a Permit Administrator or Permittee User with an Edit or View Role must request the Signatory Role, print off the Subscriber Agreement form generated by NetDMR

at the time they request the Role, sign the Subscriber Agreement in ink, and mail it to the Regulatory Authority mailing address provided at the bottom of the Agreement.

Note that the first Signatory approved for a permit is automatically assigned a Permit Administrator role – all future Signatory requests will not be assigned a Permit Administrator role unless the Regulatory Authority sets up their Instance to do this. If a permit tip)

The first Signatory role that is approved for a new instance will automatically be assigned both the Signatory and Permit Administrator roles.

has not been assigned a Permit Administrator when a Signatory request is approved, the Signatory requestor will also be granted the Permit Administrator role – all future Signatory requests will not be assigned a Permit Administrator role automatically. See Chapter 3 for details on Permit Administrator procedures.

When the Regulatory Authority receives your signed Subscriber Agreement in the mail, the Regulatory Administrator will log into NetDMR and either approve or deny your request. Once your request has been approved you may begin to sign and submit DMRs for the permit(s) you have been approved for.

Potential Signatories will not be able to sign and submit DMRs until their request has been approved by a Regulatory Administrator.

If you are a Signatory and need to change your

name you will need to make the name changes to your NetDMR account and print off a new Subscriber Agreement with your new name displayed, sign it and mail it into your Agency.





Figure 4-1 shows the *Signatory Home* page that is displayed when a Signatory logs into NetDMR.

NetDMR	est Access   Help		Michigan - MI			
Manage Access Requests	Search All DMRs & CORs Permits Jsers	Import DMRs Perform Import Check Results	View Permits Users	Download Blank DMR Form	📽 Sassian La	
Search: All DMRs	& CORs Permit	ID Users			Last 10 Legins 12/0/00 1:50	PM -
All DMRs & C	opies of Reco fields to search for I er on that field.	rd (CORs)	ring a field bla	nk will instruct	10/9/08 8:58 10/9/08 8:58 10/9/08 8:37 10/9/09 9:20	AM - AM - AM -
@ Permit ID:	AII .	Update			10/9/08 8:04 10/8/08 4:54	ала - РМ -
Note: The Update and Discharge sel	e buttons above for lection boxes below.	Permit ID and Facility	will update th	e Permitted Feature		
Permitted Featu	ire: [AII]	Update				
Discharge: Monitoring Perio	od End		_	(mm/dd/www)		
Edited or Submi By:	tted All 3	3				
Status:	Rei Net Im Sug Sug	idy for Data Entry DMR Validation Error: DMR Validated corted and & Submitted imission Errors/Warni mpleted	All (Hold comm celec	down CTRL or Mac nand Key to /deselect.multiple)		
COR Confirmation	on #:	irch				
Pending Access	Requests					
Click any underlined colur table will be displayed wit	mn title to sort the t h the default sort or	able rows in ascendin der applied and any s	g or descendin elected check	ig order by the informatio boxes will be reset to un	on in that column. If selected.	you click View All or View Part
Pending Access Req	uests - External					
No results.						
Pending Access Req	uests - Internal					
No results.						

Figure 4-1: Signatory Home Page

## 4.1. Search and View DMRs Not Ready to Submit

See Section 5.1 for the steps to use for searching and viewing DMRs that are not ready to be submitted.

## 4.2. Edit, Import, Correct and Delete DMRs

See Section 5.2.1 for details on how to edit a DMR, Section 5.2.2 for instructions on how to import DMRs, Section 5.2.3 for steps to follow when correcting a DMR, and Section 5.2.4 for guidance on how to delete DMRs.

## 4.3. Search and View CORs

You can search for CORs using the All DMRs and CORs section of your Home page. If you are a Signatory for one or more permits, you can also search for CORs using or the Last 10 Logins table of your *Signatory Home* page.

#### 4.3.1.1. Search Using Last 10 Logins Table

The dates and times for the last ten logins are displayed on the Home page or on the Search page. If you signed and submitted

Last 10 Log	gins	
12/11/08	12:06 PM	-
10/10/08	2:50 PM	-
8/28/08	12:51 PM	-
8/18/08	9:05 AM	<u>16 DMRs</u> submitted.





DMRs during the last ten sessions, a link to the resultant COR(s) is also provided next to the date the COR was submitted. Click on the hyperlink next to the desired date to view the COR(s) submitted during a particular session.

See Section 5.3.1 for details on how to search for CORs from your Home page and guidance on working with CORs.

# 4.4. Download Blank DMRs

See Section 5.4 for procedures on how to download blank DMRs.

## 4.5. Sign and Submit DMRs

A Signatory can search for a DMR to sign and submit by selecting to either search all DMRs or selecting only those DMRs that are ready to submit, then choosing up to 100 DMRs at a time to digitally sign and submit the data to ICIS.

The procedures to use for searching DMRs ready to be submitted and signing/submitting them are described in the next subsections.

### 4.5.1. Sign & Submit DMRs

You must have approved signatory access to a particular permit in order to sign and submit the DMRs for that permit. Signatories may only sign and submit DMRs that have a status of 'NetDMR validated' and for which all soft errors have been acknowledged.

NetDMR provides the options to search for and retrieve DMRs that are ready to sign and submit from the *Signatory Home* page by using the **All DMRs & Copies of Record** tab or the **DMRs Ready to Submit** tab.

#### 4.5.1.1. Search for DMRs Using the DMRs Ready to Submit Tab

You can quickly retrieve DMRs ready to be submitted by clicking on **DMRs Ready to Submit** from the **Search** menu on your home page. The **DMRs Ready to Submit** page will be displayed (Figure 4-2).





NetDMR								
Manage Access Requests	Search All DMRs & COI Permits Users	Rs Perform Import Check Results	View Permits Users	Download Blank DMR Form	×	Session Lock	kout Timer:	
Search:	All DMRs & CORs	DMRs Ready to Subm	nit Permit II	) Users		Last 10 Lo 10/9/08	ogins 11:37 AM	
						10/8/08	1:05 PM	
DMRs Rea	ady to Submit					10/6/08	3:33 PM	
						10/6/08	2:35 PM	-
Select an opti	ion below to view a lis	t of DMRs ready to sign and	d submit (i.e.,	in "NetDMR Validated"	status).	10/1/08	1:25 PM	-
All DMRs		Search				9/24/08	12:41 PM	-
DMRs for P	Permit ID	GMG290080 💌 Search				9/24/08	11:59 AM	-
DMPc for E	acilitu			Search		9/24/08	10:46 AM	-
Diviks for f	ucincy [	LEA CORPORATION		Scaron		9/24/08	10:10 AM	-
						9/22/08	12:16 PM	-
<ul> <li>Pending Ac</li> <li>Pending Access</li> <li>No results.</li> </ul>	ccess Requests Requests - Exte	rnal						
Pending Access	Requests - Inte	rnal						
No results.	•	3	ubmit Can	cel				

Figure 4-2: DMRs Ready to Submit Page

Search for DMRs ready to sign and submit using the search options described below.

- All DMRs Search all DMRs ready to sign and submit by clicking on Search next to the All DMRs label. Available DMRs are customized based on user roles and permissions.
- DMRs for Permit ID Search for DMRs ready to sign and submit by permit ID. Select the permit ID for which you wish to view validated DMRs from the drop-down box and click on the desired permit ID. Once you have selected a specific permit ID, click on Search next to the drop down box. Available permit IDs are customized based on user roles and permissions.
- DMRs for Facility- Search for DMRs ready to sign and submit by facility name. Select the facility for which you wish to view validated DMRs from the drop-down box and click on the desired facility. Once you have selected a specific facility, click on Search next to the drop down box. Available facilities are customized based on user roles and permissions.

#### 4.5.1.2. Selecting DMRs to Sign and Submit Using the DMR Search Results Page

After entering search criteria and clicking on Search, NetDMR will search for the DMRs that match your criteria. If no DMRs are found the following page is displayed:

NetDMR	equest Access   Help	Logout			CA-HI-NE-SD-UT
Manage Access Requests	Search All DMRs & CORs Permits Users	Import DMRs Perform Import Check Results	View Permits Users	Download Blank DMR Form	📽 Session Lockout Timeri 29158
DMR/COR No results.	✓ Sign & Subm Search Results	t Checked DMRs	• P Download	Checked CORs   🔍 Ref	ine Search   🤏 New Search

Otherwise, NetDMR displays the *DMR/COR Search Results* page with all DMRs matching your criteria:





🍕 New Search | 🔍 Refine Search | 🧟 Refresh DMR Data | 🧨 Sign & Submit Checked DMRs | 🖗 Download Checked CORs | 🧳 Update NODI

Next Step(s)	Permit 10	Easility	Permitted Enalure	<u>Discharze</u> E	Discharge Description	Honitoring Period End Date	DMR Due Date	Status	COR Received Date	Include in Batch Submit Check All Clear All	Include in Datch COR Download Check All Clear All	Update NODI Check All Clear All
Edit DMR 💌 Go	NM0020311	ROSWELL CETY OF	001	001+A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	03/31/11	04/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				Г
Edit DMR 💌	NM0020311	ROSWELL. CITY OF	002	002-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	03/31/11	04/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				
Edit DNR •	NM0020311	ROSWELL CITY OF	101	101-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER FROM OUTFALLS 001 & 002	03/31/11	04/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				Г
Edit DMR 💌 Go	NM0020311	ROSWELL.	001	001-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	02/28/11	03/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				Б
Edit DMR 💌	NM0020311	ROSWELL CETY OF	002	002-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	02/28/11	03/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				

Figure 4-3: DMR/COR Search Results Page

Up to 200 DMRs/CORs will be retrieved, with 100 DMRs/CORs displayed per page. If more than 100 DMRs/CORs exist, you can navigate through the list by:

- Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of DMRs/CORs.
- ▶ Clicking the ▶ green forward arrow to display the next page of DMRs/CORs.
- > Clicking the d green back arrow to view the previous page of DMRs/CORs.
- Clicking the house green forward arrow icon to display DMRs/CORs 101 through 200 of 200.
- Clicking the 4 double green back arrow icon to display DMRs/CORs 1 through 100 of 200..
- > Clicking the View All link to show all DMRs/CORs in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 100 DMRs/CORs at a time.

You can click any underlined column title to sort DMRs/CORs in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.

If only one DMR in the search results needs to be signed and submitted, select the "Sign and Submit" option from the Next Step(s) drop down box in that DMR's row, then click



on Go. Be sure the DMR's status is set to "NetDMR Validated", then click on Sign & Submit.

- If all DMRs in the search results need to be signed and submitted, check the boxes for all available DMRs by clicking on Check All within the Include in Batch Submit title.
- If some DMRs in the search results need to be signed and submitted, click on to check the box in each DMR's column, then click on sign & Submit Checked DMRs. If no DMRs were checked an error message will appear reminding you to select one or more DMRs:





#### 4.5.1.3. Sign and Submit a DMR

After searching and selecting up to 100 DMRs to sign and submit, the *Sign & Submit* page is displayed:

Clear All         MIDD20311         CONVELL, CITY         101-A         PERATOR DURICICAL VANTEWARE RECH         1/2/3/10         0/1/3/11         Velocity           Clear All         Image: State and the state and th	Check All	Add COR and Attachments to time! Rotification Check All	View Completed DHR	Parmit 10 🗢	Eaclity	Permitted Testure	Discharge	Oncherae Description	Hostlaring Pariod End Date	DHR Date Date	State
Low Low Development of law that this submission was prepared under my direction or supervision in accordance with a system despred to assure that qualified personnel     convertigence and evaluate the information submitsed. Assed on my inpury of the series are assess with manage the system, or brase device that qualified personnel     retrinning on, but mitimation submitsed is, bit the set of my inpury of the series are assessed to make the information by the system of the series and evaluate the information by the series of the set of my inpury of the series of the second and the set of the s	_	Clear All	-	NM0020311	ROSWELL, CITY	101	101-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER FROM	12/31/10	01/15/11	NetDMR
	certify under roberly gather he information ubmitting fails he Submit but y entering my	penalty of law r and evaluate n, the information, tton, I agree ti v password an	that this su the informa- tion submittle including the at: d security ou	omipsion was tion submitted ed is, to the be e possibility of section answer	prepared under r , Based on my in set of my knowle fine and impriso r and pressing th	ny direction or s quiry of the per top and bellef, b nment for know e Submit buttor	supervision in son or person rue, accurate, ring violations n. 1 agree that	contacts on a cost accordance with a system designed to assu- si who manage the system, or those directly and complete. I am aware that there are as the entering my password and security cue to	re bhat qualified perso responsible for pach prificant penables for stico answer and pre	innel ering ssing	Validate
	Certify under receiving dather her information ubmitting fails but but but but but but by entening my 1. 1 am Ca 2. 1 have 3. 1 have 4. 1 have 5. This act 6. 1 unders of my kn	penalty of law r and evaluate information, ton, I a pree ti v password an thy Bus. tot violated any he authority te ben constitutes stand that this nowledge.	that this su that this su the informa- tion submitti including th additional discounty ou t any neason a sing the an electron attestation	brillission was ben submitted of lis, to the be e opsosibility of escapsibility of escapsibility of the believe bru is data on har is signature e of fact pertain.	prepared under n . Based on my in sto of my knowle fine and impriso r and pressing th nature Agreeme the confidenti saif of the issed the issed to my a s to the impleme	ny direction or s quiry of the per ge and belief, t noment for know e Sudmit buttor t St. Iby of my passe exites anitten signatun ritten signatun	supervision in son or person rue, accurate, img violations ing violations ing violations ing violations that and enfort	Contracts we have accordance with a signature destand of a sector is show manage the system, or these destand and complete. Law awave that there we have the antering my password and security ove st. Br entering my password and security ove to compromised now or at any time arror to the accompromised now or at any time arrow or accompromised now or at any time arrow or accompromised now or accompromise	re that qualified person responsible for path prificant penalties for action answer and pre ston answer and pre his submission, and must be true to t	onnel ering ssing he best	Validate

Figure 4-4: Sign & Submit DMR Page

All selected DMRs are listed in a table at the section and a certification statement displayed in the lower part of the page. The table provides information on each DMR listed::

- > Include in Submission You must click on  $\Box$  to check the box in this column to confirm your intention to sign and submit this DMR.
- Add COR and Attachments to Email Notification You may click on
  to check the box in this column to confirm your intention to have COR and attachment to Email Notification.
- ➤ View Completed DMR You may click on <sup>B</sup> in this column to view a copy of the DMR in a separate window.
- **Permit ID** The permit ID for this DMR. This field is not editable.
- **Facility** The facility name for this DMR. This field is not editable.
- Permitted Feature The permitted feature for this DMR. This field is not editable.
- Discharge # The discharge number for this DMR. This field is not editable.
- Discharge Description The discharge description for this DMR. This field is not editable.
- Monitoring Period End Date The monitoring period end date for this DMR. This field is not editable.
- **DMR Due Date** The due date for this DMR. This field is not editable.





Status – The status of this DMR. The status must be "NetDMR Validated" to be signed and submitted. This field is not editable.

The Certification Statement provides the legal certification statement for the impending submission. This statement verifies:

- > You are the owner of this account.
- You have protected the account and password and are in compliance with the subscriber agreement.
- > You have the authority to submit the selected DMRs.
- You agree that providing the account password to sign the DMR(s) constitutes an electronic signature equivalent to your written signature.

To sign and submit one or more DMRs:

- 1. Click on  $\square$  to check the box in the **Include in Submission** column next to the DMR(s) to be signed and submitted.
- 2. Click on in the View Completed DMR column to view the DMR in a separate window and verify your corrections. Close the view of the DMR by selecting File/Close from the Windows menu, or by clicking on in the upper right corner of the window.
- 3. Click on .
- 4. Provide the correct answer to the **Security Question** that is displayed.
- 5. Enter your **Password** in the text box.
- 6. Click on Submit to submit the DMR(s) to ICIS and view the submission confirmation, or click on Do Not Submit to cancel the submission and return to the previous page.
- 7. If no DMRs had their Include in Submission box checked, a popup error window will appear:



- Click on OK to return to the page and repeat steps 1 4.
- 8. If a secret answer or password was entered incorrectly or not provided, an error message will appear:

🐧 Th	ere w	vere	errors pr	ocessin	your request.	
			-			

Repeat steps 2-4 using the correct information.



#### 4.5.1.4. Submission Confirmation

After a DMR is signed and submitted to ICIS, NetDMR displays the *Submission Confirmation* page:



Figure 4-5: Submission Confirmation Page

Information provided under the Submission Confirmation Number includes:

- > **Permit ID** The permit ID for this DMR.
- Facility This name of the facility associated with the permit.
- Permitted Feature The permitted feature for this DMR.
- **Discharge** # The discharge number for this DMR.
- Discharge Description The discharge description for this DMR.
- Monitoring Period End Date The monitoring period end date for this DMR.
- **DMR Due Date** The due date for this DMR.
- View COR Click on in this column to view the COR associated with this DMR's submission.
- > **Download COR** Click on  $\overline{P}$  to download the DMR's COR Zip file.
- Download COR Signature Click on V to download the COR signature file for this DMR submission.

There are four hyperlinks that appear above the Confirmation Number:

- Click on view All CORs to view all of your CORs.
- > Click on **Download All CORs** to download zipped files for all of your CORs.
- Click on & Download COR Signature Public Key to view the COR signature file used for your DMR submissions.
- > Click on OMR/COR Search Results to return to the DMR Search Results page.







In addition, NetDMR creates a copy of record (COR). This copy of record includes your DMR data, any attached files, and a submission receipt. NetDMR also generates a unique confirmation number for your submission and sends a notification e-mail to you, any addresses associated with the submitted DMRs' permit(s), and any addresses associated with the governing



If you are not receiving DMR submission notifications and the email address for your account is accurate, check to see if your spam filter is rejecting them.

Only DMRs that have

submission errors or warnings

Submission Errors/Warnings"

have a "Review Last

option for Next Step(s).

regulatory authority. NetDMR sends the following additional email notifications to you as the Signatory:

- > An initial e-mail notification that the DMR has been submitted to ICIS via CDX
- A second e-mail notification after ICIS has processed the DMR information notifying you that ICIS is finished and whether errors or warnings were encountered.

### 4.5.1.5. View Submission Errors/Warnings

If you received an e-mail notifying you that ICIS has processed the DMR information and errors or warnings were encountered, you may view these errors by:

- 1. Searching for the DMR that was submitted.
- 2. Clicking on the **Next Step(s)** drop down box for the DMR and clicking on the "Review Last Submission Errors/Warnings" option.
- 3. Clicking on Go.

The *DMR/COR Search Results* page will be displayed with a list of the errors and/or warnings:

NetDMR	nt   Reques	t Access   Help	Logout			Userinetdn	R6 P	artial	Permittee	GM	
lanage ccess Reque	sts Al Pe Us	arch DMRs & CORs rmits ers	Import DMRs Perform Impor Check Results	t Permits Users	Download Blank DMR Fo	orm	<b>W</b> Sessio			19156	
DMR S	Submis	sion Errors	and/or War	nings		- 53					
Use this pag resolving err Permit 1D	e to review rors, please Facilit	errors and/or war consult the Help s y Permitter Feature	nings that occurre system or a system d Discharge	d when this DMR n administrator. Discharge Description	was submitted to Monitoring I	o the Enviro Period End	DMR Due	ection A	gency, For Status	assista COR	nce Received Date
Use this pag resolving err Permit 1D GNG290090	e to review rors, please Facilit PANACO,	errors and/or war consult the Help s y Permittee Feature 993	nings that occurre system or a system Discharge	d when this DMR n administrator. Discharge Description	was submitted to Honitoring S Dat 90/30/09	o the Enviro Period End	DHR Due Date 07/25/99	ection A	gency, For Status	COR	Receiv Date
Use this pag- resolving err Permit 1D GHG290990 One item fou	e to review rors, please Facility PANACO, INC.	errors and/or war consult the Help s y Permitter Feature . 003	nings that occurre system or a system d Discharge 093-A	d when this DMR n administrator. Discharge Description	was submitted to Meniforing I Dat 06/30/09	Period End	DHR Due Date 07/25/09	ection A Subm Error	gency, For Status deston	essistei COR 91/23 CDT	Receive Date 5/08 12:
Use this pagresolving err Permit 1D GHG200000 One item fou	e to review rors, please Facilit PANACO, INC, INC, INC, Error Toper Code	errors and/or war consult the Help s y Permitter Feature . 003	nings that occurre ystem or a system d Discharge ##3-A	In administrator.	Was submitted to Henitoring I Dat 06/30/09	Period End lo <u>Paramet</u> Code	DHR Due Date 07/28/09 EXC Bacam Name	ection A 1 Subm Error	gency, For Status Ission Munifucti Location	essister COR 98/23 CDT	Seaso Seaso Sham

Figure 4-6: DMR Submission Error and/or Warnings Page

The middle section of this page displays the:

- > **Permit ID** The permit ID for this DMR.
- **Facility** This name of the facility associated with the permit.
- > **Permitted Feature** The permitted feature for this DMR.
- **Discharge** # The discharge number for this DMR.
- > **Discharge Description** The discharge description for this DMR.





- > Monitoring Period End Date The monitoring period end date for this DMR.
- **DMR Due Date** The due date for this DMR.
- Status The status of this submission, shown as "Submission Errors/Warnings".
- COR Received Date clicking on a date in this column opens the DMR Copy of Record page.

The bottom section of this page displays the:

- Error Code the specific ICIS error code. See Appendix D for a list of ICIS processing error codes.
- **Error Type Code** whether the row is an Error or a Warning message.
- **Description** a detailed description of what caused the error or warning.
- Parameter Code if the error involved a particular parameter, the parameter's code is listed here.
- Parameter Name if the error involved a particular parameter, the parameter's name is listed here.
- > Monitoring Location the location where monitoring occurred.
- Season Number the season number.

# 4.6. COR Functionality

When a DMR is signed and submitted to ICIS, NetDMR creates a unique COR for that DMR.

Signatories are able to search, view and download CORs, view a COR's certification statement and digital signature public key, and download a COR's digital signature public key. See Section 5.3 for instructions on how to work with CORs.

# 4.6.1. Repudiating the COR

If you discover that you have reason to believe

your account has been compromised and erroneous and unauthorized DMRs have been submitted to ICIS using your account, you must notify a Regulatory Administrator of the DMRs in question. Be sure to ask them to lock your account and repudiate the CORs for the unauthorized DMRs that were submitted. The Regulatory Administrator will investigate the problem, repudiate your CORs, unlock your account and change your password. DMR data will automatically be deleted from ICIS. When you are able to log in again you will need to reenter and re-submit valid DMRs for repudiated CORs as necessary.

# 4.7. Managing Access Requests

If you are a Signatory and you also have a Permit Administrator role you can approve or deny requests from state and Region regulatory authority, or Permittee and Data Provider Users for access to permit(s) within your instance. See Chapter 3.1 for details on managing access requests.

If a Signatory submitted an erroneous DMR and wants to revise it, they should use the Correct DMR functionality instead of the Repudiate functionality - Repudiating the COR removes it from ICIS.





## 4.8. Search Permits

If you are a Signatory and you also have a Permit Administrator role you can retrieve and view information about a specific permit such as User Roles and Subscriber Agreements. See Section 3.6 for instructions on how to search and view permits.

# 4.9. Search Users

If you are a Signatory and you also have a Permit Administrator role you can search for users. See Section 3.7 for steps on how to search for users and view information about them.

# 4.10. Viewing All Signatories and Users for Permits

If you are a Signatory and you also have a Permit Administrator role you can view of all the permits you administer and all the users that are associated with your permits. See Section 3.8 for details on how to perform these tasks.







# **Chapter 5. View and Edit Roles**

Permittee and Data Providers with the Edit role are allowed to modify, correct or delete a DMR but may not sign and submit a DMR. Instead, they must notify a Signatory when a DMR is ready to submit, and coordinate with a Signatory or Permit Administrator when a DMR is ready to be submitted.

Permittee Users can ask to be upgraded from a View role to an Edit, Permit Administrator, or Signatory role. Data Provider Users may only be assigned to either an Edit or View role.

When a Permittee or Data Provider logs into NetDMR with View access to permits, they will see the home page shown in Figure 5-1.

VetDMR	Help   Coqout	Urer:tertHe2e. Permittee Urer BAH DE End to End Test
earch I DMRs & CORs Check Res	Rs Download port Blank DMR Form Ats	👻 Session Lockout Timeri 29:54
Search: All DMRs & CORs		Last 10 Logins 1/9/09 3:10 PM +
		1/9/09 Br36 AM -
All DMRs & Copies of	Record (CORs)	1/9/09 8:11 AM -
Permitted Feature:	AT a Updae	
Discharge: Monitoring Period End Date Range:	(mm/dd/wwr)	
Edited or Submitted By:	AT	
Status:	Ready for Data Entry NetOHK Validation Entry NetOHK Validated Imported Signed & Submitted Demonston Errors/Warnings Completed	
COR Confirmation #:		

Figure 5-1: Permittee/Data Provider View Home Page

Although the Import DMRs tab is available on this page, this feature is not available to them.

When a Permittee or Data Provider logs into NetDMR with Edit access to one or more permits, they will see the home page shown in Figure 5-2.





	s   Help   Logout	<ul> <li>Useripmt4mi, Permittee User</li> </ul>
DMR		Michigan - MI
ch Import DM MRs & CORs Perform Im Check Rose	IRs Download port Blank DMR Form	📽 Session Lockout Timer: 29:42
earch: All DMRs & CORs	DMRs Ready to Submit	Last 18 Logins 10/9/08 8:04 AM +
	201 2012275	10/0/00 4:54 PM -
All DMRs & Copies o	f Record (CORs)	
Use the following fields to se NetDMR not to filter on that f	arch for DMRs and CORs. Leaving a field blank will instruct field.	
@ Permit ID:	All - Update	
C Facility:	Auge Hinder	
Note: The <b>Update</b> buttons a and Discharge selection boxe	bove for Permit ID and Facility will update the Permitted Feature es below.	
Note: The Update buttons a and Discharge selection box Permitted Feature:	bove for Permit ID and Facility will update the Permitted Feature es below.	
Note: The Update buttons a and Discharge selection box Permitted Feature: Discharge:	bove for Permit ID and Facility will update the Permitted Feature es below.	
Note: The Update buttons a and Discharge selection boxe Permitted Feature: Discharge: Monitoring Period End Date Range:	bove for Permit ID and Facility will update the Permitted Feature es below.	
Note: The Update buttons a and Discharge selection boxe Permitted Feature: Discharge: Monitoring Period End Date Range: Edited or Submitted By:	bave for Permit ID and Facility will update the Permitted Feature es below.	
Note: The Update buttons a and Discharge selection box Permitted Feature: Discharge: Monitoring Period End Date Range: Edited or Submitted By: Status:	bave for Permit ID and Facility will update the Permitted Feature s below. All Update All Update All Update All Update All Update All Update All Update (mm/dd/vyyy) All Update (mm/dd/vyyy) All Update (mm/dd/vyyy) All Update (mm/dd/vyyy) All Update (mm/dd/vyyy) All Update (mm/dd/vyyy) All Update (mm/dd/vyyy) All Update (mm/dd/vyyy) All Update (mm/dd/vyyy) (Md)	
Note: The Update buttons a and Discharge selection box Discharge: Discharge: Monitoring Period End Date Range: Edited or Submitted By: Status: COR Confirmation #:	base for Permit ID and Facility will update the Permitted Feature s below. All © All © Ready for Data Entry NetUNE Validation Errors MetDit Va	

Figure 5-2: Permittee/Data Provider Edit Home Page

These users can search for DMRs by selecting to either search all DMRs and CORs or selecting DMRs that are ready to submit, then choose a DMR to edit from this list.

The rest of this section describes the tasks that Permittees and Data Providers are able to perform.

## 5.1. Searching for DMRs

Permittees and Data Providers with View access can search for DMRs and CORs using the All DMRs & Copies of Record (CORs) section on their home page.

Permittees and Data Providers with Edit access search for DMRs by selecting to either search all DMRs and CORs or selecting DMRs that are ready to submit. Permittee Users with Edit access can then choose a DMR to edit from this list.

NetDMR stores up to 12 months of DMRs. To view DMRs due outside of the current month, be sure to search for DMRs using a Monitoring Period End Date range.

NetDMR will not display all DMRs that exist for a permit. Instead, NetDMR will display only DMRs that have a Monitoring Period Start Date on or before the day of your search and a Monitoring Period End Date on or after the day of your search minus 14 months. For example, if you perform your search on April 15, 2012, NetDMR will display DMRs where monitoring started before April 16, 2012, and ended after February 14, 2011. To view DMRs due outside of the current month enter a Monitoring Period End Date range as part of your search.




# 5.1.1. Search All DMRs & Copies of Record

To search for DMRs using the **All DMRs & Copies of Record (CORs)** section of your home page:

- 1. Log into your NetDMR account as a Permittee User or Data Provider. The home page will be displayed.
  - OR

While logged into NetDMR, click on All DMRs & CORs in the gray Search tab.

- 2. You can search using any combination of the following criteria. Leaving a field blank or selecting "All" from a pick list will instruct NetDMR not to search on that criteria.
  - Permit ID Select the permit ID of interest by clicking on C next to Permit ID to check it, then clicking on the Permit ID drop down list and clicking on "All" for all permits you have access to or clicking on one of the Permit IDs displayed. After selecting a Permit ID, click on Update. NetDMR will retrieve the facility name, permitted feature, and discharge options for that permit. Note that the Permit ID list will only include those permits that you have requested and been granted access to.
  - ✓ Facility Select the facility whose DMRs you wish to view by clicking on <sup>C</sup> next to Facility to check it, then clicking on the Facility drop down list and clicking on "All" for all facilities you have access to or clicking on one of the Facility Names displayed. After selecting a Facility, click on <sup>Update</sup>. NetDMR will retrieve the permit ID, permitted feature, and discharge options for that Facility. Note that the Facility list will only include those facilities associated with the permits that you have requested and been granted access to.
  - Permitted Feature Select the permitted feature whose DMRs you wish to view by clicking on the **Permitted Feature** drop down list and clicking on "All" for all permitted features for the permit or clicking on one of the Permitted Features

displayed. After selecting a Permitted Feature, click on Update. NetDMR will retrieve the facility and discharge options associated with that permitted feature. Note that the Permitted Feature list will only include those features associated with the permits that you have requested and been granted access to.

- ✓ <u>Discharge ID</u> Select the Discharge ID whose DMRs you wish to view by clicking on the **Discharge ID** drop down list and clicking on "All" for all discharge IDs for the permit or clicking on one of the Discharge IDs displayed. Note that the Discharge list will only include those features associated with the permits that you have requested and been granted access to.
- ✓ Monitoring Period End Date Range Enter the start and end dates for the monitoring period end date range using the mm/dd/yyyy format or select the appropriate start and end dates from a calendar by clicking the □□ calendar icon next to each text box.
- Edited or Submitted by Select the account who edited or submitted the DMRs and CORs you wish to view by clicking on the Edited or Submitted by drop down list and clicking on "All" for all accounts for the permit or clicking on one of the Accounts displayed. After selecting an account, click on Update.
- ✓ <u>Status</u> Select a DMR status. You can make multiple selections by holding down the CTRL key on your keyboard while clicking more that one selection from the





list. You can select all status options by clicking on All .. Available status options include:

- Ready for Data Entry (DMRs only)
- Partially Complete (DMRs only)
- NetDMR Validation Errors (DMRs only)
- NetDMR Validated (DMRs only)
- Signed & Submitted (CORs only)
- Submission Errors/Warnings (CORs only)
- Completed (CORs only)
- ✓ <u>COR Confirmation #</u> Enter the submission confirmation number for the DMR/COR you wish to view.
- 3. After entering your search criteria, click on Search to display the search results. The system shall display the first 200 search results for DMR at a maximum of 100 records per page.

### 5.1.2. Search DMRs Ready to Submit

If you have Edit access, you can quickly retrieve DMRs ready to be submitted using the *DMRs Ready to Submit* page.

Inne   My Account   Request Access   Help   Legent NetDMR	à Userprotens, Permitee User Michigan - MI
Search All DMRs & CORs All DMRs & CORs Check Results Download Blank DMR Form	📽 Sersien Lockout Timeri 25:50
Search: All DMRs & CORs DMRs Ready to Submit DMRs Ready to Submit Ealert an option below to view a list of DMRs ready to sign and submit (i.e., in "Ne	Lant 18 Logine 10/9/08 8:04 AM - 10/8/08 4:54 PM - CMR Validated" status).
All DMRs DMRs for Permit ID DMRs for Facility Search	

Figure 5-3: DMRs Ready to Submit Page

To search using the *DMRs Ready to Submit* page:

 Log into your NetDMR account as a Permittee User or Data Provider with Edit access. The home page will be displayed. OR

While logged into NetDMR, click on All DMRs & CORs in the gray Search tab.

- 2. Click on the gray DMRs Ready to Submit Search tab.
- 3. You can search using any combination of the following criteria.
  - All DMRs Search all DMRs ready to sign and submit by clicking on Search next to the All DMRs label. Available DMRs are customized based on user roles and permissions.
  - DMRs for Permit ID Search for DMRs ready to sign and submit by permit ID. Select the permit ID for which you wish to view validated DMRs by clicking on the DMRs for Permit ID drop down list and clicking on the Permit ID. Once you have selected a specific permit ID, click on Search next to the drop down box. Available permit ID are customized based on user roles and permissions.





 DMRs for Facility- Search for DMRs ready to sign and submit by facility name. Select the facility for which you wish to view validated DMRs by clicking on the DMRs for Facility drop down list and clicking on the facility. Once you have selected a specific facility, click on <u>Search</u> next to the drop down box. Available facilities are customized based on user roles and permissions.

## 5.2. Viewing DMRs

Permittees and Data Providers with View roles may view basic DMR information in a list. Only users with an Edit, Signatory, Permit Administrator role or access to a partial DMR may view all fields on a DMR.

After entering search criteria and clicking the *Search* button, the DMRs and CORs that match your criteria are displayed on the *DMR/COR Search Results* page. If one or more of your DMRs do not appear, see Appendix I for possible reasons why and solutions for displaying them.

If you have View access, you will see the page in Figure 5-4 with nothing in the "Next Step(s)" column.

Next Step(s)	ParmiLID	Eacility	Permitted Feature	Discharme #	Description	Hanilorina Period End Date	DHR.Due Date	Eletes	COR Received Date	Include in Batch Submit Check All Clear All	Clear All	Check All
	NM0020150	CITY OF BELEN WWTP	001	001-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	12/31/10	01/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				.0.
	NM0020150	CITY OF BELEN WWTP	001	001-4	TREATED NUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	01/31/11	02/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				•
	NH0020150	CITY OF BELEN WWTP	001	001-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	02/28/11	03/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				0
	NM0020150	CITY OF BELEN WWTP	тх1	TX1-Q	QUARTERLY 48HR. ACUTE TOXICETY	02/28/11	03/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				
	NM0020150	CITY OF BELEN WWTP	001	001-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	03/31/11	04/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				Б

Figure 5-4: DMR/COR Search Results Page for View Access

If you have Edit access, you will see the page in Figure 5-5 with a drop down of activities you can perform in the "Next Steps" column.

DMRs 1 through 10 of	Rs 1 through 10 of 10												
Next Step(s)	Permit 10	Easility	Permitted Feature	Discharge	Discharge Restriction	Monitoring Period End Date	DMR Don Date	Status	COR Received Date	Include in Batch Submit Check All	Include in Batch COR Download Check All	Update NODI Check All	
										Clear All	Clear All	Clear All	
Correct DMR 💌 Go	NM0020311	ROSWELL. CITY OF	001	001-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	01/31/11	02/15/11	Completed	02/14/11		п	Г	
Correct DMR 💌	NM0020311	ROSWELL. CITY OF	002	002-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	01/31/11	02/15/11	Signed & Submitted	03/23/11 02/14/11		0	Π.	
Correct DMR 💌	NM0020311	ROSWELL, CITY OF	101	101-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER FROM OUTFALLS 001 5 002	01/31/11	02/15/11	Completed	02/14/11		С	C	
Edit DMR ¥ Go	NM0020311	ROSWELL, CITY OF	001	001-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	02/28/11	02/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				п	
Edit DMR . Go	NM0020311	ROSWELL, CITY OF	002	002-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	02/28/11	03/15/11	Ready for Date Entry				Г	

Figure 5-5: DMR/COR Search Results Page – Edit Access

Up to 200 DMRs and CORs will be displayed by default in the table. If more than 100 DMRs/CORs exist, you can navigate through the list by:

> Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of DMRs/CORs.





- Clicking the green forward arrow to display the next page of DMRs/CORs.
- Clicking the green back arrow to view the previous page of DMRs/CORs.
- Clicking the *het* double green forward arrow icon to display the last 10 DMRs/CORs.
- Clicking the 44 double green back arrow icon to display the first 10 DMRs/CORs.
- Clicking the View All link to show all DMRs/CORs in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 DMRs/CORs at a time.

You can click any underlined column title to sort DMRs/CORs in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.

For each DMR or COR that is displayed in the Search Results table, the following information is provided:

- Next Step(s) The list of actions that you can perform for a specific DMR or COR if you have Edit access, otherwise it is empty for users with View access. Select the action of interest by clicking in the box on the column and clicking on Go. The possible options are listed below. The options displayed for a specific DMR depend on the type of access you have been granted for that DMR.
  - ✓ Edit DMR You can enter or edit DMR data if the status of the DMR is "Ready for Data Entry", "NetDMR Validated", "Imported" or "NetDMR Validation Errors". This option is only available to users with Edit or Signatory roles.
  - ✓ **Correct DMR** You can correct DMR data if the status is "Signed & Submitted". This option is only available to users with Edit or Signatory roles.
  - ✓ Sign & Submit DMR Signatories can sign and submit DMRs with a status of "NetDMR Validated". When this option is available, a check box is displayed in the Batch Submit column, giving you the option to include this DMR in a batch submittal.
  - ✓ View CORs CORs are available only for DMRs that have been signed and submitted.
  - ✓ Download CORs You can download the COR file for DMRs that have been signed and submitted. When this option is available, a check box is displayed in the column, giving you the option to include this COR in a batch download.
  - Review Last COR's Submittal Errors You can view data transfer or errors generated by ICIS-NPDES for a DMR submittal by selecting this option. This option is only available to users with Edit or Signatory roles.
- > **Permit ID** The permit ID associated with this DMR/COR.
- **Facility** The facility name associated with the DMR/COR.
- > **Permitted Feature** The permitted feature associated with this DMR/COR.
- **Discharge** # The limit set designator associated with this DMR/COR.
- **Discharge Description** The limit set name associated with this DMR/COR.
- Monitoring Period End Date The monitoring period end date associated with this DMR/COR.
- > **DMR Due Date** The due date for this DMR/COR.
- Status If more than one COR was generated for this DMR (due to corrections), the Status shown is for the most recent DMR.
  - $\checkmark$  Ready for Data Entry No data have been entered for the DMR.





- ✓ NetDMR Validated A DMR for which the entered data passes all NetDMR validation checks.
- ✓ NetDMR Validation Errors A DMR for which the entered data fails certain NetDMR validation checks.
- ✓ Signed & Submitted A DMR that has been signed and submitted and for which a COR has been generated.
- ✓ Submission Errors/Warnings A DMR for which data exchange or ICIS-NPDES validation errors have been encountered. These errors are only applicable to DMRs that have been signed and submitted.
- ✓ Completed A DMR that has been signed, submitted, and accepted by ICIS-NPDES.
- COR Received Date The date the COR was generated by NetDMR. More than one COR date is displayed if the DMR was signed and submitted multiple times due to corrections. Click on the hyperlinked date to view the COR.
- Include in Batch Submit If the DMR is "NetDMR Validated", you can check the box in this column to include it in a batch submittal. Although there are Check All and Clear All buttons in the column title, these options are not available to you.
- Include in Batch COR Download You can download the CORs available for this DMR by checking the box in this column. You may also check all available boxes or clear all available boxes for batch submittal by clicking on Check All or Clear All, in the column header. Batch COR downloads are limited to ten (10) most recent CORs.

A menu is displayed above the Search Results block containing various hyperlinks:

- Sign & Submit Checked DMRs click on Sign & Submit Checked DMRs to sign and submit one or more checked DMRs. This hyperlink is displayed for users with a Signatory role.
- Download Checked DMRs click on Download Checked CORs to download a zipped file containing one or more CORs.
- Update NODI new feature which will allow you to multi-select DMR forms, or Check All, and then click the Update NODI. Screen will appear for you to select the appropriate NODI code, then Save & Exit.

		Save & Exit   🧟 Cancel/Bac	k to Search Results		
Update NODI					
Select New NODI Values					
Select a NODI code below or select delete. Click the 'Save and Exit	option a	above when done.			
1001 Code:	2				
1 - Winge Row           2 - Winge Row           4 - Supplange to Lappon (Foundwater - Supplange to Lappon (Foundwater - Supplange to Lappon (Foundwater - Char (See Comments))           9 - Other (See Comments))           9 - Other (See Comments))           9 - Other (See Comments)           9 - Other (See Comments)           9 - Other See Comments)           9 - Other See Comments           9 - Other See Comments	fellow	ing DMRs will have their NODI value	s changed.		
E - Analysis Not Conducted/No Sample One kem fou F - Insufficient Flow for Sampling G - Sampling Equipment Failure	- 94 F	Discharge Description	Nunitoring Period End Date	DHR.Due Date	Status
NM0013 - Recycled - Water-Closed System     K - Flood Disaster		TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	01/31/11	02/13/11	Ready for Data Entry
Q - Drik Received out not Entered Q - Not Quantifable S - Fire Conditions V - Weather Related 2008 NextQ W - Dry Lysimeter/Well					





Remove Selected DMRs – click on and Remove if there are DMRs you do not wish to change.

selected D	MRs						
s are the ONI nay select all	ts that you selected it or some of the OMR:	rom the previous pa s you do not wish to	ge. All the foll change.	owing OMRs will have their NOD1 values changed.			
nove							
1 through 4	of 4						
Permit ID	Eaclity	Permitted Feature	Qincharge #	Discharge Description	Monitoring Period End Date	OMR.Que.Date	Status
RM0020311	ROSWELL CITY OF	002	002+A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	09/30/10	10/15/10	Ready for Data Entry
NM0020311	ROSWELL CITY OF	101	10116	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER FROM OUTFALLS 001 & 002	09/30/10	10/15/10	Ready for Data Entry
NM0020311	ROSWELL, CITY OF	001	001-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	10/31/10	11/15/10	Ready for Data Entry
NM0020311	ROSVIELL CITY OF	002	002+8	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	10/31/10	11/15/10	Ready for Data Entry
	selected D e are the Own may select all move s 1 through 4 Permit ID hm0020311 hm0020311 hm0020311	e are the CHMS that you deficited it in your of the come of the CHMS move to through 4 of 4 Permittin Eachtr NM002031 ROBYEL, CTY CP NM002031 ROBYEL, CTY CP NM002031 ROBYEL, CTY CP	Selected DMRs         Selected Tomma Nations you selected in formation to previous an analysis of all interesting of the office office office of the office office of the office office office of the office off	Selected DWE           c are the Office Status to select and the	Selected DWE           Benetical Form the previous previous All the following DHBa will have their NODE valves changed.           Monte Selected for the DHBA value of the DHBA will have their NODE valves changed.           Benetical Following DHBA will have their NODE valves changed.           Note Selected for the DHBA value of the DHBA will have their NODE valves changed.           Note Selected for the DHBA value of the DHBA will have their NODE valves changed.           Note Selected for the DHBA value of the DHBA	Selected DWE  eare the offents backyou selected from the previous page. All the effets with avet their NODE values changed.  How select all or toward to de NME backyou avet avet avet avet avet avet avet avet	Selected DWL           Selected ID WL           Select all ST visus selected from the previous page. All the following OHBA will have their NOOD values changed.           Select all ST visus selected from the previous page. All the following OHBA will have their NOOD values changed.           Select all ST visus selected from the previous page. All the following OHBA will have their NOOD values changed.           Select all ST visus selected from the previous page. All the following OHBA will have their NOOD values changed.           Select all St visus selected from the previous page. All the following OHBA will have their NOOD values changed.           Select all St visus selected from the previous page. All the following OHBA will have their NOOD values changed.           Select all St visus selected from the previous page. All the following OHBA will have their NOOD values changed.           Select all the following OHBA will have their NOOD values changed.           Select all the following OHBA will have their NOOD values changed.           NOOD values changed from the previous changed.           Select all the following OHBA will have their NOOD values changed.           Select all the following OHBA will have their NOOD values changed.           NOOD values changed from the previous changed fro

Refresh DMR Data – click on Refresh DMR Data to display the Refresh DMR Data page that will allow you to request the most recent DMR Empty Slot data from ICIS (see Appendix G for more information on DMR data refreshes). This hyperlink is displayed for users with an Edit or Signatory role. After clicking on this link the *Refresh DMR Data* page appears:

			R New Seat	rch   🔍 Refi	ne Search   🥤 Sign	& Submit Checke	d DMRs	Download	Checked CO	Rs   🕈 Update NO	01	
R DM	R/COR S	earch Re	esults									
DMRs 1 t	hrough 5 of 5											
Nent Step(s)	Permit 10	Eaclity	Permitted Enature	Discharge A	Oncharge Description	Nonitoring Period End Date	DHR.Own Date	Status	COR Received Date	Include in Batch Submit Check All	Include in Batch COR Download Check All	Update NO Check A
										Clear All	Clear All	Clear All
	NM0020150	CITY OF BELEN WWTP	001	001-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	12/31/10	01/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				4
	NM0020150	CITY OF BELEN WWTP	001	001+A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	01/31/11	02/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				R
	NM0020150	CITY OF BELEN WWTP	001	001-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	02/28/11	03/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				Г
	NM0020150	CITY OF BOURN WWTP	791	TX1-Q	QUARTERLY 48HR. ACUTE TOXICITY	62/28/11	03/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				П
	NH0020150	CITY OF BELIN WWTP	001	001-A	TREATED MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	03/31/11	04/15/11	Ready for Data Entry				Г

Click on next to a DMR to check it for refreshing, then click on Submit to request new data and receive a confirmation message, or click on Cancel to return to the DMR/COR Search Results page.

Your requests to refresh DMR requirements for the selected rows have been submitted.

- Refine Search click on Refine Search to narrow down the search results using the Search All DMRs & Copies of Record (CORs) page.
- New Search click on New Search to search for other DMRs or CORs using the Search All DMRs & Copies of Record (CORs) page.

## 5.2.1. Edit a DMR

External Permittee and Data Providers with Edit Access may edit a DMR. After selecting a DMR on the *DMR/COR Search Results* page, selecting "Edit DMR" from the **Next Steps** drop down box and clicking on **Go**, the *Edit DMR* page is displayed:





Edit DMR													
Collapse Header													
Permit													
Permit ID:		TN0002968			Major:		R						
Permittee:		USDOE-912	NATL SECURITY CHPL	EX	Permittee	e Address:	BEAR CREEK RD						
Facility:		USDOE-OAK	RIDGE Y12 PLT		Facility L	BEAR CREEK RD	RIDGE, TN 37830 ( CREEK RD.						
Permitted Feature	er :	125 - Extern	al Outfail		Discharg		G - STEAM CONC	, COOL WAT,	STOR	NAT			
Report Dates & S	tatus												
Monitoring Period	đ:	From 12/01/	08 to 12/31/08		DHR Due Date: 01/15/09								
Status:		Ready for D	ata Estry										
Principal French	er Officer	ourdine cross											
First Name:	- Constant	-		_	Last Nom	ec	-		_				
Title:		-		-	Telephon	er	-	-					
No Data Industry	(100013	A.,											
Form NODI:	(shines)	-			T Acch								
					11 1000								
Parameter	NODI		Quantity or Loading			Quality or Case	entration.		Hal	Freq. of	See		
Code a Matte	LE	Value 1	Value 2	Units	Value 1	Yalue 2	Value 3	Unita	Ex.	Lit	La		
0400 дн	Seepl,						· 2	80.00		81/30 .	OR.		
1 - Effluent Gross	-				-			1		100			
Season: 0	Req.				H= 6 Minimum		<= 9 Maximum	Units		Monthly	GRAB		
Acoly	N001												
01027 Cadmium. total (as Cd)	Seepl.						• •	Tel	-	01/30	[29]		
1 - Effluent Gross						-		-					
Season: 0	Rep.					<# .001 Manthly Average	<# .025 Daily Maximum	Milligrams per Liter		Monthly	сом		
Acely	8001												
01031 Lead. total (au Pb)	Smpl.					- 9	- 3		_	81/30	CP .		
L - Effluent Gross	Ret					cn .04 Manthly	<= 1.19 Daily	Miligrame		Monthly	COM		
1000L T						Average	Maximum	per Liter		- Securit			
Acrely	1008					1	1						
	-												
dit Check Errors													
o results.													
Comments.													
					-								
					-1								
ttachments													
Add Attachment to results.													
leport Last Saved	By												
isier:													

Figure 5-6: Edit DMR Page

Up to ten parameters will be displayed by default in the table. If more than 10 parameters exist, you can navigate through the list by:

- Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of parameters.
- Clicking the green forward arrow to display the next page of parameters.
- Clicking the d green back arrow to view the previous page of parameters.
- Clicking the k double green forward arrow icon to display the last 10 parameters.
- ➢ Clicking the <sup>≪</sup> double green back arrow icon to display the first 10 parameters.
- Clicking the View All link to show all parameters in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 parameters at a time.

You can click any underlined column title to sort parameters in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.

### 5.2.1.1. Header Section

The header displays general information for a DMR. You may collapse the header section by clicking on Collapse Header or expand a collapsed header by clicking on Expand Header. Collapsing the header hides the signatory information and allows the DMR parameter section to move closer to the top of the page. Expanding the header section





will show all the details of the header including the signatory information, and moves the DMR parameter section further down the page.

Five types of information are presented in the header:

### > Permit

- ✓ Permit ID This is the permit ID for this DMR. You can not edit this information.
- ✓ Major This indicates if the permit is a major permit. The permit is a major permit if this box is checked. Otherwise, it is a minor permit. You can not edit this information.
- Permitted Feature This is the permitted feature number and description for this DMR. You can not edit this information.
- ✓ Permittee This is the permit holder for this DMR. You can not edit this information.
- ✓ Permittee Address This is the address associated with the permit. You can not edit this information.
- ✓ Discharge The DMR limit set designator and limit set description. You can not edit this information.
- ✓ Facility This name of the facility associated with this DMR. You can not edit this information.
- ✓ Facility Location The full address of the facility associated with this DMR. You can not edit this information.

### Report Dates & Status

- ✓ Monitoring Period The monitoring period start and end dates for this DMR. You can not edit this information.
- ✓ DMR Due Date The data this DMR is required to be submitted. You can not edit this information.
- ✓ Status This is the DMR's NetDMR status. The NetDMR status is defined on the *Manage Reports* page. You can not edit this information.
  - **Ready for Data Entry** No data have been entered for the DMR.
  - **Imported** The DMR has been imported but not yet validated, signed, or submitted.
  - NetDMR Validated A DMR for which the entered data passes all NetDMR validation checks.
  - **NetDMR Validation Errors** A DMR for which the entered data fails certain NetDMR validation checks.
  - Signed & Submitted A DMR that has been signed and submitted and for which a COR has been generated.
  - Submission Errors/Warnings A DMR for which data exchange or ICIS-NPDES validation errors have been encountered. These errors are only application to DMRs that have been signed and submitted.
  - **Completed** A DMR that has been signed, submitted, and accepted by ICIS-NPDES.
- Considerations for Form Completion This displays the pre-print comments from the Limit Set from ICIS-NPDES. You can not edit this information.
- Principal Executive Officer





- **First Name** Enter the principal executive officer's first name. The only special characters allowed in this field are periods (.), commas (,), double quotes ("), hyphens (-) and apostrophes (').
- Last Name Enter the principal executive officer's last name. The only special characters allowed in this field are periods (.), commas (,), double quotes ("), hyphens (-) and apostrophes (').
- **Title** Enter the principal executive officer's title. The only special characters allowed in this field are periods (.), commas (,), double quotes ("), hyphens (-) and apostrophes (').
- **Telephone** Enter the principal executive officer's telephone number in the format XXX-XXX-XXXX.
- No Data Indicator (NODI) This section displays the form-level no data indicator selection options. Selecting an option from the Form NODI drop down box and clicking on Apply in this section will populate all of the DMR's editable quantity and

concentration NODI fields with the selected NODI code to explain why all sample measurements are to remain blank.

### 5.2.1.2. Parameter Section

The Parameter Section contains one row for each DMR parameter. Scroll down the *Edit DMR* page to view all parameters for DMRs that contain more than one parameter.

Each parameter contains cells for entering up to 2 quantity measurement values and up to 3 concentration measurement values. When the *Edit DMR* page is first displayed, only the quantity and part of the concentration measurement cells are viewable. Scroll to the right to view all of the concentration measurement cells.

- > Parameter
  - ✓ Code This is the parameter code, you can not edit this information. You can sort the parameters in ascending or descending order by code by clicking on the hyperlinked column title.
  - ✓ Name This is the parameter name, you can not edit this information. You can sort the parameters in ascending or descending order by name by clicking on the hyperlinked column title.
  - ✓ Monitoring Location The monitoring location code and name for the parameter, you can not edit this information.
  - Parameter NODI Selecting an option from the Parameter NODI drop down box will populate all of the parameter's editable quantity and concentration NODI fields with the selected NODI code to explain why the parameter's sample measurements are to remain blank. You can view the NODI codes and a description of each by clicking on List in the Parameter NODI column.
  - Quantity or Loading Click on the Qualifier drop down box and select a qualifier, then enter the value you would like to report for the parameter. These numerical entries may contain comma separators and decimals. Value fields may contain only numbers. The available qualifiers include:
    - Equals (=)
    - Less than (<)</li>

<u>Sample</u> = measurement, <u>Permit Requirement</u> = limit <u>Effluent Trading Sample</u> = Effluent Trade measurement.





- Greater than (>)
- Less than or equal to (<=)
- Greater than or equal to (>=)
- "T" (too numerous to count)
- "E" (estimate)

If no qualifier is selected a default of Equals (=) is assumed.

- ✓ Value 1 (Sample) Enter the quantity or loading value for the measured sample for this parameter. You can edit this entry if the corresponding permit requirement value is populated.
- ✓ Value 1 (Permit Requirement) This is the permit limit for the parameter for Quantity or Loading Value 1, including the limit value, qualifier, statistical base, and whether monitoring is optional. You may not edit this information.

Value 1 (Effluent Trading Sample) – Enter the quantity or loading value for the effluent trading sample. You can edit this information only if effluent trading is in effect for this parameter and the corresponding permit requirement value is populated.

 Value 1 (Value NODI) – If applicable, click on the Value NODI drop down box and select the desired No Discharge Indicator Code. You can view a list of NODI code descriptions by *Effluent Trading Sample* Values 1 through 5 and Unit will only appear on the DMR edit screen when an Effluent Trade Partner exists for the limit.

clicking on List under the Value NODI label for

this entry. You can edit this information only if the corresponding permit requirement value is populated.

- ✓ Value 2 (Sample) Enter the quantity or loading value for the measured sample for this parameter. You can edit this entry only if the corresponding permit requirement value is populated.
- ✓ Value 2 (Effluent Trading Sample) Enter the quantity or loading value for the effluent trading sample. You can edit this information only if effluent trading is in effect for this parameter and the corresponding permit requirement value is populated.
- ✓ Value 2 (Permit Requirement) This is the permit limit for the parameter for Quantity or Loading Value 2, including the limit value, qualifier, statistical base, and whether monitoring is optional. You may not edit this information.
- Value 2 (Value NODI) If applicable, click on the Value NODI drop down box and select the desired No Discharge Indicator Code. You can view a list of NODI code descriptions by clicking on List under the Value NODI label for this entry. You can edit this information only if the corresponding permit requirement value is populated.
- ✓ Units (Sample) Click on the Units drop down box and select the desired unit of measure for this quantity or loading value. You can view a list of Unit code descriptions by clicking on List under the Unit label for this entry. This information is editable only if the corresponding permit requirement unit is populated.
- ✓ Units (Effluent Trading Sample) Click on the Units drop down box and select the desired unit of measure for this quantity or loading value. This information is editable only if the corresponding permit requirement unit is populated.
- ✓ Units (Permit Requirement) This is the unit of measure code and description specified in the limit set for quantity or loading value. You can not edit this field.





- Quality or Concentration Click on the Qualifier drop down box and select a qualifier, then enter the value you would like to report for the parameter. These numerical entries may contain comma separators and decimals. Value fields may contain only numbers. The available qualifiers include:
  - Equals (=)
  - Less than (<)
  - Greater than (>)
  - Less than or equal to (<=)
  - Greater than or equal to (>=)
  - "T" (too numerous to count)
  - "E" (estimate)
  - If no qualifier is selected a default of Equals (=) is assumed.
  - ✓ Value 1 (Sample) Enter the quantity or loading value for the measured sample for this parameter. You can edit this entry if the corresponding permit requirement value is populated.
  - ✓ Value 1 (Permit Requirement) This is the permit limit for the parameter for Quantity or Loading Value 1, including the limit value, qualifier, statistical base, and whether monitoring is optional. You may not edit this information.
  - ✓ Value 1 (Effluent Trading Sample) Enter the quantity or loading value for the effluent trading sample. You can edit this information only if effluent trading is in effect for this parameter and the corresponding permit requirement value is populated.
  - ✓ Value 1 (Value NODI) –If applicable, click on the Value NODI drop down box and select the desired No Discharge Indicator Code. You can view a list of NODI code descriptions by clicking on List under the Value NODI label for this entry. You can edit this information only if the corresponding permit requirement value is populated.
  - ✓ Value 2 (Sample) Enter the quantity or loading value for the measured sample for this parameter. You can edit this entry only if the corresponding permit requirement value is populated.
  - ✓ Value 2 (Effluent Trading Sample) Enter the quantity or loading value for the effluent trading sample. You can edit this information only if effluent trading is in effect for this parameter and the corresponding permit requirement value is populated.
  - ✓ Value 2 (Permit Requirement) This is the permit limit for the parameter for Quantity or Loading Value 2, including the limit value, qualifier, statistical base, and whether monitoring is optional. You may not edit this information.
  - Value 2 (Value NODI) If applicable, click on the Value NODI drop down box and select the desired No Discharge Indicator Code. You can view a list of NODI code descriptions by clicking on List under the Value NODI label for this entry. You can edit this information only if the corresponding permit requirement value is populated.
  - Units (Sample) Click on the Units drop down box and select the desired unit of measure for this quantity or loading value. You can view a list of Unit code descriptions by clicking on List under the Unit label for this entry. This information is editable only if the corresponding permit requirement unit is populated.
  - ✓ Units (Effluent Trading Sample) Click on the Units drop down box and select the desired unit of measure for this quantity or loading value. This information is editable only if the corresponding permit requirement unit is populated.
  - ✓ Units (Permit Requirement) This is the unit of measure code and description specified in the limit set for quantity or loading value. You can not edit this field.





- ✓ Number of Excursions Enter the number of excursions for this parameter. You may only enter whole numbers for this field.
- ✓ Frequency of Analysis Click on the Frequency of Analysis drop down box and select the desired frequency of analysis for the sample from the drop-down list. The drop-down list contains all active ICIS-NPDES frequencies of analysis codes and descriptions. You can view a list of Frequency of Analysis code descriptions by clicking on List under the **Frequency of Analysis** label for this entry.
- ✓ **Permit Requirement** This is the frequency of analysis for the permit requirement for this parameter. You can not edit this information.
- > Sample Type
  - Sample Click on the Sample Type drop down box and select the desired sample  $\checkmark$ type. You can view a list of Sample Type code descriptions by clicking on List under the **Sample Type** label for this entry.
  - $\checkmark$  **Permit Requirement** This is the sample type for the parameter specified in the limit set. It includes the sample type code and description. You can not edit this information.

The top of the *Edit DMR* page provide hyperlinks to certain activities that affect the page, specifically:

Clear Parameter Fields – Click on <sup>E</sup> Clear Parameter Fields to blank out or erase all editable fields in the Parameter Section and restores the defaults listed in the permit for qualifier, frequency of analysis, and sample type.

All parameters have been cleared in the entire DMR, including any parameters that appear on other pages.

Save & Continue – Click on Save & Continue to save your edits on this page and remain on this page for further edits. Clicking this link also causes NetDMR to recheck the data for hard and soft errors, update the DMR's status, and reload this page for this DMR. If no hard errors are found, you will be notified that your changes have been saved and any soft errors will be displayed in the Edit Check Errors table:

### Your changes have been saved.

\_\_\_\_\_ Otherwise, if hard errors were found, you will be notified with a message and any hard errors will be displayed in the **Edit Check Errors** table: -----

There were errors processing your request.

Save & Exit – Click on Save & Exit to save your edits on this page. Clicking this link also causes NetDMR to perform On Save edit checks, update the DMR's status, and returns you to the DMR/COR Search Results page. If the DMR has any outstanding "Soft" or "Hard" errors, NetDMR will set the status to "NetDMR Validation Errors". If the DMR does not contain any outstanding "Soft" or "Hard" errors, NetDMR will set the status to "NetDMR Validated". If no hard errors are found, you will be notified that your changes have been saved and any soft errors will be displayed in the Edit Check Errors table:





Your changes have been saved.

Otherwise, if hard errors were found, you will be notified with a message and any hard errors will be displayed in the **Edit Check Errors** table:

There were errors processing your request.

- Sign & Submit If the DMR's status is "NetDMR Validated," only a Permittee with a Signatory role may click on Sign & Submit to sign and submit this DMR.
- Print Friendly View Click on Print Friendly View to view the DMR in a print friendly format.

**Search Results** – Click on Cancel/Back to Search Results to return to the DMR/COR Search Results page. You will be returned to the results with any sorting or paging selections still applied. Note that if the DMR you were working on is no longer part of the search results, you will be returned to the previous or next page of results.

### 5.2.1.3. Edit Check Errors Table

After entering data then clicking on <sup>Save & Continue</sup> or <sup>Save & Exit</sup>, NetDMR will search for errors and display them in the **Edit Check Errors** table:

dit Check Errors								
Sode Name	Monitoring Location	Field	Type	Description	Acknowledge			
51120 Discharge drill outtings, base fluids retained	See Comments	Quality or Concentration Sample Value	Hard	A sample value and NODI selection cannot be provided for the same value. Either delete the value(s) or reset the NODI to blank.				
51120 Discharge drill outlings, base fluids retained	See Comments	Quality or Concentration Sample Value 2	Soft	The provided sample value is outside the permit limit.				

The errors summary shows the "On Import", "On Load", "Real Time", and "On Save" errors and classifies them as **Soft** errors or **Hard** errors. Both Soft and Hard errors will, when they occur, cause the DMR's status to change to "NetDMR Validation Errors". A DMR in this status can not be signed and submitted. In order to prepare the DMR for signature and submission, Hard errors must be resolved and Soft errors must be acknowledged.

Rows with errors will be shaded in pink to make them easier to find on the DMR.

- > Parameter
  - $\checkmark$  Code The parameter code associated with the submission errors.
  - $\checkmark$  **Name** The parameter name associated with the submission errors.
- Monitoring Location The monitoring location code and description associated with the submission errors.
- **Field** The field in the DMR associated with the submission errors.
- **Type** The type of error, Hard or Soft, that was encountered
- Hard Errors Hard errors must be resolved by editing the DMR. Possible hard error messages are:





- ✓ A quantity or quality value can not be entered when the Too Numerous to Count (T) qualifier is selected.
- ✓ A quantity or quality value NODI code can not be entered when the T qualifier is selected.
- ✓ If a quantity or quality value is negative, the less than (<) qualifier can not be selected.</p>
- ✓ You can not select both a quantity or quality value and a value NODI code.
- ✓ Value fields may contain numbers and the special characters ".", "-" and "," only.
- $\checkmark$  If an effluent trading sample value is entered, a sample value must be entered.
- ✓ The number of excursions should be greater than zero. This error is displayed if a value less than zero is entered, a decimal number is entered, or characters other than a number is entered as an excursion.

Before a DMR can be submitted Hard errors must be and Soft errors must be either fixed or acknowledged.

Soft Errors – Soft errors may be resolved

by editing the DMR or by acknowledging the errors in the errors summary. Possible soft error messages are:

- ✓ Every time a field is left blank on the DMR or when all available DMR values are blank when submitting a DMR.
- ✓ The selected units do not match the permit requirement units for this parameter. The provided quality or quantity value(s) may be outside the permit limit.
- ✓ The provided quantity or quality value is outside the permit limit. This soft error is displayed if any of the following apply:
- ✓ The value entered is outside the permit limit and the units of measure are the same as those listed in the permit. For example, the permit requirement is 2 mg/L and the entered value is 3 mg/L. Note: NetDMR does not perform unit conversions and will not display this soft error if it can only be determined after a conversion is completed.
- ✓ The user selects a qualifier opposite of the qualifier specified in the permit. A few examples include:
  - The permit requirement is  $\geq 20\%$  and the user enters < 20%.
  - The permit requirement is  $\geq 20\%$  and the user enters 19%.
  - The permit requirement is < 10 mg/L and the user enters 10 mg/L.
  - The permit requirement is < 10 mg/L and the user enters 11 mg/L.
- ✓ The number of excursions should be greater than zero. This soft error is displayed if all of the following apply: (1) the selected units match the permit units, AND (2) one or more of the entered values are outside the permit limit AND (3) excursions are null or zero. Note: NetDMR does not perform unit conversions and will not display this error if it can only be determined after a conversion is completed.
- **Description** A plain English description of the error that was encountered.
- Acknowledge Click on to place a checkmark inside the box. This will acknowledge soft errors and allow you to move forward with your DMR submission.
  - ✓ Note that NetDMR does not generate hard or soft errors for the following:
    - If a Form-level NODI is applied, NetDMR ignores any selections that you make for qualifiers, units, frequency of analysis, and sample type
    - If a parameter NODI is applied, NetDMR ignores any selections that you make for qualifiers, units, frequency of analysis, and sample type





- If you select qualifiers, units, frequency of analysis, or sample type for a parameter but do not provide a value, NetDMR ignores your selections.
- **Comments** The comments section provides space for users with Signatory or Edit roles for a permit to enter additional comments related to your DMR submission, if any. A maximum of 4,000 characters can be entered as a comment.
- > Attachments The attachment section lists the following information for all attachments associated with the DMR:
  - $\checkmark$  File Name The name of the attached file, presented as a hyperlink. You can download the file by clicking the file name hyperlink.
  - $\checkmark$  <u>Type</u> The MIME content type of the attached file.
  - $\checkmark$  <u>Size</u> The size of the attached file in megabytes.
  - $\checkmark$  Remove Click the  $\approx$  in this column to delete an attachment from a DMR submission.

### Report Last Saved By

- $\checkmark$  <u>User</u> The name of the user who last saved the DMR.
- $\checkmark$  Name The full name of the user who last saved the DMR.
- $\checkmark$  Email The email of the user who last saved the DMR.
- $\checkmark$  Date/Time The date and time the DMR was last saved.

### 5.2.1.4. Add an Attachment

NetDMR can store attachments that are associated with a DMR but NetDMR does not submit the attachments to ICIS.

You can attach one or more files to a DMR from the Attachments section of the *Edit DMR* page by following these steps:

NetDMR will not allow upload of files greater than 20 megabytes or files with the following file types: com, dll, exe. and vbs

Add Attachment and the *Add Attachment* page is displayed: 1. Click on

0 Add Atta	chment
Use this page to a	dd an attachment to a DMR. Note that attachments may not be larger than 30 megabytes. Fields marked with * are required.
File:*	Browse
	Attach File Cancel

Click on Browse... and use the "Choose file" popup window to navigate to the 2. file on your computer that you would like to attach to this DMR:







3. Double-click on the name of the file to attach, **OR** 

Click on the name of the file to highlight it, then click on **Open** to select the file or click on **Cancel** to return to the *Add Attachment* page.

- 4. Click on Attach File to attach the file, or click on Cancel to return to the *Edit DMR* page without attaching a file.
- 5. If you attempt to upload a .com, .dll, .exe. or .vbs file, NetDMR will display an error message indicating that the file type is not allowed:

1	There were err	ors processing your request.
0 Add	Attachment	
Use this pa	age to add an attacł	nment to a DMR. Note that attachments may not be larger than 30
File:*		
The file t	ype EXE is not allow	ved

## 5.2.2. Import DMRs

Instead of entering one DMR at a time using the NetDMR web pages, Permittees and Data Providers with Edit Access can import one or more of a permit's DMR into NetDMR using the

import functionality. The ability to mass import different permits in a single upload is now available. This is done by uploading a file that conforms to the file specifications described in the next section. The import file can contain data for new DMRs, DMRs that have been partially entered or are in progress, and correcting previously submitted DMRs.

NetDMR will populate the DMR using the data

ί₽.

If no hard errors are found during Import, status will be set to "NetDMR Validated", ready to *sign/submit your DMRs*.





contained in the file by adding new data or overwriting existing data. During the import process, NetDMR will validate the import file and flag any errors.

The DMR import file must be in comma delimited or comma separated value format (csv) and be saved with an extension of '.txt', or a '.txt' file that is zipped according the PKWare zip format and saved with an extension of. '.zip'.

*Comma delimited files can be easily created using a spreadsheet or database program such as MS Excel or* 

MS Access.

The import format will allow you to specify all of the parameter data that you would otherwise enter using

the NetDMR Edit DMR functionality. You can use the NetDMR Edit DMR functionality to enter DMR level information such as the Principal Executive Officer. Appendix B provides the file format specifications for comma delimited files and Appendix C lists the fields that can be submitted within the comma delimited file in the order in which they must appear for each row in the import file. **Note the file format was modified on to allow submission for multiple permits.** 

### 5.2.2.1. Import Procedure

Files can be imported by using the *Import DMRs* page shown in Figure 5-7.

NetDMR	t Access   Help	Logout		Userrathysig01@yshos.com. Dermittes User				
Manage Access Requests All Pe Us	arch DMRs & CORs mits ers	Import DMRs Perform Import Check Results	View Permits Users	Download Blank DMR Form	X Bession Lockout Timer (26144			
Import DMRs Use this page to import a fi You may include in the file additional information on hi	le of DMR data. No both new DMR data tw to format the fil	te that the file may o and corrections to is e, please consult the	nly contain n-process o Help syster	data for one permit (althoug r previously submitted DMRs n. Fields marked with " are r	h it may cover multiple permitted features, limit acts, and monitoring periods beneath the permit). The file may not be larger than 20 magabytes and the file name may not cortain spaces. For equired.			
Permit ID:*	NH002	2250 💌		(File of DHR data, not				
File Type:*	zip 💌		4196	altachmenta)				
Data Replacement Stra	tegy:* Annual	and Overwrite						
Description:*			a a					
	Su	bmit Import File	Cancel					



To import a file containing DMRs, follow these steps:

- 1. Prepare a properly formatted import file according to the specifications provided in Appendix B. The file must only contain DMR data at least one permit ID. Multiple NPDES ids can be uploaded into one import file.
- 2. Log into your NetDMR account as a Permitee User or Data Provider with Edit Access.
- 3. Click on **Perform Import** under the **Import DMRs** tab. If you do not have the rights to perform imports an error message will appear:

Vser does not have an edit role on any permit.





Click on Browse... to open the "Choose file" popup window and navigate to 4. folder on your desktop, network, or other location that contains the import file:

Choose file					? ×
Look in:	🗀 Temp		•	🗈 💣 🎟 -	
	🛅 R6bak				
My Recent					
Desktop					
My Documents					
My Computer					
Mu Network	File name:			•	Open
Places					
	Files of type:	All Files (*.*)		· _	Cancel

- 5. Double-click on the name of the file to import,
  - OR
- Click on the name of the file to highlight it. This field is mandatory 6.
- Cancel Open to select the file, or click on Click on 7. to return to the Import DMRs page.
- 8. Click on the drop down box for **File Type** and select the type of file being imported. Valid file types are ".txt", ".csv" and ".zip" files. This field is mandatory.
- Data Replacement Strategy will be set to "Append and Overwrite". The strategy 9. tells NetDMR how to handle the data in the import file. This field is mandatory
- 10. Enter a description of the import file. This field is mandatory.
- Submit Import File Click on 11. to initiate the import process, or click on Cancel to return to the Signatory Home page.



You can now upload DMRs for multiple permit numbers, see Appendix C for new Import file layout

If data is missing or entered incorrectly, an error message will appear indicating 12. what fields had problems:

There were errors pro	cessing your request.		
Permit ID: *	HI0000019 💌		
Import File:*	Browse	(File of DMR data, not attachments)	Required.

Correct the errors, then repeat steps 4 - 12.

13. After you submit a file, NetDMR adds it to the import queue. You can monitor the status of the import



The Import File queue starts up every 5 minutes between 5:00 am and 9:00 pm EST Your file may take up to 45 minutes to import if it is large or there are other files in the queue.





request on the *Check DMR Import Results* page. After the DMR has been processed, NetDMR will notify you by email and make any errors available via the *Check DMR Import Results* page.

14. Edit the DMR using the procedures in Section 5.2.1, then notify a Signatory that the DMR is ready to sign and submit.

### **5.2.2.2. Import Validation**

NetDMR automatically processes and validates each row in the import file. NetDMR performs the following validations:

- 1. Each import file must contain data for at least one permit ID.
- 2. Each row must be of the exact format specified in Import DMR Format (Appendix B) and DMR Import File Contents (Appendix C).
- 3. Each row must contain data for the following fields to uniquely identify a parameter row in a DMR:
  - Permitted Feature ID
  - Limit Set Designator
  - Monitoring Period End Date (yyyy-mm-dd)
  - Parameter Code
  - Monitoring Location Code
- 4. Each row must relate to a parameter row of a DMR that exists in NetDMR
- 5. If you provide a NODI code for a row, the associated sample value and effluent values must be blank. For example, if a Concentration 1 NODI Code is provided in a row, data cannot be provided for the Concentration 1 Sample Value or the Concentration 1 Effluent Value for that same record.
- 6. All included codes for fields such as Parameter code, Monitoring Location code. No Discharge Indicator (NODI) code, Unit of Measure code, Frequency of Analysis code, and Sample Type code must match the codes in an applicable reference table in the NetDMR database. NetDMR uses the same codes as ICIS-NPDES.
- 7. The Monitoring Period End Date must be specified in the format YYYY-MM-DD.
- 8. If provided, the Number of Excursions must be an integer >= 0.
- 9. If provided, the Unit of Measure Code must be appropriate for the specified parameter. The reference tables retrieved from ICIS-NPDES specify which unit codes are appropriate for each parameter code.

If an error is encountered in a row, no data from the row will be processed. Errors in one row do not affect the processing of previous or subsequent rows.

*If an error is found in one row within the import file, only that row and all of its data will be rejected.* 

## 5.2.2.3. DMR Import Results

The *DMR Import Results* page (Figure ) summarizes the status of your DMR import requests. You can view these results by clicking on Check Results under the **Import DMRs** tab.





NetDMR						Texas		
Manage Access Reque	Requests Search All DMRs & CORs Permits Users		9. CORE Dedorm Import DMRs View Dewnload Blank DMR Fo Users Diank DMR Fo		Download Blank DMR Form	📽 Session Lockout Timer: 29:51		
DMR Im Select the Log is the table rows in	con for an impo	I <b>lts</b> rt to view det descending or	ailed status a	and error messages gr formation in that colu	merated during the im mn. If you click View	port's processing. Click any underlined colur All or View Partial, the table will be displayed	nn title to so with the del	ort
sort order appli Showing 4 of 4	ed. records.							
sort order appli Showing 4 of 4 Transaction1D	ed. records. Submission Date/Time	Permit ID	Lacility	Import like	Data Replacement Strategy	Description	Status	Log
sort order appli Showing 4 of 4 <u>Transaction ID</u> 449	ed. records. Date/Time 12/10/08 8:30 PM	Permit ID TX0023442	Eacility CITY OF BREMOND WWTP	Import File TX0023442 (Aug8epthov2008) Import Example.cev	Data Replacement Strategy Appand and Overwrite	Description This is Testing Import of multiple DMRs in one file - Aug, Sept, and Nov	Status Success	Log
Showing 4 of 4 Transaction ID 449 448	ed. records. Submission Date/Time 12/10/08 8130 PM 12/10/08 7:52 PM	Permit ID TX0023442 TX0023442	Eacility CITY OF BREMOND WWTP CITY OF BREMOND WWTP	Import File TX0023442 (AugGeptitov2000) Import Example.csv TX0023442 (Oct200 Import Example.csv	Data Replacement Strategy Append and Overwrite B) Append Only	Description This is Testing Import of multiple DMRs in one file - Aug, Sept. and New This is a test for the DEC 11 DEMONSTRATION	Status Success Success	Log
sort order appli Showing 4 of 4 IransactionID 449 448 447	ed. Submission Date/Time 12/10/08 12/10/08 12/10/08 12/10/08 12/200 2:45 PM	Pernet ID Tx0023442 Tx0023442 Tx0023442	Lacility CITY OF BREMOND WWTP CITY OF BREMOND WWTP	Import File TX0022442 (Augtepttov2000) Import Example.csv TX0022442 (Osp20 Import Example.csv TX0022442 (Sept20 Import Example.tst	Date Replayment Strategy           Append and Overwrite           B)         Append Only           00)         Append and Overwrite	Description This is Testing Import of multiple DMRs in One file : Aug. Sept. and fee This is test for the DEC 11 DEMONSTRATON This is the second test of import capability of the 1 alon sent to see hor long on servarge this import takes.	Status Success Success Guccess	Log

Figure 5-8: DMR Import Results Page

Up to ten import requests will be displayed by default in the table. If more than 10 import requests are returned, you can navigate through the list by:

- Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of results.
- ➢ Clicking the ▶ green forward arrow to display the next page of import requests.
- ➢ Clicking the ◀ green back arrow to view the previous page of import requests.
- > Clicking the *to* double green forward arrow icon to display the last 10 import requests.
- Clicking the state double green back arrow icon to display the first 10 import requests.
- Clicking the View All link to show all import requests in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 import requests at a time.

You can click any underlined column title to sort parameters in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.

The following information is provided on this page:

- **Transaction ID** A NetDMR-generated identifier for the request.
- Submission Date/Time The date/time you made the request to import the DMR on the *Import DMRs* page.
- > **Permit ID** The permit ID to which the DMR data are being added.
- **Facility** The name of the facility associated with the permit.
- ▶ **Import File** The name of the import file.
- Data Replacement Strategy Indicates that the data replacement strategy is "Append and Overwrite".
- Description The description you provided for this import on the *Import DMRs* page.
- **Status** The status of the DMR Import:
  - ✓ **Pending** The import request is waiting in NetDMR's import queue.
  - ✓ In Process NetDMR is processing the import request.





- ✓ Failed NetDMR attempted to process the request but encountered fatal errors. No data were imported. Failed import requests are removed from the table after three months.
- ✓ Completed With Errors NetDMR processed the request and encountered nonfatal errors; some data were imported. Completed with errors import requests are removed after all of the DMRs created by this request are signed and submitted or deleted.
- ✓ Signed & Submitted NetDMR has been signed and submitted the DMR and generated a COR.
- ✓ Success- NetDMR processed the request without errors; all data were imported. Completed import requests are removed from the table after all of the DMRs created by this request are signed and submitted or deleted.
- Log You can view the import log for each request by clicking on . The import log contains detailed status and error messages generated during import processing.

Click on Back to return to the previous page.

### 5.2.2.4. DMR Import Log

The *DMR Import Log* page (Figure ) displays status and error messages generated during the processing of a DMR import request. You can view the DMR Import Log by clicking on swithin the Log column of the desired row while on the *DMR Import Results* page.

NetDM	unt   R	Request Acc	ess   Help	Logout				📥 Usern	dmrexternal, Permitt	exas	
Manage Access Requ	ests	Search All DMR Permits Users	& CORS	Import Perform Check F	DMRs Import Results	View Permits Users	Download Blank DMR Fo	orm 🗶 s.	nsion Lockout Timer	. 29155	
DMR Imp	ort	Log ubmission vate/Time	Permit ID	Faci	lity	Impo	et File	Data Replacement Strategy	Descrip	ition	Status
449 12/10/08 8:30:40 PM CST		TX0023442	CITY OF BREMON WWTP		TX0023442 (Au Import Example	gSeptNov2008) n.csv	Append and Overwrite	This is Testing Imp DMRs in one file - / Nev	ort of multiple Aug, Sept, and	Success	
Showing 3 of 3	mes	sages.									
Date/Time		tree Type C	ode treets	de	Descrip	000					
12/10/08 8:3	3 PM	Information	Begin is	nport	Begin i	nport					
12/10/08 813	a PM	Information	End imp	ort of file	End of	mporting file TX	023442 (AugSej	tNov2008) Import Ex	ample.csv		
12/10/08 8:3	3 PM	Infomation	End im	ort	Import	finished successf	fully with 21 rows	successfuly committe	d and no errors.		
						8	ack				

Figure 5-9: DMR Import Log Page

The DMR import request information is summarized in the table at the top of the page and the log entries are presented in the table at the bottom of the page. Up to ten log messages will be displayed by default in the table. If more than 10 log messages are returned, you can navigate through the list by:

- > Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of results.
- ➢ Clicking the ▶ green forward arrow to display the next page of log messages.
- Clicking the d green back arrow to view the previous page of log messages.
- Clicking the k double green forward arrow icon to display the last 10 log messages.
- Clicking the state double green back arrow icon to display the first 10 log messages.
- Clicking the View All link to show all log messages in the table on the same page.



- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 log messages at a time.

You can click any underlined column title to sort parameters in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.

Information on this page includes:

- > DMR Import Request Information
  - $\checkmark$  **Transaction ID** A NetDMR-generated identifier for the request.
  - ✓ Submission Date/Time The date/time you made the request to import the DMR on the *Import DMRs* page.
  - ✓ **Import File** The name of the import file.
  - ✓ Data Replacement Strategy Indicates that the data replacement strategy is "Append and Overwrite".
  - Description The description you provided for this import on the *Import DMRs* page.
  - ✓ **Status** The status of the DMR Import.
    - **Pending** The import request is waiting in NetDMR's import queue.
    - In Process NetDMR is processing the import request.
    - **Failed** NetDMR attempted to process the request but encountered fatal errors; no data were imported. Failed import requests are removed after three months.
    - **Completed With Errors** NetDMR processed the request and encountered non-fatal errors; some data were imported. Completed with errors import requests are removed after all of the DMRs created by this request are signed and submitted or deleted.
    - Success NetDMR processed the request without errors; all data were successfully imported. Completed import requests are removed after all of the DMRs created by this request are signed and submitted or deleted.

### > DMR Import Log Entries

- ✓ **Date/Time** The date and time the message was logged.
- ✓ Error Type Code A category for each log message, Information or Error.
- Error Code A NetDMR code useful for troubleshooting and technical support; this code is displayed for error messages only.
- ✓ **Description** A plain English description of the status event or error.

Click on Back to return to the previous page.

## 5.2.3. Correct a DMR

If a DMR submission returns ICIS errors, you can correct a DMR previously submitted and resubmit it using NetDMR using the "Correct DMR" option of the Next Step(s) column in the *DMR/COR Search Results* page as described below.





- 1. Log into your NetDMR account as a Permittee User or Data Provider with Edit access.
- 2. On the *Permit Administrator Home* page, search for all DMRs with a Status of "Completed" or "Submission Errors/Warnings".
- 3. Click on Search
- 4. The *DMR/COR Search Results* page is displayed with a table listing DMRs that can be corrected. Select the "Correct DMR" option in the **Next Step(s)** column,for the desired DMR and click on Go.
- 5. NetDMR retrieves the parameter values, other editable fields, and list of attachments and displays the *Edit DMR* page with the corresponding information in the DMR's most recent copy of record. Make changes to the DMR as needed, acknowledge any soft errors, then click on Save & Continue to save the DMR. To view more details about how to edit the DMR, see Section 5.2.1.
- 6. Inform the signatory that the DMR is ready for signature and submission.

### A Signatory must perform these steps to complete the DMR correction process:

- 7. Click on **Sign & Submit** at the top or bottom of the page.
- 8. On the *Sign & Submit DMR* page, click on  $\Box$  to check the box in the **Include in Submission** column to confirm your intention to sign and submit the corrected DMR.

New feature has been added to allow you to "Add COR and Attachments to E mail Notification".

- 9. Click on <sup>Sh</sup> in the View Completed DMR column to display a view of the DMR in a separate window and verify your corrections. Close the view of the DMR by selecting File/Close from the Windows menu, or by clicking on in the upper right corner of the window.
- 10. Provide the correct answer to the **Security Question** that is displayed.
- 11. Enter your **Password** in the text box.
- 12. Click on Submit to submit the DMR(s) to ICIS and view the submission confirmation, or click on Do Not Submit to cancel the submission and return to the previous page.
- 13. If no DMRs had their Include in Submission box checked, a popup error window will appear:



Click on  $\bigcirc$  to return to the page and repeat steps 1 - 4.





14. If a secret answer or password was entered incorrectly or not provided, an error message will appear:



When the corrected DMR is signed and submitted, NetDMR generates a new Copy of Record.

### 5.2.4. Delete a DMR

You can delete a previously submitted DMR by following these steps:

- 1. Log into your NetDMR account as a Permittee User or Data Provider with Edit access.
- 2. Search for the DMR you would like to delete (see Section 5.1 on how to search for DMRs).
- 3. On the *DMR/COR Search Results* page, locate the row for the DMR that you would like to delete, click on the **Next Step(s)** drop down box and click on the "Correct DMR" option, then click on Go.
- 4. On the *Edit DMR* page, click on <sup>f</sup> Clear Parameter Fields . All entered sample values and NODI codes will be deleted and the qualifier, units, sample type, and frequency of analysis fields will be set to the defaults listed in your permit. Alternatively, you can delete each value entry manually then click on <sup>g</sup> Save & Continue to clear reported values.
- 5. Delete the data out of the Principal Executive Officer information and comments fields and remove any attachments.
- 6. Click on Save & Continue
- 7. Inform the signatory that the DMR is ready for signature and submission.

### A Signatory must perform these steps to complete the DMR deletion process:

- 8. Click on **Sign & Submit** at the top or bottom of the page..
- 9. On the *Sign & Submit DMR* page, click on  $\square$  to check the box in the **Include in Submission** column to confirm your intention to sign and submit the corrected DMR.
- 10. Click on is in the View Completed DMR column to view the DMR in a separate window and verify your corrections. Close the view of the DMR by selecting File/Close from the Windows menu, or by clicking on in the upper right corner of the window.
- 11. Provide the correct answer to the **Security Question** that is displayed.
- 12. Enter your **Password** in the text box.
- 13. Click on Submit to submit the DMR(s) to ICIS and view the submission confirmation, or click on Do Not Submit to cancel the submission and return to the previous page.





14. If no DMRs had their Include in Submission box checked, a popup error window will appear:

Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Please select at least one DMR for submission.	
OK	
Click on OK to return to the page and repeat steps 1 –	4.
If a secret answer or password was entered incorrectly or not pro-	ovi

15. If a secret answer or password was entered incorrectly or not provided, an error message will appear:



Repeat steps 2-4 using the correct information

16. The *Submission Confirmation* page will indicate whether the DMR has been forwarded for submission.

When the deleted DMR is signed and submitted, NetDMR sends a file to ICIS that will result in the DMR being deleted out of ICIS.

# 5.3. COR Functionality

When a Signatory signs and submits a DMR, NetDMR creates a unique COR for that DMR. The COR is defined in the Cross-Media Electronic Reporting Rule as follows (70 FR 59880 October 13, 2005, specifically Subpart A, Section 3.3):

"Copy of record means a true and correct copy of an electronic document received by an electronic document receiving system, which copy can be viewed in a human-readable format that clearly and accurately associates all the information provided in the electronic document with descriptions or labeling of the information. A copy of record includes:

(1) All electronic signatures contained in or logically associated with that document;
(2) The date and time of receipt; and
(3) Any other information used to record the meaning of the document or the circumstances of its receipt."

Signatories and Permittees or Data Providers with the Edit Role can search, view, and download CORs. Only Regulatory Administrators can repudiate, validate, and verify the signature for CORs.

Each NetDMR installation has an RSA 1024 bit asymmetric key that is used for digital signatures. NetDMR will use its private key to digitally sign the CORs. The signature will be





executed against a message digest created from the COR using the FIPS 140-2 hashing algorithm. For details on this process go to these web sites:

- Federal Information Processing Standards (FIPS)-approved algorithms for generating Message Digest: <u>http://www.csrc.nist.gov/CryptoToolkit/tkhash.html</u>
- FIPS-approved algorithms for generating/verifying digital signatures: <u>http://www.csrc.nist.gov/CryptoToolkit/tkdigsigs.html</u>

# 5.3.1. Searching for CORs

You can search for CORs using the All DMRs and CORs section of your Home page:

- 1. Log into NetDMR using your Permit Administrator account.
- 2. Click on the All DMRs & CORs tab, OR

Click on All DMRs & CORs under the **Search** menu.

- 3. Search using any combination of the following criteria. Leaving a field blank or selecting "All" from a pick list will instruct NetDMR not to search on that criterion. All search fields are optional. After entering your search criteria, click the *Search* button to display the search results.
  - Specify Permit ID or Facility search criteria. You can choose to search for CORs for a specific permit ID or facility name, but not both. Click on to the left of Permit ID or Facility to mark the desired option, then click on Update next to that option to populate the list of available Permit IDs or Facilities. The option not selected will be disabled. You can change options at any time by clicking on next to the desired option and clicking on Update next to that option.
  - Permit # Select the permit number of interest by clicking in the box next to Permit
     #. After selecting a permit, click on Update
     NetDMR will retrieve the facility name, permitted feature, and discharge options for that permit. Note that the Permit # list will only include those permits that you have requested and been granted access to.
  - Facility Select the facility name whose DMRs you wish to view by clicking in the box next to Facility. After selecting a Facility, click on Update. NetDMR will retrieve the permit number, permitted feature, and discharge options for that Facility. Note that the Facility list will only include those facilities associated with the permits that you have requested and been granted access to.
  - Permitted Feature Select the permitted feature of interest from the box next to Permitted Feature. After selecting a Permitted Feature, click on Update. NetDMR will retrieve the permit number, facility, and discharge options associated with that permitted feature. Note that the Permitted Feature list will only include those features associated with the permits that you have requested and been granted access to.
  - Discharge Click on the drop down box next to the Discharge field and click on the desired discharge from the available limit sets.
  - Monitoring Period End Date Range Enter the start and end dates for the monitoring period end date range using the *mm/dd/yyyy* format, or select the appropriate start and end dates from a calendar by clicking on next to each text box.





- Edited or Submitted by Click on the drop down box next to the Edited or Submitted By field on click on the name of users who have modified the DMRs for permits that you can access.
- Status To search for CORs you must select a status of "Signed & Submitted", "Completed" or "Submission Errors/Warnings".
- COR Confirmation # Enter the submission confirmation number for the DMR/COR you wish to view.
- 4. After entering your search criteria, click on Search to display the DMR/COR Search Results Page:



Up to ten DMRs/CORs will be displayed by default on this page. If more than 10 DMRs/CORs exist, you can navigate through the list by:

- > Clicking a page number link to go to a specific page of DMRs/CORs.
- Clicking the green forward arrow to display the next page of DMRs/CORs.
- > Clicking the d green back arrow to view the previous page of DMRs/CORs.
- Clicking the boots double green forward arrow icon to display the last 10 DMRs/CORs.
- Clicking the 44 double green back arrow icon to display the first 10 DMRs/CORs.
- Clicking the View All link to show all DMRs/CORs in the table on the same page.
- Clicking on the View Partial link to return from the View All display back to viewing 10 DMRs/CORs at a time.

You can click any underlined column title to sort parameters in ascending or descending order by the information in that column.

 Click on the hyperlinked date within the COR Received Date column for the row that contains the COR of interest to view that COR, OR

Click on then click on  $\Box$  within the **Include in Batch COR Download** column for the row that contains the COR of interest to checkmark that COR, then click on **Download Checked CORs** to download that COR.





## 5.3.2. Viewing a COR

After searching for a COR using the instructions in Section 5.1.3, the *DMR Copy of Record* page will be displayed (Figure ).

DMR 0	Copy of	F Rec	ord														
Permit																	
Permit	es		AK0000	922			Pe	rmittee:		Ģ	ATEWA	Y FORE	ST PRODUC	TS INC	F	cility:	
Major:	lajor:				Permittee Address:			WARD COVE KETCHIKAN, AK 99901					F	cility I	Loc		
Permitt	ed Featur	ne:	001 External	Outfall			Dis	Discharge:			o desi	oription)					
Report	Dates & B	Itatus															
Monitor	ing Period	d;	From 01	1/01/04	to 01/3	1/04	DM	IR Due Dat	e:	02	2/20/	04			51	atus:	
Conside	rations fo	or Forn	a Completi	ion .													
"P" = CH	RONIC WE	ET (PAC	IFIC OYSTE	(R); "Q" -	- ACUTE	WET (SILV	RSIDES	); "R" = CH	RONIC WE	T (BAY	MUSS	#L);*S*	= CHRONIC	WET (SEA	URCHIN);	AND "	
Principa	A Executiv	ve Offi	cer:				i.								1-		
PIPST Na	me:						Int	le:							- In	lepho	ne:
Lastria	me.	- August															
No Data	indicator	r (NOD	9														
			Manufacture .	-	Dener			Due	a billion man R in .	a dina					Overline		
and a	a anne ser		Location	3	NODI		A. DR.	Uniter 1	Current Con		0022	ale la c	Constanting of	100000101	Qualifier	in control	
Code	.Piam	140					Qualitier	Value 1	Z	- VAR	10 Z ·	Units	Qualitar 1	Value 1	Qualitar	2 Z	9
						Sample											-
00070	Turbidite		1 - Effluent	0	**	Pamit											
		22.22	Gross			Req.											
						Value											
						Longle	-	1.				03 - Mgal/d					
74076	Flow	- 8	0 - See	o		Permit		Reg Mon				89 -					
10000			Comments	1.73		Requ		MO AVG				MgeVd					
						Value NOD1											
Submis	cion Note																
If a para	meter row	does n	ot contain a	any value	s for the S	Sample no	r Effluent	Trading, the	n none of	the foll	owing	fields w	Il be submi	tted for tha	t row: Unit	s, Numb	er i
Edit Che	ck Errors																
Par	ameter																
Code	Name	N	onitoring Lo	cation			Field			Type					Desi	riplion	
74076	Flow	1 - Eff	Tuent Gross		Quantit	y or Load	ng Effluer/	t Value 2	-	Soft	The	provided	i sample va	lue is outsi	de the per	sit limit.	(Er
24076	How	1 . 60	Fuend Genera		E.co.ecc					Talk	-	number	of excession	as should be	a constant		
74076	FIOR	1	Ident Gross		EXOLVER	2m				aure	10.4	number	dr excursion	hi inouid b	a graster c	tan zero	
74076	Flow	1 - 69	fuent Gross		Quantit	y or Load	ng Sample	Value 1		Soft	The	provided	sample va	lue is outsi	de the perr	nt limit.	(1)
Comme	nts																
Attachn	ents																
No attaci	hments.																
Report	tast Save	nd By															
GATTW	Y FOREST	T PROD	UCTS INC				N.	5									
Useri	aka	dmr001							Date/1	Time:				2008-0	8-27 15:22	(Tim	e Z
Name:	Ala	aska I	Externaluse	e													
THE R. LANSING MICH.	alie	600.001	Bank Buch	A 44.00													

Figure 5-10: DMR Copy of Record Page

Displayed on this page are sections containing the following information that you will not be able to edit:

- Header provides permit information, reporting dates, and principal executive officer information.
- Parameter provides permit limits, reported quantity/loading, reported quality/concentration values, and reported excursions.
- Error listing of soft errors within the DMR that were acknowledged by the Signatory who signed and submitted the DMR.
- **Comment** any comments provided by the Signatory.
- > Attachment lists attachments and provides a link to download the attachment.
- **Report Last Saved By** details on the user who last saved the DMR.

There are four hyperlinks available for you to use near the top of this page:

- Click on View Certification to open the View COR Certification page and view the certification statement used when signing the COR.
- Click on Download COR to retrieve a zipped file of the COR and all documents associated with it.
- Click on View COR Signature to open the COR Signature page and view the digital signature generated by NetDMR for signing the DMR.





Click on **Core Sig. Public Key** to view or download the public key used to decrypt the DMR's private key.

When you are finished viewing the data on this page, close it and return to the *DMR/COR Search Results* page by selecting File/Close from the Windows menu, or by clicking on in the upper right corner of the window.

# 5.3.3. Downloading a COR

You can download one or more CORs as a zipped file. The actual COR zip file name begins with the Permit ID, followed by permitted feature, and monitoring period end date, followed by other dates.

The downloaded zipped file can be opened with standard zipping software, such as WinZip. If you are using Internet Explorer 6, the individual COR zip file may be combined into a larger zip. When you open the zipped file(s), you will find the following inside the contents:

- > All of the user-provided data for the DMR.
- > The legal certification statement displayed to the user during signing process.
- Hashes of any files that were attached to the DMR. NetDMR uses FIPS 140-2 to generate all hash values. This is the current approved FIPS certified standard.
- Metadata about any attached files such as name and type
- > A submission receipt, which includes the following:
  - $\checkmark$  The DMR submission confirmation number
  - $\checkmark$  The hash of the data document
  - $\checkmark$  The date and time of the DMR submission
  - ✓ Identifying information from the signing account, including: the user's full name, account login, email address, and hashed password (at time of signing), and IP address of the submitting computer.

The first step in viewing downloaded CORs is to open the master COR file that you downloaded extract all zipped file contents into a directory of your choosing. Each of these extracted zipped files is a COR. Open one of these files and extract the three main files along with any attachments that were included with the DMR. The three main files are as follows:

- dmrSubmission.xml this file contains all of the user entered data for the DMR submission.
- DischargeMonitoringReport.xsl this is a stylesheet that will format the dmrSubmission.xml file to look like the NetDMR DMR View page for easy viewing when viewed in a web browser.
- submissionReceipt.xml this file documents when the DMR was submitted, by whom, and with what electronic hashing algorithm.

It is easy to view the DMR data is to view the dmrSubmission.xml file using a web browser such as Microsoft Internet Explorer or Mozilla Firefox. When opened in this way, the web browser will automatically format the data based on the stylesheet file

Be sure to extract dmrSubmission.xml and dischargeMonitoringReport.xsl from a COR zipped file into the same directory.



dischargeMonitroingReport.xsl. Note that the web browser will NOT be able to locate the stylesheet if the user does not first unzip all of the contents of the zip file into the same directory. The user may choose to also view the XML data directly in any text editor of their choice.

Any attachments that were uploaded for the DMR prior to signing will also be included in the COR files. These files have the names supplied by the person who uploaded them and can be in almost any format. NetDMR will not convert these files so it is up to the user to figure out how best to work with these files.

Here are the instructions for downloading CORs:

- 1. Log into your NetDMR account as a Permittee User or Data Provider.
- Search for a COR and download it using the *DMR Copy of Record* page (see Section 5.3.2 for instructions on search and viewing a COR) and click on Download COR, OR

Search for a COR and download it by selecting the "Download COR" option from the Next Steps drop down

OR

Search for CORs and download one or more using the *DMR/COR Search Results* page (see Section 5.3 for instructions on search and viewing a COR), then:

a. Click on  $\square$  to check the box in this column for each DMR desired OR

Click on Check All within the Include in Batch COR Download column header to select all DMRs listed

- b. Click on Pownload Checked CORs.
- c. If you did not check any boxes an error message will appear:



If this occurs, repeat Steps a and b.

3. The File Download popup window will appear:







- 4. Click on Save to continue, or click on Cancel to return to the previous page.
- 5. The Windows *Save As* dialog will appear. Click on the **Save In** drop down box and select a location to save the file into, then click on Save to save the file to a location you designate, or click on Cancel to return to the *Search COR Results* page.



6. The Download complete window will appear:

Download complete	_	
Download Complete		
cor_zips_1238110562597.zip from n	etdmrtest.epacdx.net	
Downloaded: 10.3KB in 1 sec Download to:\netdmr_cor_zip: Transfer rate: 10.3KB/Sec	s_1238110562597.zip	
Close this dialog box when downloa	d completes	
Open	Open Folder Close	e

7. When the "Download Complete" message appears, click on **Close** to return to the previous page.

### 5.3.4. Viewing a COR's Certification

You can view the Signatory's certification statement used to sign the COR using the COR Certification Statement page.





lanage .ccess Requ	iests All Per Usi	arch In DMRs & CORs P rmits C ers C	erform Import heck Results	View Down Permits Blank Users	DMR Form 🛛 📽 Sest	sion Lockout Time	
COR C	ertificati	ion Statement	wing certificatio	in statement when submi	tting this copy of record.		
an Dutton (							
Permit ID	Facility	Permitted Feature	Discharge #	Discharge Description	Monitoring Period End Date	DMR Due Date	Submission Date/Tim
ran Dutton ( Permit ID MG298885 Cortify und pualified per	Facility UNKNOWN fer penalty of sonnel prope	Permitted Feature 003 law that this submit	Discharge # 003-A sion was prep ate the information	Discharge Description BRAZOS A39 ared under my direction stom submitted. Based	Nenitoring Period End Date 2009-06-30 or supervision in accordance on my inquiry of the person o	DHR Due Date 2009-07-28 with a system d r persons who m	Submission Date/Tin 10/09/00 1:40 CDT esigned to assure tha anage the system, or

Figure 5-11:COR Certification Statement Page

This page displays the following information for a COR:

- > The name of the user that signed and submitted the DMR
- > Identifying information for the DMR, including:
  - ✓ Permit ID
  - ✓ Facility
  - ✓ Permitted Feature
  - ✓ Discharge #
  - ✓ Discharge Description
  - ✓ Monitoring Period End Date
  - ✓ DMR Due Date
  - ✓ Submission Date/Time
- > The certification statement that the users attested to at the time of signature

To access the COR Certification Statement page:

- 1. Log into your NetDMR account as a Permittee User or Data Provider.
- 2. Search for a COR and view it using the *DMR Copy of Record* page (see Section 5.3 for instructions on search and viewing a COR).
- 3. Click on 💜 View Certification .
- 4. The *COR Certification Statement* page will be displayed.
- 5. When you are finished viewing this page, click on Back to return to the *DMR Copy of Record* page.

### 5.3.5. Viewing a COR Signature

You can view the digital signature that was generated by NetDMR and used for signing the COR by accessing the *COR Signature* page from the *DMR Copy of Record* page:





RS Partial -DC-MD-VA		Usernetdmitestö@yahoo.com. Permittee User
e	NetDMR	KS Partial -DC-MD-VA
e		
	COR Signature	
	COR Signature	
		Bac

Figure 5-12:COR Signature Page

To access the *COR Signature* page:

- 1. Log into your NetDMR account as a Permittee User or Data Provider.
- 2. Search for a COR and view it using the *DMR Copy of Record* page (see Section 5.3 for instructions on search and viewing a COR).
- 3. Click on **View COR Signature**.
- 4. The COR Signature page will be displayed. The entire signature may be viewed by scrolling to the right.
- 5. When finished, click on Back to return to the *DMR Copy of Record* page.

## 5.3.6. Downloading a COR's Signature Public Key

NetDMR uses asymmetric key cryptography for the digital signatures applied to CORs, This type of cryptography includes both a public key and a private key. NetDMR digitally encrypts and signs the COR with the private key, and decrypts the COR with the public key. You can download the public key used for decrypting the digital signature for a COR from the *DMR Copy of Record* page.

To do this:

- 1. Log into your NetDMR account as a Permittee User or Data Provider.
- 2. Search for a COR and view it using the *DMR Copy of Record* page (see Section 5.3 for instructions on search and viewing a COR).
- 3. Click on ধ Download COR Sig. Public Key
- 4. The File Download popup window will appear:

	1 11
File Do	wnload
Do yo	J want to open or save this file?
1000 E	Name: publicKey.txt
	Type: Text Document, 326 bytes
	From: netdmrtst.tceq.state.tx.us
	Open Save Cancel
2	While files from the Internet can be useful, some files can potentially harm your computer. If you do not trust the source, do not open or save this file. <u>What's the risk?</u>
ck on Op	to view the Signature Key in a text editor window,







Click on Save to save the public key as an ASCII text file. 5. The Save As popup window will appear:



- 6. Click on the Save In drop down box and select a drive/directory to save the file into.
- 7. Click on Save to save the file, or click on Cancel to return to the *DMR Copy* of *Record* page.
- 8. The Download complete popup window will appear:

Download com	plete	_ 🗆 🗙
Down	load Complete	
Saved:		
publicKey.txt from	netdmrtst.tceq.state.tx.us	
Downloaded:	326 bytes in 1 sec	
Download to:	C:\Outbound to DM WG\publicKey.txt	
Transfer rate:	326 bytes/Sec	
🔲 Close this dialo	g box when download completes	
	Open Open Folder	Close

9. When the popup displays the message "Download Complete", click on Close





A blank window will be displayed when using this feature. Close it before returning to the *DMR/COR Search Results* page by selecting File/Close from the Windows menu on the blank window, or by clicking on in the upper right corner of the blank window.

# 5.4. Download a Blank DMR

You can view and download a blank DMR form to print off, fill out and return to the proper regulatory authority by following these steps:

- 1. Log into your NetDMR account as a Permittee User or Data Provider. The home page will be displayed.
- 2. Click on Blank DMR Form within the gray **Download** tab.
- 3. A portable document format (PDF) version of the blank DMR form is displayed as two pages.
- 4. Click on 🖑 to view the next page of the DMR, then click on 🗣 to view all pages of the DMR.
- 5. Click on  $\square$  to print the form.
- 6. Click on 🛅 to save the form on your computer.
  - ✓ When the Windows "Save a Copy as" dialog window opens, enter a file name
  - ✓ Click on Save to save the PDF, or click on Cancel to return to the PDF.
- 7. Click on in the upper right corner of the PDF window to close the form and return to the home page.





# Appendix A. Subscriber Agreement

In order to submit DMRs to ICIS using NetDMR, a Signatory must print off the Subscriber Agreement form generated by NetDMR at the time they request a Signatory role for one or more permits, sign the Subscriber Agreement in ink, and mail it to the Regulatory Authority using the mailing address listed at the bottom of the Agreement form.



Regulatory Authority will not approve a Signatory request before having received the requestor's signed Subscriber Agreement in the mail.

There may be times when a Signatory changes their name. They will need to change their name in NetDMR and print off a new Subscriber Agreement with their new name displayed, then sign and mail it into the Regulatory Authority using the mailing address listed at the bottom of the Agreement form.

#### NetDMR Subscriber Agreement Instructions Page This form can be used for permits issued by: <<i nsert name of Agency>>

#### Purpose

The NetDMR Subscriber Agreement should be used by Clean Water Act National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit holders that would like to apply to submit Discharge Monitoring Reports (DMRs) electronically, or change/update your reporting status information from a previously-submitted application. Submission of DMRs electronically is an alternative to using paper forms to fulfill the reporting requirements of the CWA NPDES program pursuant to 40 CFR 122.41(l)(4).

#### Basic Information on Who Should Fill Out the Subscriber Agreement

- To request use of electronic reporting for DMR information, the person that is authorized to sign discharge monitoring reports (DMRs) as described in 40CFR 122.22 (a) must sign this document as the Signatory Authority in Section E of this document.
- If the Signatory Authority (named in Section E) plans to electronically sign DMRs submitted through NetDMR, then this person will also sign as the Subscriber (named in Section F).
- If the Signatory Authority plans to have someone else sign and submit the electronic DMRs, then this individual must be a duly authorized represented as described in 40CFR 122.22(b) and the duly authorized representative must sign as the Subscriber (see Section F).
- If a Signatory Authority has more than one NPDES permit for which they are responsible, and the regulatory authority allows multiple permits on a single Subscriber Agreement, then this document allows the signatory authority to list multiple permits on a single Subscriber Agreement as long as the Subscriber is the same person for all the multiple permits listed.
- If the authority to electronically sign for a permit is to be delegated to multiple Subscribers, then each Subscriber needs to submit and sign a separate Subscriber Agreement.
- This Subscriber Agreement cannot be used to register multiple permits that are issued by different regulatory authorities.




### Where to Submit

Print and mail the completed subscriber agreement below to your Clean Water Act permitting authority for their review at the address below. You should retain a hard copy. <</ >

### Questions?

For help or questions please contact the <<Regulatory Name>> at <<phone>> or <<email>>. You will receive a confirmation email from <<insert email address of NetDMR>> when your application has been processed and approved. Thank you for helping us reduce paper use by choosing to electronically submit your DMRs.

Key to Color Coding in this Document (this is not part of the subscriber agreement, but is to help permitting authorities understand how the form is populated):

- Green: Entered by the user during the account creation process
- *Red:* Selected or entered by the user during the signatory request process
- Pink: Entered by a System Administrator as part of the instance creation and customization process.
- *Gray: Data retrieved from the basic permit data flow*
- Black text: Static text included in the subscriber agreement.
- Purple: To be completed manually after subscriber agreement is printed





Agency: <<*insert name of Agency>>* Subscriber Agreement Number: << *Auto Generated 36 digit Hexadecimal number >>* Generated On: <<*Auto generated date>>* Account Reference: << *user account number>>* 

### A. Subscriber Information

The Subscriber is the individual that intends to sign DMRs and signs this subscriber agreement in Section F.

User Name:	
Subscriber Name:	
Organization:	
Email Address:	
Phone Number:	

### **B.** Permit Information

Signing privileges are requested for the following permit(s):

Permit ID	Facility	Facility Address	Relationship	Authorized By
	Name			
TX0002440	ABC Steel	123 County Road Steelville, TX 34000	The Facility	Self
TX0000014	AAA Waste	123 North Road	Parent	Jane Doe
		Steelville TX 34500	Company	

This request is (check one):

NEW: the first request by this facility to use NetDMR reporting.

REQUEST FOR REACTIVATION: a re-activation of NetDMR reporting for a facility that had discontinued using NetDMR

CONTINUATION WITH NEW AUTHORIZATION: an updated subscriber agreement submitted because the signatory authority and/or subscriber at the facility has changed

RENEWAL: an updated form submitted when a permit application is submitted Permit ID(s): \_\_\_\_\_\_

INACTIVATION: Explain reason for inactivation in the box below and identify whether the inactivation is temporary or permanent Permit ID(s):

Notes to Permitting Authority (Optional unless Inactivating):





## C. Terms and Conditions

- PURPOSE: The intent of this agreement is to create legally binding obligations upon the parties using the specified data transmission protocols and the NetDMR Reporting System, to ensure that the Certifier (in this document, "Certifier" refers to signers of this document -- both the Signatory Authority, and the Subscriber) agrees to: (i) Maintain the confidentiality and protect the electronic signature from unauthorized use or compromise, and follow any procedures specified by the Regulatory Authority for this purpose; (ii) Be held as legally bound, obligated, or responsible by use of the assigned electronic signature as by hand-written signature.
- VALIDITY AND ENFORCEABILITY: This Agreement has been executed by the parties to evidence their mutual intent to follow Regulatory Authority procedures to create binding regulatory reporting documents using electronic transmission and receipt of such records, consistent with the provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 3. Acceptance and execution of this agreement by the Regulatory Authority shall be evidenced by the issuance of a personal identification number (PIN) to the Certifier. Consistent with 40 C.F.R. Part 3 electronic signatures under this agreement shall have the same force and effect as a written signature. Pen and ink signatures will remain on file with the Regulatory Authority.
- RECEIPT: A Document shall be deemed to have been received by the Regulatory Authority when it is accessible by the Regulatory Authority, can be fully processed and is syntactically correct to the specified electronic transfer protocol that may be modified from time to time by the Regulatory Authority. No Document shall satisfy any reporting requirement or be of any legal effect until it is received.

3.1 COMPLIANCE TRACKING: The Certifier understands that upon activation of the NetDMR account, EPA's database will be expecting to receive electronic transmission of DMR data at the interval specified in the permit. If the database does not receive the DMR from the Certifier at the expected time, the database will flag the DMR as being in non-receipt. If the Certifier chooses to discontinue using NetDMR and return to using paper forms, the Certifier must complete, sign, and submit to the regulatory authority a new subscriber agreement with the "Inactivation" check box selected. If the regulatory authority does not receive this form, it is likely that the system will continue to produce "non-receipt" flags (indicating reporting violations).

- VERIFICATION: Upon receipt of a Document, NetDMR shall process the Document to make it accessible to the Regulatory Authority and the Certifier. The Certifier is responsible for the content of each transmission, in accordance with the associated certification statement, and for reviewing the accuracy of the processed document in accordance with the associated certification statement, and for reviewing the accuracy of the processed document information and as made available by the NetDMR system.
- SIGNATURE: The Certifier shall adopt as its electronic signature any Personal Identification Number (PIN) assigned by the Regulatory Authority following acceptance of this Agreement. The Certifier agrees that any such Signature affixed to or associated with any transmitted Document shall be sufficient to verify such party originated and possessed the requisite authority both to originate the transaction and to verify the accuracy of the content, in the format of the specified NetDMR transmission protocol or otherwise, at the time of transmittal. The Certifier also expressly agrees that each report it submits by using its PIN constitutes their agreement with the associated certification statement.
- SECURITY: The parties shall take reasonable actions to implement and maintain security procedures necessary to ensure the protection of transmissions against the risk of unauthorized access, alteration, loss or destruction including, but not limited to: protecting the secrecy of passwords and electronic signatures and transmitting only files in an acceptable protocol.
- USE OF PIN: Each Certifier shall be either the permittee or a person identified by the permittee as a representative authorized for signatory purposes by the permittee for each facility, person, or



other entity for which information is being reported. If a PIN has been compromised or where there is evidence of potential compromise, it will be automatically or manually suspended. In addition, the Regulatory Authority will inactivate or revoke a PIN where the Certifier is no longer an authorized representative. Each Certifier expressly agrees that the Regulatory Authority may act immediately and unilaterally in any decision to suspend, inactivate, revoke, or otherwise disallow use of a PIN by any Certifier, where the Regulatory Authority believes that such action is necessary to ensure the authenticity, integrity or general security of transmissions or records, or where there are any actual or apparent violations of this agreement.

- INABILITY TO TRANSMIT OR FILE REPORTS ELECTRONICALLY: No party shall be liable for any failure to perform its obligations in connection with any Electronic Transaction or any Electronic Document, where such failure results from any act or cause beyond such party's control which prevents such party from electronically transmitting or receiving any Documents, except that the Certifier is nonetheless required to submit records or information required by law via other means, as provided by applicable law and with the time period provided by such law.
- CONTINUATION OF OPERATIONS: In the event that electronic submission of DMR data is not possible, it is the responsibility of the certifier to submit paper copies in accordance with the requirements of the authorizing permit. Failure to submit DMR data by the date required by the permit is a violation and will be recorded as such.
- SEVERABILITY: Any provision of the Agreement which is determined to be invalid or unenforceable will be ineffective to the extent of such determination without invalidating the remaining provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of such remaining provisions.
- TERMINATION AND RENEWAL: The agreement may be terminated by either party. Upon termination of this agreement, the associated ability to submit electronic information through NetDMR will also terminate. This subscriber agreement becomes effective upon notification of approval by the Regulatory Authority to the Certifier (which may be either/or an automated message from the NetDMR software, or separate notification). The regulatory authority will normally provide notification of the effective date, but if no date is provided, the effective date is the next reporting cycle following the notification. The subscriber agreement will continue until modified by mutual consent or unless terminated with 60 days written notice by any party. The permittee must resubmit this form at the time that a new permit application is submitted or when permit responsibility transfers from one entity to another. This subscriber agreement should be periodically reviewed and amended or revised when required. The requirements of this subscriber agreement may, eventually, be incorporated into the NPDES permit so that they would be renewed at the time of each discharge permit reissuance. The regulatory authority reserves the right to approve or disapprove this subscriber agreement.
- GOVERNING LAW: This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with 40 CFR 122, 40 CFR 3, and other applicable state provisions.
- AGREEMENT:

5.5. I agree:

- To protect my account and password from compromise, not allow anyone else to use my account, and not share my password with any other person;
- To change my password if I believe it becomes known to any other person;
- To promptly report to Regulatory Authority any evidence of the loss, theft, or other compromise of my account or password not later than one business day;
- To notify Regulatory Authority, in writing, if I terminate my employment, am reassigned or any other change in my status that causes me to cease to be a certifier represent any of the requested sites for the organization's electronic reports to NetDMR. Notification should occur as soon as this change occurs.
- To review, in a timely manner, the email and onscreen acknowledgements and copies of documents submitted through my account to NetDMR;





- To report any evidence of discrepancy between the document submitted, and what NetDMR received;
- That in no event will Regulatory Authority be liable to me or my employer for any special, consequential, indirect or similar damages, including any lost profits or lost data arising out of the use or inability to use the software or of any data supplied therewith even if Regulatory Authority or anyone else has been advised of the possibility of such damages, or for any claim by any other party. Regulatory Authority disclaims all warranties, express or implied, including but not limited to implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose, with respect to the software and the accompanying written materials

### <<add state conditions here>>

I understand that I will be held as legally bound, obligated, and responsible by the electronic signature created as by a handwritten signature.

### **D. Inactivation/Removal**

Permittee must indicate reason for inactivation in Section B of the form. This is done to inform the regulatory authority whether the permittee is switching back to paper DMRs, is no longer in business, or has a temporary reason for inactivation.

### **E.** Signatory Authorization

The signatory authority is the appropriate individual identified under 40 CFR 122.22 with the authority to sign permit applications, reports, and other permit-required submittals (e.g., DMRs).

#### Permit ID(s): TX0000014

I, Jane Doe, have the authority to enter into this Agreement for AAA Waste and Permit ID TX0000014 under the applicable standards. I request Regulatory Authority grant John Smith the ability to submit DMRs for Permit ID TX0000014.

Signatory Authority SignaturePresidentTitleDate

### F. Subscriber Signature

The subscriber is the NetDMR user that submits this agreement to request to electronically sign DMRs. The subscriber is given signatory authority to sign reports and other information (e.g. DMRs) either under 40 CFR 122.22(a) or is delegated signatory authority by the individual(s) identified as the signatory authority in Section E of this agreement [See 40 CFR 122.22(b)].

#### Permit ID: TX0002440

I, John Smith, have the authority to enter into this Agreement for ABC Steel and Permit ID TX0002440 under the applicable standards.

#### Permit ID: TX0000014

I, John Smith, am authorized by the signatory authority named in Part E of this document, who does have the authority under the applicable standards, to enter into this agreement for AAA Waste and Permit ID TX0000014.





By submitting this application to Regulatory Authority I, John Smith, have read, understand, and accept the terms and conditions of this subscriber agreement. I certify under penalty of law that I have personally examined and am familiar with the information submitted in this application and all attachments and that, based on my inquiry of those persons immediately responsible for obtaining the information contained in the application, I believe that the information is true, accurate and complete. I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment.

Subscriber Signature

Date

Print this form, save a copy for your records, and mail to: <</insert regulatory authority mailing address>>>

Checklist - Permitting Authority Use Only:

Check		Name	Date
	Form Received by		
	Verified ICIS-NPDES Permit Limits		
	Regulatory Authority Approves NetDMR		
	Authorization		
	ICIS-NPDES NetDMR Flag Populated		
	User Approved in NetDMR Application		
	Notification to User		
	Inactivated?		





# **Appendix B. Import DMR File Format**

Files to be imported into NetDMR can not be larger than twenty (20) megabytes (MB) in size and must be based on the CSV specification outlined by the Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF) at <u>http://tools.ietf.org/html/rfc4180</u>.

- 1. Any line in the file beginning with the pound sign (#) is treated as a comment and will be ignored by the import.
- 2. The data for each parameter is located on a separate line, delimited by a line break (CRLF). For example:

aaa,bbb,ccc CRLF zzz,yyy,xxx CRLF

3. The last record in the file may or may not have an ending line break. For example:

aaa,bbb,ccc CRLF zzz,yyy,xxx

4. A header line must appear as the first line of the file with the same format as normal record lines. This header contains names corresponding to the fields in the file and contains the same number of fields as the records in the rest of the file. For example:

field\_name,field\_name,field\_name CRLF aaa,bbb,ccc CRLF zzz,yyy,xxx CRLF

5. Within the header and each record, there can be one or more fields, separated by commas. Each line should contain the same number of fields throughout the file. Spaces are considered part of a field and should not be ignored. The last field in the record must not be followed by a comma. For example:

aaa,bbb,ccc

6. Each field may or may not be enclosed in double quotes. If fields are not enclosed with double quotes, then double quotes can not appear inside the fields. If surrounding double quotes are used, the initial double quote must immediately follow the comma delimiter separating the field from the previous field and the final double quote must immediately precede the comma separating the field from the next field. For example:

"aaa","bbb","ccc" CRLF zzz,yyy,xxx





"aaa","b,bb","ccc" CRLF zzz,yyy,xxx

7. If double-quotes are used to enclose fields, then a double-quote appearing inside a field must be escaped by preceding it with another double quote. For example:

"aaa","b""quoted""b","ccc"

8. Fields that do not contain any data can either be surrounded in double quotes or be empty. For example,
"a","b","c" CRLF
a,,c CRLF
a,"",c







# **Appendix C. Import DMR File Specifications**

The Import DMR File Specifications Table lists information on the fields that can be submitted within the comma delimited file. These fields are listed in the order in which they must appear for each row within the import file. There are two file layouts for importing DMR data. The first file layout is used when the entire DMR form has a "No Data" value entered. (ie No Discharge) The second file is for all other reported data. Templates are available for your use which can be found at our website, <u>www.epa.gov/netdmr</u>, click on the link "About NetDMR – for Permittees, and scroll to find the link to the Import files.

Form Level "No Data" - value entered applies to all parameters in that limit set.

	Import DMR File Specifications									
#	Grouping	Header	Short Description	Full Description	Example	Туре	Required			
1	DMR	Permit_id	NPDES id(s)	The alphanumeric NPDES id assigned by a permit issuing organization to identify a permittee.	NM0022250	Alphanumeric string 9 characters	Y			
2		permitted_feature_id	Permitted Feature ID	The alphanumeric identifier or name assigned by a permit issuing organization to identify a permitted unit, feature, or process	LVW	alphanumeric string 100 characters or less	Y			
3	DMR	limit_set_txt	Limit Set Designator	The unique identifier for a particular grouping of limits for a given outfall or discharge point for reporting purposes	А	alphanumeric string 50 characters or less	у			
4		mped_txt	Monitoring Period End Date (yyyy-mm-dd)	The Monitoring Period End Date (MPED) for a given DMR.	2008-03-31	Date in YYYY- MM-DD Format	у			
5	Form NODI	form_nodi_cd	NODI Code	The unique code identifying the NODI code at form level	С	Alphanumeric string 1 character				

All other data is reported using this format with the exception of form level data which is displayed above.

	Import DMR File Specifications									
#	Grouping	Header	Short Description	Full Description	Example	Туре	Required			
1	DMR	Permit_id	NPDES id(s)	The alphanumeric NPDES id assigned by a permit issuing organization to identify a permittee.	NM0022250	Alphanumeric string 9 characters	Y			
2	DMR	permitted_feature_id	Permitted Feature ID	The alphanumeric identifier or name assigned by a permit issuing organization to identify a permitted unit, feature, or process	LVW	alphanumeric string 100 characters or less	у			



	Import DMR File Specifications								
#	Grouping	Header	Short Description	Full Description	Example	Туре	Required		
3		limit_set_txt	Limit Set Designator	The unique identifier for a particular grouping of limits for a given outfall or discharge point for reporting purposes	А	alphanumeric string 50 characters or less	у		
4	Form	mped_txt	Monitoring Period End Date (yyyy-mm- dd)	The Monitoring Period End Date (MPED) for a given DMR.	2008-03-31	Date in YYYY-MM- DD Format	у		
5	NODI	form_nodi_cd	NODI Code	The unique code identifying the NODI code at form level			This column should be blank		
6	Parameter	parameter_cd	Parameter Code	The unique code identifying the parameter within the pollutant	TRB6J	string 5 characters or less	у		
7		monitor_location_cd	Monitoring Location Code	The code that the monitoring location at which the monitoring requirement (and effluent limit if limited) applies.	RW	string 3 characters or less	у		
8	Quant 1	season_num	Season Number	Unique number between 0 and 12 inclusive that identifies a particular seasonal limit for the same parameter within a single limit start and end date.	1	Integer between 1 and 12 inclusive	у		
9		quant_1_nodi_cd	Quantity 1 Nodi Code	The unique code for no discharge indicator values of DMR	W	string 3 characters or less			
10		quant_1_qualifier_txt	Quantity 1 Qualifier Text	The qualifier of the numeric condition. It specifies whether the condition is greater than, less than, and/or equal to the NumericConditionValue. This field may also indicate if the value is estimated (E) or too numerous to count (T) when applicable.	=	one of: =,<=,=>,<,>,T,E			
11	Quant 2	quant_ 1_sample_num	Quantity 1 Sample Value	Value	3.75	Number, not more than 8 characters including decimal point and +/- sign but excluding comma separators. Maximum of 7 digits to the right of the decimal point.			



	Import DMR File Specifications							
#	Grouping	Header	Short Description	Full Description	Example	Туре Requi	ired	
12		quant_1_effluent_num	Quantity 1 Effluent Value	Value	3.75	Number, not more than 8 characters including decimal point and +/- sign but excluding comma separators. Maximum of 7 digits to the right of the decimal point.		
13		quant_2_nodi_cd	Quantity 2 Nodi Code	The unique code for no discharge indicator values of DMR	W	String 3 characters or less		
14		quant_2_qualifier_txt	Quantity 2 Qualifier Text	The qualifier of the numeric condition. It specifies whether the condition is greater than, less than, and/or equal to the NumericConditionValue. This field may also indicate if the value is estimated (E) or too numerous to count (T) when applicable.	=	One of: =,<=,=>,<,>,T,E		
15	Quant UOM	quant_2_sample_num	Quantity 2 Sample Value	Value	3.75	Number, not more than 8 characters including decimal point and +/- sign but excluding comma separators. Maximum of 7 digits to the right of the decimal point.		
16		quant_2_effluent_num	Quantity 2 Effluent Value	Value	3.75	Number, not more than 8 characters including decimal point and +/- sign but excluding comma separators. Maximum of 7 digits to the right of the decimal point.		
17		quant_uom_cd	Quantity Unit Of Measure Code	Unit of measure abbreviation	MBTU/hr	String 15 characters or less		
18	Conc 1	conc_1_nodi_cd	Concentration 1 Nodi Code	The unique code for no discharge indicator values of DMR	W	String 3 characters or less		



	Import DMR File Specifications							
#	Grouping	Header	Short Description	Full Description	Example	Туре	Required	
19		conc_1_qualifier_txt	Concentration 1 Qualifier Text	The qualifier of the numeric condition. It specifies whether the condition is greater than, less than, and/or equal to the NumericConditionValue. This field may also indicate if the value is estimated (E) or too numerous to count (T) when applicable.	=	One of: =,<=,=>,<,>,T,E		
20		conc_1_sample_num	Concentration 1 Sample Value	Value	3.75	Number, not more than 8 characters including decimal point and +/- sign but excluding comma separators. Maximum of 7 digits to the right of the decimal point.		
21	Conc 2	conc_1_effluent_num	Concentration 1 Effluent Value	Value	3.75	Number, not more than 8 characters including decimal point and +/- sign but excluding comma separators. Maximum of 7 digits to the right of the decimal point.		
22		conc_2_nodi_cd	Concentration 2 Nodi Code	The unique code for no discharge indicator values of DMR	W	String 3 characters or less		
23		conc_2_qualifier_txt	Concentration 2 Qualifier Text	The qualifier of the numeric condition. It specifies whether the condition is greater than, less than, and/or equal to the NumericConditionValue. This field may also indicate if the value is estimated (E) or too numerous to count (T) when applicable.	=	One of: =,<=,=>,<,>,T,E		
24	Conc UOM	conc_2_sample_num	Concentration 2 Sample Value	Value	3.75	Number, not more than 8 characters including decimal point and +/- sign but excluding comma separators. Maximum of 7 digits to the right of the decimal point.		





				Import DMR File Specifications			
#	Grouping	Header	Short Description	Full Description	Example	Туре	Required
25		conc_2_effluent_num	Concentration 2 Effluent Value	Value	3.75	Number, not more than 8 characters including decimal point and +/- sign but excluding comma separators. Maximum of 7 digits to the right of the decimal point.	
26		conc_3_nodi_cd	Concentration 3 Nodi Code	The unique code for no discharge indicator values of DMR	W	String 3 characters or less	
27		conc_3_qualifier_txt	Concentration 3 Qualifier Text	The qualifier of the numeric condition. It specifies whether the condition is greater than, less than, and/or equal to the NumericConditionValue. This field may also indicate if the value is estimated (E) or too numerous to count (T) when applicable.	=	One of: =,<=,=>,<,>,T,E	
28		conc_3_sample_num	Concentration 3 Sample Value	Value	3.75	Number, not more than 8 characters including decimal point and +/- sign but excluding comma separators. Maximum of 7 digits to the right of the decimal point.	
29	Additional	conc_3_effluent_num	Concentration 3 Effluent Value	Value	3.75	Number, not more than 8 characters including decimal point and +/- sign but excluding comma separators. Maximum of 7 digits to the right of the decimal point.	
30		conc_uom_cd	Concentration Unit Of Measure Code	Unit of measure abbreviation	MBTU/hr	String 15 characters or less	
31		excursions_num	Number of reported excursions	Number of reported excursions	2	Integer 0 or above	
32		freq_analysis_cd	Frequency of Analysis Code	The code that indicates the frequency with which the permittee must analyze the sampled data. The general format is XX/YY where XX= number of times sampled and YY = period of time sampled	01/8H	String 15 characters or less	у



	Import DMR File Specifications										
#	Grouping	Header	Short Description	Full Description	Example	Туре	Required				
33		sample_type_cd	Sample Type Code	The code that is the sampling method required by the permit to be used to provide measurement values on the DMR	СТ	String 3 characters or less	у				
34		Param_nodi_cd	NODI Code	The unique code identifying the NODI code at parameter level	С	Alphanumeric string 1 character					





# **Appendix D. ICIS DMR Processing Error Messages**

This appendix provides error and warning messages that may occur when a DMR is processed by ICIS-NPDES with an explanation of what caused them and hints on how to fix them.

Error/Warning Code	Error/Warning Message	Cause of the Error	Resolution
DMR020	User <user id=""> does not have privileges to perform a <transaction type&gt; DMR transaction.</transaction </user>	NetDMR is using an ICIS ID that does not have privileges to accept DMRs.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR030	A DMR Form does not exist and cannot be created for the key data entered.	If Limit Set Type for the submitted DMR equals Scheduled, a DMR Form with values matching Permit Identifier, PF ID, LSD, and MPED must already exist in ICIS.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator and have them check to make sure the limit is in ICIS.
DMR045	The DMR only contains key data and no other data for processing.	If the DMR contains only key data and no other data, ICIS rejects the DMR.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR047	All parameters cannot be blanked out because the DMR Form is linked to a Program Report or has Auxiliary Data.	All parameters for a DMR Form cannot be blanked out if the DMR Form is linked to a Program Report or has Auxiliary Data.	Remove data from all principal executive officer and comment fields, then resubmit the DMR.
DMR050	Form NODI cannot be entered because at least one DMR Value exists for the DMR Form.	If Form NODI data (DMR No Discharge Indicator, DMR No Discharge Received Date) are submitted, no received DMR Values may exist for the Form.	Make sure each quantity or concentration has either a value or a NODI – not both at the same time, then resubmit the DMR.
DMR060	DMR No Discharge Indicator <value> does not exist in the ICIS reference table.</value>	Form NODI Code must be a valid (i.e., Active) code in the REF_NODI table.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR070	DMR No Discharge Received Date <date> entered must be less than or equal to the current date.</date>	Form NODI Received Date must be less than or equal to the current date.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR073	An asterisk (*) cannot be entered for DMR No Discharge Received Date because at least one DMR Value exists for the DMR Form.	All Received Dates on a DMR Form cannot be blanked out if any received values exist for the DMR Form.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR076	<ol> <li>DMR No Discharge Received Date must be entered because DMR No Discharge Indicator has been entered.</li> <li>DMR No Discharge Indicator must be entered because DMR No Discharge Received Date has been entered.</li> </ol>	If Form NODI Code is entered, Form NODI Received Date must also be entered, and vice versa.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.





Error/Warning Code	Error/Warning Message	Cause of the Error	Resolution
DMR080	A Parameter does not exist that matches the data entered.	For each Parameter, the DMR Parameter Key (Parameter Code, Monitoring Location Code, Season ID) must exist in ICIS.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator and have them check to make sure the limit is in ICIS.
DMR090	(Report Sample Type Text: <value>) or (Reporting Frequency Code: <value>) or Report Number of Excursions: <value>) cannot be entered unless valid data has been entered for at least one Numeric Condition Quantity or T has been entered for at least one Numeric Condition Qualifier for this parameter. In the message above, all XML tags that may have this error are listed in parentheses. Only the tags for which this error occurs will be included in the actual error message.</value></value></value>	If any of the following are entered for a parameter: • Sample Type • Frequency of Analysis • Report Number of Excursions Then at least one DMR Value or T Qualifier must exist.	Enter at least one quantity or concentration value, or select a Qualifier of T for at least one quantity or concentration value.
DMR100	Reporting Frequency Code <value> entered does not exist in the ICIS reference table.</value>	Frequency of Analysis code entered must be a valid (i.e., Active) code in the REF_FREQUENCY_OF_ANALYSIS table.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR110	Report Sample Type Text <value> entered does not exist in the ICIS reference table.</value>	Sample Type code entered must be a valid (i.e., Active) code in the REF_SAMPLE_TYPE table.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR120	Numeric Report Code <value> has been entered more than one time for this parameter, and only one of each type of Numeric Report Code can be entered per unique parameter.</value>	For each unique Parameter entered, only one of each Value Type can be entered (i.e., only one Q1, one Q2, one C1, one C2, and one C3)	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR130	Numeric Report Code <value> entered for this parameter is not defined in the permit as expected data so cannot be entered in this DMR.</value>	For each unique Parameter Code entered, any Value Type (Q1-C3) entered must exist in the DMR Form (i.e., users cannot enter data for a parameter column that is not expected (defined in the permit with a corresponding limit that has a value or is req mon or opt mon))	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.





Error/Warning Code	Error/Warning Message	Cause of the Error	Resolution
DMR140	The following Numeric Report Received Date(s) must be less than or equal to the current date: value (column). For this error message, value and column will be listed for each column that has this error.	DMR Value Received Date must be less than or equal to the current date.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR150	The following Numeric Report Received Date(s) was entered but no Numeric Condition Quantity or Numeric Report No Discharge Indicator exists: value (column) For this error message, value and column will be listed for each column that has this error.	For every DMR Value Received Date, there must be a corresponding Value/Adjusted Value or NODI unless the Qualifier for the column equals T.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR160	The following was entered but a Numeric Condition Quantity does not exist: <column>: (Numeric Condition Adjusted Quantity: <value>, Numeric Condition Qualifier: <value>). For this error message, "<column>" will be replaced by the column that is causing the problem (e.g., Q1). In the message above, all XML tags that may have this error are listed in parentheses. Only the tags for which this error occurs will be included in the actual error message.</column></value></value></column>	If any of the following are entered for a Value Type: • Adjusted Value • Unit Code • Value Qualifier (except T or =) Then a DMR Value must exist for that Value Type.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.





Error/Warning Code	Error/Warning Message	Cause of the Error	Resolution
DMR105 DMR106 DMR107	DMR105: Quantity Numeric Report Unit Measure Code <value> exists, but no Quantity Numeric Report Quantity exists for the parameter.</value>	<ul> <li>A. If any Quantity Unit Code exists (i.e., Q1 Unit Code, Q2 Unit Code), at least one DMR Value must exist for Q1 or Q2.</li> <li>B. If any Concentration Unit Code exists (i.e., C1 Unit Code, C2 Unit Code, C3 Unit Code), at least one DMR Value must exist for C1, C2, or C3.</li> </ul>	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
	Concentration Numeric Report Unit Measure Code <value> exists, but no Concentration Numeric Report Quantity exists for the parameter.</value>		
	DMR107: Quantity Numeric Report Unit Measure Code <value> exists, but no Quantity Numeric Report Quantity exists for the parameter. Concentration Numeric Report Unit Measure Code <value> exists, but no Concentration Numeric Report Quantity exists for the parameter.</value></value>		
DMR170	The following Numeric Condition Adjusted Quantity(ies) was entered but a Trade Partner does not exist for the Limit and so the data cannot be entered for this DMR parameter: value (column). For this error message, value and column will be listed for each column that has this error.	Adjusted DMR Value can only be entered if a Trade Partner has been defined for the associated Limit (Parameter) on the Permit.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR180	The following Numeric Condition Quantity(ies) is negative, so the Numeric Condition Qualifier cannot be Less than (<): value (column). For this error message, value and column will be listed for each column that has this error.	If DMR Value is negative the associated Value Qualifier cannot be Less Than (<).	Enter a value greater than zero, or change the qualifier, then resubmit the DMR.





Error/Warning Code	Error/Warning Message	Cause of the Error	Resolution
DMR190	When a Numeric Condition Qualifier T is entered the following cannot be entered: <column> (Numeric Condition Quantity: <value>, Numeric Condition Adjusted Quantity: <value>, Numeric Report No Discharge Indicator: <value>) For this error message, "<column>" will be replaced by the column that is causing the problem (e.g., 1). In the message above, all XML tags that may have this error are listed in parentheses. Only the tags for which this error occurs will be included in the actual error message.</column></value></value></value></column>	If Value Qualifier = T, the following fields must be blank for that Value Type: DMR Value Adjusted DMR Value NODI	Either select a Qualifier other than T, or blank out the value and/or NODI fields, then resubmit the DMR.
DMR200	For Numeric Report Code(s) <value>, Numeric Condition Qualifier of T has been entered. The associated Limit's Unit Code does not have T listed as a valid qualifier. For this error message, value and column will be listed for each column that has this error.</value>	If T is entered as the Value Qualifier then the Unit Code for the associated Limit for that Value Type must have T listed as a valid qualifier for the Unit Code in the REF_UNIT table.	Either select a Qualifier other than T, or select the proper Unit Code, then resubmit the DMR.
DMR210	<ol> <li>When T is entered as the Numeric Condition Qualifier, Numeric Report Code must be entered.</li> <li>When T is entered as the Numeric Condition Qualifier, Numeric Report Received Date must be entered.</li> </ol>	If Value Qualifier = T the following fields are required: Value Type Value Received Date.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR220	Numeric Condition Quantity was entered but no Numeric Report Received Date exists for the following: value (column). For this error message, value and column will be listed for each column that has this error.	If a DMR Value is entered, DMR Value Received Date must exist for the specified Value Type.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.





Error/Warning Code	Error/Warning Message	Cause of the Error	Resolution
DMR240	Numeric Report No Discharge Indicator cannot be entered because no Numeric Report Received Date exists: value (columns). For this error message, value and column will be listed for each column that has this error.	If a Value NODI is entered, DMR Value Received Date must exist for the specified Value Type.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR250	When a Numeric Report No Discharge Indicator is entered the following cannot be entered: <column> (Numeric Condition Quantity: <value>, Numeric Condition Adjusted Quantity: <value>, Numeric Report No Discharge Indicator: <value>) For this error message, "<column>" will be replaced by the column that is causing the problem. In the message above, all XML tags that may have this error are listed in parentheses. Only the tags for which this error occurs will be included in the actual error message.</column></value></value></value></column>	If Value NODI is entered, the following cannot exist for the specified Value Type: DMR Value Adjusted DMR Value Value Qualifier (except =)	Make sure each quantity or concentration has either a value or a NODI – not both at the same time, then resubmit the DMR.
DMR260	Numeric Report No Discharge Indicator does not exist in the ICIS reference table for the following: value (column). For this error message, value and column will be listed for each column that has this error.	Value NODI must be a valid (i.e., Active) code in the REF_NODI table.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR270	The following Numeric Report Unit Measure(s) must be included in the Unit Group for the parameter: value (column). For this error message, value and column will be listed for each column that has this error.	Unit Code must be included in the Unit Group defined for the Parameter.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.





Error/Warning Code	Error/Warning Message	Cause of the Error	Resolution
DMR300	Warning: The following Numeric Condition Quantity(ies) has a Percent Exceedence greater than 500%: column. For this error message, value and column will be listed for each column that has this error.	If Percent Exceedence is greater than 500%, present a warning message to the user but save the data.	Check to make sure the value was entered correctly, then resubmit if changes were made.
DMR310	Data cannot exist for the following unless a valid Numeric Report Received Date exists for this DMR: (list all data elements, by section).	Data cannot be entered for General DMR Info, Land Application, Surface Disposal, Co-Disposal, and Incinerator unless one valid DMR Received Date exists.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR320	Signature Date <date> entered must be less than or equal to the current date.</date>	DMR Authorized Signatory Date must be less than or equal to the current date.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR400	A DMR Form matching the key data provided does not exist in ICIS.	In a delete DMR transaction, the specified DMR form must already exist in ICIS.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR410	The DMR Form cannot be deleted because it is linked to a Program Report.	A DMR Form cannot be deleted if it is linked to a Program Report.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.
DMR450	An error has occurred while processing the data for this DMR Form. No data were saved for this form, and the XML transaction must be resubmitted.	If Background Processing does not complete successfully, roll back all changes for the XML transaction.	Contact your NetDMR Internal Administrator.





# **Appendix E. NetDMR Error Messages**

This appendix lists error messages that may occur when entering or importing DMR data into NetDMR.

# **DMR Data Entry Error Messages**

- Hard Errors Hard errors must be resolved by editing the DMR. Possible hard error messages are:
  - ✓ A quantity or quality value can not be entered when the Too Numerous to Count (T) qualifier is selected.
  - ✓ A quantity or quality value NODI code can not be entered when the T qualifier is selected.
  - ✓ If a quantity or quality value is negative, the less than (<) qualifier can not be selected.</p>
  - $\checkmark$  You can not select both a quantity or quality value and a value NODI code.
  - ✓ Value fields may contain numbers and the special characters ".", "-" and "," only.
  - $\checkmark$  If an effluent trading sample value is entered, a sample value must be entered.
  - ✓ The number of excursions should be greater than zero. This error is displayed if a value less than zero is entered, a decimal number is entered, or characters other than a number is entered as an excursion.
- Soft Errors Soft errors may be resolved by editing the DMR or by acknowledging the errors in the errors summary. Possible soft error messages are:

Hard errors must be fixed before a DMR can be saved or submitted. Soft errors must be either fixed or acknowledged before a DMR can be saved or submitted.

- ✓ The selected units do not match the permit requirement units for this parameter. The provided quality or quantity value(s) may be outside the permit limit.
- ✓ The provided quantity or quality value is outside the permit limit. This soft error is displayed if any of the following apply:
- ✓ The value entered is outside the permit limit and the units of measure are the same as those listed in the permit. For example, the permit requirement is 2 mg/L and the entered value is 3 mg/L. Note: NetDMR does not perform unit conversions and will not display this soft error if it can only be determined after a conversion is completed.
- ✓ The user selects a qualifier opposite of the qualifier specified in the permit. A few examples include:
  - The permit requirement is  $\geq 20\%$  and the user enters < 20%.
  - The permit requirement is  $\geq 20\%$  and the user enters 19%.
  - The permit requirement is < 10 mg/L and the user enters 10 mg/L.
  - The permit requirement is < 10 mg/L and the user enters 11 mg/L.
- ✓ The number of excursions should be greater than zero. This soft error is displayed if all of the following apply: (1) the selected units match the permit units, AND (2) one or more of the entered values are outside the permit limit AND (3) excursions are null or zero. Note: NetDMR does not perform unit conversions and will not display this error if it can only be determined after a conversion is completed.





# **DMR Import Error Messages**

The table in this appendix lists error messages that may occur when importing DMRs into NetDMR.

If the import process detects a major issue with any of the data on a row (for example characters in a number field, values in fields without permit requirements, too many fields on a row), then it is designed to log the issue and not save any of that data on the row in order to preserve the integrity of the data that is saved to the database. Either all of the data in a row is saved or none of the data in a row is saved.

Error Type	Error Message
Concentration	The Concentration Unit Of Measure "XYZ" is not in the valid UOM listing for this
UOM	parameter.
Concentration	The Concentration Unit Of Measure is present but no Permit limit exists for either
UOM	Concentration.
DMR Not	
Found	No matching DMR record was found.
Error on Line	Error reading the line "X"
Excursion	
Number	The Excursion Number "X" is not greater then 0.
Excursion	
Number	The Excursion Number "X" is not a valid integer.
File Access	
Failed	Failed to access the uploaded file.
Freq of	
Analysis	The Frequency of Analysis Record "X" is not a valid code in NetDMR.
Insufficient	
Columns	Incorrect number of fields. There should be 31 fields
Limit Set ID	The Limit Set ID is a required field but was blank.
Limit Set ID	The Limit Set ID "X" is not valid for Permit "XYZ"
Limit Set ID	The Limit Set ID is "X" long and can only be 50 characters long.
Monitoring	
Location	The Monitoring Location is "X" long and can only be 3 characters long.
Monitoring	
Location	The Monitoring Location is a required field but was blank.
Monitoring	The Monitoring Location "XYZ" is not a valid Monitoring Location in the
Location	NetDMR system.
MP End Date	The Monitoring Period End Date "XYZ" is not valid for Permit "ABC"
MP End Date	The Monitoring Period End Date must be in YYYY-MM-DD format.
Parameter	
Code	The Parameter Code is a required field but was blank.
Parameter	
Code	The Parameter Code is "X" long and can only be 5 characters long.
Parameter	
Code	The Parameter Code "XYZ" is not a valid parameter in the NetDMR system.
Parameter	
Value	No matching parameter value was found.
Permitted	The permitted feature id is "X" long and can only be 100 characters long.





Error Type	Error Message
Feature ID	
Permitted	
Feature ID	The permitted feature "XYZ" is not valid for Permit "ABC"
Permitted	
Feature ID	The permitted feature is a required field but was blank.
Quantity	The Quantity Unit Of Measure "XYZ" is not in the valid UOM listing for this
UOM	parameter.
Quantity	The Quantity Unit Of Measure is present but no Permit limit exists for either
UOM	Quantity.
Sample Type	The Sample Type Record "XYZ" is not a valid code in NetDMR.
Season	
Number	The Season Number "X" is not a valid number between 0 and 12 inclusive.
Season	
Number	The Season Number is a required field but was blank.
Too Many	More then 90% of the lines in the file contained errors so the processing of this file
Errors	has stopped.
Wrong	
Privileges	The user does not have edit rights to the specified permit.
"XYZ"	
Effluent	The "XYZ" Effluent value "X" is not a number.
"XYZ"	The "XYZ" Effluent Number is present even though no permit limit is set for
Effluent	"XYZ"
"XYZ"	The "XYZ" Effluent Number is present even though a NODI code is provided for
Effluent	"XYZ"
"XYZ"	The "XYZ" NODI code provided of "ABC" is not a valid NODI code in the
NODI	NetDMR system
"XYZ"	
NODI	The "XYZ" NODI code is present even though no permit limit is set for "ABC"
"XYZ"	
Qualifier	The "XYZ" Qualifier text "ABC" is not valid. It must be one of "D"
"XYZ"	The "XYZ" Qualifier code "ABC" is present even though no permit limit is set for
Qualifier	"XYZ"
"XYZ"	The "XYZ" Qualifier code is present even though a NODI code is provided for
Qualifier	"XYZ"
"XYZ"	The "XYZ" Sample Number is present even though no permit limit is set for
Sample	"XYZ"
"XYZ"	
Sample	The "XYZ" Sample value "ABC" is not a number.
"XYZ"	The "XYZ" Sample Number is present even though a NODI code is provided for
Sample	"XYZ"



# **Appendix F. Agency Maps**

When a new NetDMR Instance is created a list of all permits that are administered by the regulating agency need to be retrieved from ICIS and stored within the Instance. To do this, one or more "Agency Mappings" must be provided by the State, Tribe or EPA Region to the NetDMR System Administrator.

An Agency Map is a combination of a two character NPDES permit prefix that matches a State or Tribal code in ICIS and a NetDMR Agency Type Code that corresponds to an Issuing Organization Type assigned to permits within ICIS.

For example:

- A new Instance needs to be created for the State of Alabama to contain permits administered by the state. There is only one Agency Map of "AL-ST6"
- A new Instance needs to be created for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts to contain permits administered by the state and its contractor. There are two Agency Maps of "MA-ST6" and "MA-SC6.
- A new Instance needs to be created for the St. Regis tribe to contain permits administered by the tribe. There is only one Agency Map of "SR-TR6"
- A new Instance needs to be created for EPA Region 6 to contain permits administered by the Region. There are four Agency Maps of "AR-EP6", "LA-EP6", "NM-EP6", and "TX-EP6".

<b>NetDMR Agency Type Code</b>	<b>ICIS Issuing Organization</b>
CT6	County
EC6	EPA Contractor
EO6	Other EPA
EP6	U.S. EPA
IN6	Interstate
LC6	Local
MN6	Municipal
OF6	Other Federal
RG6	Regional
SC6	State Contractor
SO6	Other - State
ST6	State
TR6	Tribal

### NetDMR Agency Type Codes with Corresponding ICIS Issuing Organizations

An Agency Map can only be assigned to one Instance at a time. States, Tribes and EPA Regions must work together to select their own Issuing Organization types and change the permits they administer in ICIS to the Issuing Organization Types they selected. Otherwise, they run the risk of having their permits in the wrong Instance or unavailable in NetDMR.





The moment an instance is created, NetDMR requests basic permit information from ICIS-NPDES using the Agency Maps as the selection criteria. After the initial request for Basic Permit occurs, NetDMR will request the data from ICIS-NPDES again every weekend for each Instance based upon their agency maps. For example, the Alaska Instance is created with an agency map of "AK-ST6". NetDMR will request all permits that have a NPDES Permit ID starting with "AK" and an Issuing Organization Type of "State".

There are times when permits within an EPA Region may need to be reassigned to a State or Tribal Instance. You will need to work with the State or Tribe to change the Issuing Organization Type in ICIS for all affected permits to an Issuing Organization Type used by the

State or Tribe, then refresh your permit and DMR data (see Appendix G for information on refreshing permit and DMR data). You will be able to view the CORS for these permits in your Instance only up until the time that you refreshed this data.

If an agency map is added to or deleted from an existing instance NetDMR will request



Any time you change a permit's Issuing Organization Type in ICIS to either add the permit to your Instance or remove it, you should refresh the permit and DMR data in your Instance.

basic permit information from ICIS-NPDES using only the Agency Maps that exist after the changes are saved. An example of this scenario is where Region 9's instance was originally created with agency maps for "NN-EP6", "AZ-EP6", "CA-EP6", "NV-EP6", "HI-EP6". After a year they delegate all of the Navajo Nation permits to that tribe and want DMRs for American Samoa to start being entered into NetDMR. The NetDMR System Administrator will add an agency map of "AS-EP6" and remove the agency map of "NN-EP6". Upon saving these changes, NetDMR will request all permits from ICIS-NPDES that have a NPDES Permit ID starting with "AZ", "CA", "NV", "HI" and "AS" and an Issuing Organization Type of "EPA".

Rather than wait one week, Regulatory Administrators are able to refresh basic permit data in NetDMR with ICIS-NPDES data at any time using the View Network Activity page. See Section 3.10.2 for details on how to do this.





# Appendix G. Basic Permit and DMR Refresh

## **Basic Permit Refresh**

When an instance is created, NetDMR requests basic permit information from ICIS-NPDES using Agency Maps as the selection criteria. After the initial request for Basic Permit occurs, NetDMR will request the data from ICIS-NPDES again every week for each Instance based upon their agency maps. For example, the Alaska Instance is created with an agency map of "AK-ST6". NetDMR will request all permits that have a NPDES Permit ID starting with "AK" and an Issuing Organization Type of "State".

If an agency map is added to or deleted from an existing instance NetDMR will request basic permit information from ICIS-NPDES using only the Agency Maps that exist after the changes are saved. An example of this scenario is where Region 9's instance was originally created with agency maps for "NN-EP6", "AZ-EP6", "CA-EP6", "NV-EP6", "HI-EP6". After a year they delegate all of the Navajo Nation permits to that tribe and want DMRs for American Samoa to start being entered into NetDMR. The NetDMR System Administrator will add an agency map of "AS-EP6" and remove the agency map of "NN-EP6". Upon saving these changes, NetDMR will request all permits from ICIS-NPDES that have a NPDES Permit ID starting with "AZ", "CA", "NV", "HI" and "AS" and an Issuing Organization Type of "EPA".

Rather than wait one week, Regulatory Administrators are able to refresh basic permit data in NetDMR with ICIS-NPDES data at any time using the View Network Activity page.

ICIS will process NetDMR requests for permits on a nightly basis. Check NetDMR the next morning for your newly refreshed permits if you requested a refresh of your permits.

NetDMR retrieves the list of permits that

are available for reporting for a regulatory authority through the Basic Permit Data Flow (BPDF). The BPDF retrieves the following information from ICIS for each permit:

- Permit Identifier
- Permit Status Code
- ➢ Facility Name
- Facility Address
- Permit Dates: original issue date, most recent issue date, effective date, expiration date, termination date

If the BPDF request was for a complete replacement of the permit data (e.g., the Agency Map was provided in the request), the permit reconciliation process will be used for all permits that are either returned in the result file or in the NetDMR database. If the BPDF request was for a specific set of permits (e.g., Permit IDs were provided), only the permits that were included in the BPDF request are reconciled. For example, if the request only specified permit TX12345 and TX98765, the permit reconciliation process would only occur for permits TX12345 and TX98765.

The permit reconciliation process is as follows:





- 1. If the permit exists in the result file, but not in the NetDMR database, add the permit information to the NetDMR database. The permit will be matched by comparing the PermitIdentifier tag in the result file (or provided in the original Solicit Request) to the permit\_id column in the NetDMR Permit table.
- 2. If the permit exists in the result file and the NetDMR database, update the information in the NetDMR database with the information in the result file.
- 3. If the permit exists in the NetDMR database but not in the result file, the permit is no longer valid for electronic reporting in NetDMR. NetDMR users will still be able to view previously submitted CORs, and request the view role on these permits. Net DMR will not send a notification that the permit is no longer valid for electronic reporting to users that can access the permit as CORs will still be available for viewing.

## DMR Refresh

When the first Signatory for a permit is approved by a Regulatory Administrator, NetDMR requests one year's worth of anticipated DMRs or "empty slot records" from ICIS-NPDES using the following criteria:

- Monitoring Period Start Date (MPSD) from 12 months before to 1 month after the date the first Signatory request is approved
- Monitoring Period End Date (MPED) from the date the first Signatory role was approved to 12 months afterward.

Each month after this, NetDMR requests another month's worth of data using the day of the month the Signatory was approved to ensure that NetDMR always has at least one year's worth of empty slot records. NetDMR will automatically retrieve empty slots for all permits for which there is at least one NetDMR user with the signatory or edit role. DMRs will continue to be retrieved as long as at least one user has the signatory or edit role for the permit.

To illustrate this concept, the following table lists 10 DMRs for a permit with their reporting frequencies and monitoring period dates in ICIS.

Sumple Di					
<b>DMR ID</b>	<b>Reporting Frequency</b>	Monitoring Period	Monitoring Period End		
		Start Date	Date		
DMR1	Annual	01/01/2007	12/31/2007		
DMR2	Quarter	01/01/2007	03/31/2007		
DMR3	Month	01/01/2007	01/31/2007		
DMR4	Month	02/01/2007	02/28/2007		
DMR5	Month	03/01/2007	03/31/2007		
DMR6	Month	04/01/2007	04/30/2007		
DMR7	Quarter	04/01/2007	06/30/2007		
DMR8	Month	05/01/2007	05/31/2007		
DMR9	Month	06/01/2007	06/30/2007		

### Sample DMR list for Permit RI1234567





DMR ID	<b>Reporting Frequency</b>	Monitoring Period Start Date	Monitoring Period End Date
DMR10	Month	07/01/2007	07/31/2007

If the first Signatory is granted access to the permit on March 1, 2007 the next table shows a list of requests that NetDMR would make to ICIS and the DMRs that would be returned for each request. The Current Date column represents the date NetDMR makes the request.

Call	Date of	Monitoring	Monitoring	Monitoring	Monitoring	DMRs
#	Call	Period	Period	Period End	Period End	Retreived from ICIS
		Start Date	Start Date	Date	Date	
		Range -	Range -	Range -	Range -	
		Start	End	Start	End	
1	03/01/2007	03/01/2006	04/30/2007	03/01/2007	03/01/2008	DMR1,DMR2,DMR5,DMR6,DMR7
2	04/23/2007	05/01/2007	06/30/2007	N/A	N/A	DMR8,DMR9
3	06/23/2007	07/01/2007	09/30/2007	N/A	N/A	DMR10

For Call #1, NetDMR will use both MPSD and MPED date ranges to specify the DMRs that should be returned because this is the first time DMRs are retrieved for the permit. The request returns reports that have a MPSD of exactly one year before the first Signatory role was granted up and 1 month after the first Signatory role was granted. The use of the MPED range for this initial retrieval restricts the result set to only those DMRs with a MPED that has not passed. This eliminates the DMRs with monitoring periods that have already passed (e.g., DMR3, DMR4).

After the initial call, NetDMR will periodically call the service to retrieve the next block of DMRs. The MPSD range is chosen so as to not overlap with the range of the previous request for the permit. The call is initiated 7 days prior to the MPSD range end date from the previous request. This is to ensure that NetDMR has received the next set of DMRs before a user would be able to enter data for them.

Call #2 demonstrates this relationship with the previous request. The call is made 7 days before the MPSD Range End of Call #1. The MPSD Range Start is one day after the MPSD Range End of Call #1. The MPSD Range End is set to the amount of time specified in the configuration file, two months in this case. This call returns the next two monthly DMRs, DMR8 and DMR9. A similar process is performed for Call #3, which returns DMR10.

Rather than wait one month at a time, Regulatory Administrators, Signatories and users with the

Edit role are able to refresh DMR empty slot records in NetDMR with ICIS-NPDES data at any time. Regulatory Administrators can use the View Network Activity page (see Section 3.10.2 of the Regulatory Authority User Guide for details on how to do this). Signatories and users with the Edit role can use the Refresh DMRs hyperlink on the DMR Search Results page (see the



ICIS will process NetDMR requests for DMRs on a nightly basis. Check NetDMR the next morning for your newly refreshed DMRs if you are the first Signatory for a permit or if you requested a refresh of the DMR you were working on.





Section 5.2 of this guide for details on how to do this).

The reconciliation process used depends upon which type of request generated the result file. In addition, the list of DMRs that are reconciled is determined using the parameters that were provided in the ESDF service request. DMRs are reconciled individually. For example, if the result file includes information for ten DMRs and the information for one of the DMRs is invalid for NetDMR (e.g., Monitoring Period End Date is missing), NetDMR will reject the invalid DMR but accept the nine valid ones.

If the request was for DMRs using a date range NetDMR will reconcile the DMRs returned in the result file and the set of DMRs in the NetDMR database that meet the original request criteria. For example, if DMRs were requested for a Permit ID of RI12345 and an MPED range of 01/01/07 - 01/31/07, NetDMR would also search the NetDMR database for the set of DMRs that meet this criteria. The union of the DMRs in the result file and the set returned from searching the database would be reconciled.

If the request was for a specific DMR NetDMR will reconcile all the DMRs specified in the request. For example, if the request included information for two DMRs but the result file only included one of the DMRs, the DMR reconciliation process would occur for both DMRs that were originally requested.

The DMR reconciliation process includes the following steps:

- 1. If the DMR exists in the result file, but not in the NetDMR database, add the DMR information to the NetDMR database. The DMR will be in the state 'Ready for Data Entry'.
- 2. If the DMR exists in the in the NetDMR database but does not match a DMR in the result file, deactivate the DMR in the NetDMR database. The CORs of deactivated DMRs can still be viewed, but the DMR can not be edited or signed (because ICIS no longer requires reporting for the DMR). Deactivated DMRs that do not have an associated COR will not be displayed in search results. If a subsequent result file includes a DMR that corresponds to a deactivated DMR, NetDMR will remove the flag (i.e., reactivating the DMR) and replace the DMR as described in item 3.
- 3. If the DMR exists in the result file and the NetDMR database, replace the information in the NetDMR database with the information in the result file. The complete set of possible changes is as follows:
  - a. Add new permitted feature(s) to the DMR.
  - b. Remove permitted feature(s) from the DMR.
  - c. Update permitted feature information on the DMR (e.g., the permitted feature description code).
  - d. Add new parameter(s).
  - e. Remove parameter(s).
  - f. Update parameter(s). (Includes updating the monitoring location code and effluent trading status flag.)
  - g. Add new numeric condition(s).
  - h. Remove numeric condition(s).







i. Update numeric condition(s). (Includes updating the unit code.)

Any data that may have been entered by a user for a DMR (e.g. a partially completed DMR) affected by the reconciliation process will not be modified, provided that the corresponding measurements still exist in the revised DMR. Previously entered data associated with measurements that do not exist in the revised DMR will be deleted. NetDMR will perform validation again for all DMRs that are updated in this manner.

Submitted DMRs and CORs generated prior to any updates resulting from reconciliation will not be affected by this process. However, corrections for a reconciled DMR will start from the replaced DMR, not the DMR as originally submitted. For example, if a parameter existed when the DMR was originally submitted but no longer exists, the corrected DMR will not display this parameter on the DMR entry screen.

If one or more DMRs are missing for your permit after a refresh follow the steps in Appendix K for troubleshooting missing DMRs.





# **Appendix H. Job Processing Schedule**

NetDMR runs jobs such as DMR import, requesting Permit and empty slot DMR data from ICIS, and submitting CORs to ICIS at scheduled intervals as described in the table below.

## Job Processing Schedule for NetDMR in Production (Eastern Standard Time EST)

Process Name	Scheduled Jobs
Import DMR	Daily, every 5 minutes between 5:00 am and 9:00 pm
Solicit Request Basic Permit Data Flow	10:15 am, 12:15 pm, 2:15 pm, 4:15 pm, 6:15 pm, 8:15 pm
(BPDF) and Empty Slot Data Flow (ESDF)	
DMR Submission	7:00 pm
Update the status in NetDMR for BPDF,	12:00 pm, 10:00 pm
ESDF and DMR	
Suspect Log Analysis	5:00 am once per month
Prepare BPDF	5:00 pm only on Saturday
Prepare ESDF	10:00 am, 12:00 pm, 4:00 pm, 6:00 pm, 8:00 pm
Nightly CleanUp	3:00 am

## Job Processing Schedule for NetDMR in the Test Environment

Process Name	Scheduled Jobs
Import DMR	Daily, every 5 minutes between 5:00 am and 9:00 pm
Solicit Request Basic Permit Data	From 9 am to 10 pm at :05 and :35 past the hour. Example:
Flow (BPDF) and Empty Slot Data	9:05 am, 9:35 am
Flow (ESDF)	
DMR Submission	From 8 am to 10 pm at :05, :25, :45 past the hour. Example:
	8:05 am, 8:25 am, 8:45 am
Update the status in NetDMR for	Every hour at :00, :20, and :40 past the hour. Example: 9:00
BPDF, ESDF and DMR	am, 9:20 am, 9:40 am
Suspect Log Analysis	Not scheduled until 2020
Prepare BPDF	10:00 pm
Prepare ESDF	From 9 am to 10 pm at :45 past the hour. Example: 9:45 am,
	10:45 am
Nightly CleanUp	3:00 am





# **Appendix I. Troubleshooting Missing DMRs**

There are various reasons why a DMR may be missing from NetDMR. The reasons and their solutions are described below.

### Reason #1

NetDMR will not display all DMRs that exist for a permit. Instead, NetDMR will display only DMRs that have a Monitoring Period Start Date on or before the day of your search and a Monitoring Period End Date on or after the day of your search minus 14 months. For example, if you perform your search on April 15, 2009, NetDMR will display DMRs where monitoring started before April 16, 2009, and ended after February 14, 2008.

### **Solution**

If the DMR's monitoring period end date is after the date the first Signatory for your permit was approved and its Monitoring Period Start Date is on or before the day of your search, perform the search by entering a Monitoring Period End Date range that will cover the Monitoring Period End Date(s) of the desired DMR(s).

### Reason #2

When the first Signatory for a permit is approved, NetDMR retrieves requests one year's worth of anticipated DMRs or "empty slot records" from ICIS-NPDES using the following criteria:

- Monitoring Period Start Date (MPSD) from 12 months before to 1 month after the date the first Signatory request is approved.
- Monitoring Period End Date (MPED) from the date the first Signatory role was approved to 12 months afterward.

### **Solution**

If the DMR's monitoring period end date is before the date the first Signatory for your permit was approved, have your Regulatory Administrator request the desired DMR(s) from ICIS. After ICIS returns the DMR(s), perform the search by entering a Monitoring Period End Date range that will cover the Monitoring Period End Date(s) of the desired DMR(s).

### Reason #3

NetDMR only requests DMRs from ICIS that are anticipated or "scheduled" on a regular basis such as monthly, quarterly, semi-annually and annually. If a DMR is anticipated on an irregular or "unscheduled" basis such as sometime during a quarter or year, ICIS does not store it and cannot provide it to NetDMR.

### **Solution**

Either submit the DMR to the Regulatory Authority on paper, or have your Regulatory Authority look at the limit set in ICIS to see if it is unscheduled. If it is unscheduled, you should see if your Regulatory Authority is willing to change the limit set for the limits in ICIS from "unscheduled" to "scheduled" and set the limits to "optional". They will need





to refresh the DMR data for your permit if they agree to change the limit set. (Note that violations will not be calculated in ICIS for optional limits).

### Reason #4

ICIS only provides DMRs for active limits to NetDMR and your limit(s) have been inactivated.

### **Solution**

Ask your Regulatory Authority to look at the limit set in ICIS to see if it is inactive. If it is inactive but should be active, have your Regulatory Authority change the limit set to be active and refresh the DMR data for your permit.

### Reason #5

NetDMR automatically pulls a particular DMR data once and your limits changed or your permit was reissued in ICIS since the DMR was pulled.

### **Solution**

Have your Regulatory Administrator, Signatory or any user with the Edit role refresh DMR empty slot records in NetDMR with ICIS-NPDES data. Regulatory Administrators can use the View Network Activity page (see Section 3.10.2 of the Regulatory Authority User Guide for details on how to do this). Signatories and users with the Edit role can use the Refresh DMRs hyperlink on the DMR Search Results page (see the Section 5.2 of this guide for details on how to do this).

#### Reason #6

Your permit was administered by one Regulatory Authority but has been changed to another recently. For example, an EPA Region was authorized to administer your permit but now a state or tribe is authorized to administer your permit. All CORs submitted using the old Regulatory Authority's instance can be viewed, but all DMRs have been moved to the new Regulatory Authority's instance including any that were in progress.

### **Solution**

You will need to create an account for the new Regulatory Authority's instance and search for your DMRs on their site. NetDMR will allow you to create the new account using the same user account name and password as your old instance.

#### Reason #7

The Issuing Organization Type for your permit in ICIS was changed to one that is not recognized by your Regulatory Authority's Instance.

#### **Solution**

Ask your Regulatory Authority Administrator to compare the Issuing Organization Type for your permit in ICIS against their Agency Mappings for their NetDMR Instance and either change the Issuing Organization Type in ICIS to match one of their existing Agency Mappings or add a new Agency Map to their Instance that matches your permit's Issuing Organization Type (see Appendix F for more information on Agency Maps).





### Reason #8

You or your Regulatory Authority Administrator refreshed your DMR(s) but ICIS has not processed your request yet.

### **Solution**

ICIS processes DMR requests on a nightly basis. Wait until morning after your refresh was requested to search for your DMR(s).

### Reason #9

The request for data from ICIS failed.

<u>Solution</u>

Have your Regulatory Administrator check the View Exchange Network Activity page for the status of your request. If your request failed the Regulatory Authority Administrator will need to contact NetDMR User Support for assistance.

If your DMR is still missing after checking through all of the troubleshooting steps above ask your Regulatory Authority Administrator to report your problem to NetDMR User Support.




### **Appendix J. Frequently Asked Questions**

#### **User Type and Role Questions**

#### What is an Internal User?

An Internal User is a Regulatory Authority staff member with a NetDMR account. What is an External User?

An External User is a Permittee or Data Provider staff member with a NetDMR account. What is a Regulatory Authority?

A Regulatory Authority is a state agency or EPA Regional office that administers NPDES permits. Regulatory Authority staff can view partial DMRs and CORs, approve requests from Data Provider staff, Permittee staff and other Regulatory Authority staff for access to the Regulatory Authority's Instance on NetDMR.

#### What is a Regulatory Administrator?

A Regulatory Administrator is a Regulatory Authority staff member that approves or denies requests from Permittee users wanting to become a Signatory for a permit.

#### What is a Permittee?

A Permittee is a staff member at a permitted facility. Permittees can view, enter and upload DMRs into NetDMR, edit CORs, sign and submit DMRs, and approve requests from Data Provider staff and other Permittees for access to the facility's permit(s).

#### What is a Permit Administrator?

A Permit Administrator is a Permittee staff member that approves or denies requests from Data Providers and other Permittees to view and edit DMRs for their NPDES permit. They also approve or deny requests from Regulatory Authorities to view DMRs that have not been signed and submitted ("partial DMRs").

#### What is a Signatory?

A Signatory is a Permittee staff member that is authorized to sign and submit DMRs for a specific permit. Because NetDMR uses digital signatures, new Signatories must print off a Subscriber Agreement form generated by NetDMR, sign it and mail it to the Regulatory Authority listed within the Subscriber Agreement before he/she can sign and submit DMRs.

#### What is a Data Provider?

A Data Provider is a lab, consulting firm or other business that has been hired by a permitted facility to enter or view Discharge Monitoring Reports (DMRs) on behalf of that facility. Data Provider staff are allowed to view, enter and import DMRs into NetDMR and edit CORs but they cannot sign and submit DMRs to ICIS. Only a permittee with the Signatory role can do this.

#### **Access Questions**

#### How do I navigate to NetDMR?

Navigate to <u>www.epa.gov/netdmr</u> and click on a blue state within the Electronic Reporting map. The NetDMR Welcome screen will appear. Select the name of the State or Regional Authority Instance that administers your NPDES permit(s) from the Regulatory Authority drop down box and click on the "Go" button.

#### What is an Instance?





NetDMR is designed to allow a State, Tribe or EPA Region to have its own Login page that separates their own set of permits and DMRs from the other Regulatory Authorities.

#### How do I know what Instance to choose from the NetDMR Login page?

If you submit your DMRs to a State agency, select the name of that agency from the dropdown list (example: "Tennessee" or "Oklahoma - DEQ"). If you submit your DMRs to an EPA region, select the name of that region from the dropdown list (example: "EPA R7 IA-KS-MO-NB").

#### How can I be sure that my permit is stored in the Instance I selected?

After you select your Instance on the NetDMR Welcome page, the NetDMR Login page will be displayed. Click on the "Checking your Permit Id" link and enter your permit's NPDES ID. NetDMR will tell you whether your permit is available or not.

My permit is not available in the NetDMR Instance for the State agency or EPA region that administers it. What should I do?

If you are a Permittee or Data Provider User, contact your Regulatory Authority's NetDMR Administrator using the email link on the NetDMR login page provided under the "New to NetDMR?" section. If you are a state or EPA Region staff member, refer to the Regulatory Authority Questions section.

After I register for a new account, set up my password and receive my confirmation email that my account is ready to use, the hyperlink to NetDMR does not work. What should I do?

Close your browser, then open it back up again and navigate to NetDMR through the map at <u>www.epa.gov/netdmr</u>.

I'm getting a "Page Not Found" or "cannot display the webpage" message from my web browser. What should I do?

Call or email NetDMR User Support at 202-564-7756 or <u>netdmr@epa.gov</u> with details on the steps you were performing just before the message appeared.

#### I am able to log into my NetDMR Instance, but as soon as I try to do anything I get kicked out and returned to the NetDMR Welcome page. What is wrong?

NetDMR requires that you enable session cookies to function properly. All cookies generated by NetDMR are removed when you close your browser. Instructions for enabling cookies in Internet Explorer are provided below. To identify what version of a web browser you are operating, click on the Help menu in Internet Explorer or Netscape and click on "About".

If you are using Internet Explorer 6.0 or 7.0:

- 1. Choose Tools, then Internet Options.
- 2. Click the Privacy tab.
- 3. Default setting is medium. Move the slider to determine which setting you

prefer.

4. You can also click on Advanced for specialized cookie treatment.

After you enable cookies, log into NetDMR again.

### When I try to log into NetDMR my web browser tells me I must allow cookies. How can I do this?

If you are using Internet Explorer 6.0 or 7.0:

1. Choose Tools, then Internet Options.





- 2. Click the Privacy tab.
- 3. Default setting is medium. Move the slider to determine which setting you

prefer.

4. You can also click on Advanced for specialized cookie treatment.

After you enable cookies, log into NetDMR again.

#### I forgot my NetDMR User ID. What should I do?

Navigate to NetDMR, select your Instance then click on the "Forgot User Name" hyperlink. NetDMR will ask you for your email address and an answer for one of your secret questions, then display your User Name if it finds your email address on file and you answered the question correctly. If you do not answer your secret question correctly three times in a row your account will be locked.

#### I forgot my NetDMR Password. What should I do?

Navigate to NetDMR, select your Instance then click on the "Forgot Password" hyperlink. NetDMR will ask you for your email address and an answer for one of your secret questions, then ask you to reset your password if it finds your email address on file and you answered the question correctly. If you do not answer your secret question correctly three times in a row your account will be locked.

#### I cannot log into NetDMR. What should I do?

If you forgot your User ID or password, refer to "I forgot my NetDMR User ID" or "I forgot my NetDMR Password". If you know your NetDMR User ID and password but cannot log in, contact the Regulatory Authority Administrator for your Instance and ask them to reset your password.

#### I tried to log in but my account is locked. What should I do?

If the account became locked because you logged in with the wrong password three times or answered a secret question with the wrong answer three times, contact the Regulatory Authority's Administrator for your Instance. The Regulatory Administrator's email address is provided under the "New to NetDMR?" section of the NetDMR login page for your Instance.

If you have no idea why your account was locked this may indicate an unauthorized individual may tried to log into your account. See "What should I do if my NetDMR account becomes compromised?" for instructions on what to do about this.

#### What should I do if my NetDMR account becomes compromised?

If you are a Signatory for one or more permits you must contact your Regulatory Authority's Administrator and request that person lock your account and repudiate all CORs that have been submitted while your account was compromised. All others should notify the Regulatory Authority's Administrator. The Regulatory Administrator's email address is provided under the "New to NetDMR?" section of the NetDMR login page for your Instance.

### I'm getting a "There is a problem with the site's certificate" message from my web browser. What should I do?

The certificate has expired and will be updated soon but you will still be able to use NetDMR. Just click on the "Continue to this website" link and you will be taken to the NetDMR Welcome page.

### I was working in NetDMR but am now getting a "Session Expired" message. What happened?





NetDMR tracks how long it has been since the last keystroke or mouse click was entered. If 30 minutes have passed without a keystroke or mouse click NetDMR will automatically log you out without saving your changes. You must log back in and reenter any data that was lost.

#### **Account Questions**

#### What should I do if my name changes?

If you are a Signatory for one or more permits you must notify the Regulatory Administrator of your Instance before changing your name in NetDMR and re-generate your Subscriber Agreement(s), print them, sign them and send them to your Regulatory Authority. To re-generate your Subscriber Agreements, navigate to the "My Account" page and click on each Subscriber Agreement icon that appears in your "My Permits" table.

To change your name in NetDMR, log into NetDMR, click on the "My Account" hyperlink at the top of the page and change your name. Be sure to save your changes. What should I do if my email address changes?

# Log into NetDMR, click on the "My Account" hyperlink at the top of the page and change your email address. Be sure to save your changes. If you set up your account to use your email address as your account ID you must start using your newly changed email address to log into NetDMR.

#### **Data Refresh Questions**

#### How often is permit data refreshed from EPA's ICIS system?

When an instance is created, NetDMR requests basic permit information from ICIS. After the initial request for Basic Permit occurs, NetDMR will request the data from ICIS every weekend. Regulatory Administrators are able to refresh basic permit data in NetDMR with ICIS-NPDES data at any time using the View Network Activity page. ICIS will respond to all requests for permits from NetDMR once a night.

#### How often is DMR data refreshed from EPA's ICIS system?

When the first Signatory for a permit is approved by a Regulatory Administrator, NetDMR requests one year's worth of anticipated DMRs or "empty slot records" from ICIS-NPDES using the following criteria:

- Monitoring Period Start Date (MPSD) from 12 months before to 1 month after the date the first Signatory request is approved
- Monitoring Period End Date (MPED) from the date the first Signatory role was approved to 12 months afterward.

Each month after this, NetDMR requests another month's worth of data using the day of the month the Signatory was approved to ensure that NetDMR always has at least one year's worth of empty slot records. NetDMR will automatically retrieve empty slots for all permits for which there is at least one NetDMR user with the signatory or edit role. DMRs will continue to be retrieved as long as at least one user has the signatory or edit role for the permit.





Rather than wait one month, Regulatory Administrators and Permit Administrators are able to DMR empty slot records in NetDMR with ICIS-NPDES data at any time. Regulatory Administrators can use the View Network Activity page and Permit Administrators can use the Refresh DMRs hyperlink on the DMR Search Results page.

### **Data Entry Questions**

#### I entered data into a NetDMR page but it was not saved. Why?

You navigated to another page or out of NetDMR without clicking on the "Save", "Submit" or "Confirm" button. After entering data, always be sure to save AND confirm your changes.

## After entering data and clicking on the Save or Submit button, I get a "There were errors processing your request" message. What do I do?

Any field that has erroneous or missing data will have red text to the right of that field explaining what caused the problem. Search through all fields on the page for red text messages and correct them.

#### **Permit Access Questions**

#### Can I have more than one access type for permit(s)?

NetDMR will allow you to have a View or Edit role, and if you are a Permittee User, Permit Administrator/Edit role, Permit Administrator/View role, or Signatory role for as many different permits as you need. NetDMR will also allow a Permittee User to be a Permit Administrator and Signatory for the same permit(s).

#### How do I become a Permit Administrator?

Permittee Users can request a Permit Administrator role for their NetDMR account from their "Request Access" page. Regulatory Authorities and Data Providers are not allowed to become Permit Administrators.

#### Can I be a Permit Administrator for more than one permit?

Yes. NetDMR does not limit the amount of permits that a user can be a Permit Administrator for. However, an existing Permit Administrator will only approve new Permit Administrator requests for authorized individuals and will deny requests from any Permittee User who should not have this level of access to their permits.

# When I try to Deny a role request NetDMR I get a "there were errors processing your request" message. What is wrong?

When you deny a role request you must also provide a reason for why the request was denied into the comment field for that request.

### When I try to Delete a role for my permit in NetDMR I get a "there were errors processing your request" message. What is wrong?

When you delete a role you must also provide a reason for why the role was deleted into the comment field for that request.

### One of the NetDMR users working at my facility or for my data provider has left the organization or is no longer working with DMRs. What should I do?

Contact the Permit Administrator(s) for the permits that person has access to and let them know. A Permit Administrator should click on the "Users" tab of the home page, search for the NetDMR account and delete all roles for that user. This will not delete the user from NetDMR and will leave all CORs intact belonging to a Signatory that is deleted.





#### **Signatory Access Questions**

#### Why can I not approve a Signatory for my Permit?

Because a printed and signed Subscriber Agreement must be on file with the state, tribe or EPA Region Regulatory Authority administering your permit before DMRs may be signed and submitted, the Regulatory Authority's Administrator is the only person who can approve Signatory requests.

#### Can I be a Signatory for more than one permit?

Yes. NetDMR does not limit the amount of permits that a user can be a Signatory for. However, a Regulatory Administrator will only approve Signatory requests for authorized individuals and will deny requests from any Permittee User who should not be allowed to sign and submit DMRs.

#### How do I find out who is a Signatory for my Permit?

If you are a Permit Administrator, click on the "Users" tab of your home page and click on the Search button to display a list of all NetDMR accounts and the roles they have been assigned until you find a Signatory listed. Otherwise, ask your Permit Administrator to look up this information for you.

#### What is a Subscriber Agreement?

A Subscriber Agreement is "an electronic signature agreement signed by an individual with a handwritten signature". Any NetDMR Permittee who wishes to sign and submit DMRs to EPA must request a Signatory role for their DMR account for their permit(s), print off the Subscriber Agreement generated by NetDMR, complete portions of the form, then sign and mail the Subscriber Agreement to the appropriate State or Regional Regulatory Authority. Until your Signatory role request is approved in NetDMR by the Regulatory Administrator, you will not be allowed to sign and submit DMRs.

#### Where do I mail my Subscriber Agreement to?

The mailing address of the State, Tribe or EPA Region Regulatory Authority can be found near the bottom of the first page within the Subscriber Agreement.

#### **DMR Data Entry Questions**

#### I can see DMRs but cannot edit them. How can I edit them?

Permittee Users must request an Edit role or Signatory role, and Data Provider Users must request an Edit role in order to work with DMRs for a particular permit. Use the "Request Access" page to request the Edit of Signatory role for your NetDMR account. The Permit Administrators approve/deny Edit role requests and Regulatory Administrators approve/deny Signatory requests.

#### I entered data into my DMR but it was not saved or submitted. Why?

Typically, one of three situations cause this: You navigated to another page or out of NetDMR without clicking on the "Save", "Submit" or "Confirm" button; your DMR had "hard errors"; or more than one person was editing the DMR at the same time.

#### Failure to Save or Submit:

After entering data, always be sure to click on "Save and Continue", "Save and Submit", "Confirm" and "Submit" buttons as necessary.





#### Hard Errors:

NetDMR will not save changes to a DMR that has hard errors so you must look for them, fix the fields with hard errors and save the DMR before NetDMR will store your DMR.

#### More than One Person Editing a DMR:

If two users edit the same DMR at the same time and both save their edits, the last one to save their DMR will override the first person's edits. If the first person reviews the DMR the next day, it would appear to them that their edits were lost, when in fact they were saved but overridden a little later.

# When I save or try to submit my DMR NetDMR tells me I have soft errors. What should I do?

Soft errors are warnings that data may be missing or entered incorrectly. The bottom of the DMR screen displays a table with soft errors and the rows with these errors are highlighted in pink. While soft errors will not keep the DMR from being signed and submitted, you should look at each soft warning and check the affected fields on DMR form to make sure the data is accurate. When you are finished, click on the checkboxes next to each soft error and save your DMR. Be sure to confirm your changes.

# When I try to save or submit my DMR NetDMR tells me I have hard errors. What should I do?

Hard errors are problems with the data keeping a DMR from being saved, signed or submitted. The bottom of the DMR screen displays a table with hard errors and the rows with these errors are highlighted in pink. You must look at each hard error and fix the affected fields, then save the DMR. Be sure to confirm your changes. See the NetDMR Error Messages appendix of the Permittee and Data Provider User Guide for a listing of errors and what caused them.

### I have a lot of DMRs to submit to NetDMR. Is there an easier way to submit them rather than enter each one into the NetDMR web pages?

Yes. NetDMR allows users with an Edit or Signatory role to import all DMRs for one permit out of a comma delimited ASCII text file that is generated out of a spreadsheet or database package. See the NetDMR Permittee and Data Provider User Guide for instructions on how to do this.

#### I imported my DMRs. Will NetDMR automatically submit them for me?

No. Any time you import a comma delimited file you should check the Import Log for errors using the Check Results page and view each DMR individually within NetDMR to ensure the data was imported correctly and fix any problems keeping the Signatory from signing and submitting your DMRs. When you have fixed any problems and saved the DMRs, your Signatory will need to sign and submit your DMRs. The Signatory may sign and submit up to 200 DMRs at a time.

#### I imported my DMRs but it is taking a while. What is wrong?

Imported files are placed into a queue. Every half hour, NetDMR retrieves imported files and processes them. If your file takes longer than one hour to import you should notify your Regulatory Authority.

#### I imported my DMRs but they have errors. What do they mean?

See the NetDMR Error Messages appendix of the Permittee and Data Provider User Guide for a listing of errors and what caused them.

#### I need help from my Regulatory Authority filling out my DMR. What should I do?



Contact your Regulatory Authority and have one of the Regulatory Users or Administrators request partial access to your DMR so that person can view your DMR. Notify your Permit Administrator to approve the partial access request for the DMR from the Regulatory User or Administrator when it comes in. Once the Regulatory User or Administrator has access they will be able to view your DMR but cannot edit it. If you make changes to your DMR while they are viewing it you must save your changes, then they will have to close the DMR and pull it back up again in order to see your changes.

### I requested a refresh of DMR Data but the NetDMR keeps displaying the old data. What do I do?

When NetDMR requests a new DMR from ICIS, ICIS will process the request at night and return the results by the next morning. If your DMR has not been refreshed after this time, refer to the Permittee and Data Provider User Guide's "Troubleshooting Missing DMRs" appendix for various causes of DMR data not being returned from ICIS.

- My permit's limits changed for one or more of my DMRs recently. NetDMR is pulling up my DMRs with old information. How do I update my DMRs in NetDMR? If you have an Edit or Signatory role you can search and view the DMR, then click on the "Refresh DMR Data" link at the top of the page to update the DMR with new data. Otherwise, ask your Permit Administrator to refresh your DMR data.
- My permit was administered by an EPA Region but a State Agency or Tribe now administers it. I need to enter DMRs. What should I do?

After the State or Tribe sets up their Instance in NetDMR you must create a new NetDMR account for that Instance and have one Permit Administrator and one Signatory established for the permit in the new State or Tribal Instance before you can begin to submit new DMRs. You will be able to view your old DMRs and CORs in the old Instance but cannot make changes to them. If you were working on a DMR when the permit was switched to the new Instance or need to submit a corrected COR you will need to contact the Regulatory Administrator for the State or Tribal Instance and ask them to request the Permit and DMR information from ICIS.

My permit was administered by an EPA Region but a State Agency or Tribe now administers it. I need to correct a DMR that was signed and submitted in the old Regulatory Authority's Instance. What should I do?

Ask the Regulatory Administrator for the current State or Tribal Instance to request the DMR from ICIS. Once the DMR has been returned you will be able to edit, sign and submit it.

#### My permit was in NetDMR but now I cannot enter DMRs for it. What should I do?

If your permit was administered by an EPA Region but a State Agency or Tribe now administers it, see "My permit was administered by an EPA Region but a State Agency or Tribe now administers it. What should I do?" for the answer. refer to the Permittee and Data Provider User Guide's "Troubleshooting Missing DMRs" appendix for various causes of DMR data not being returned from ICIS.

#### I entered a DMR but need to delete it. What should I do?

You can log into NetDMR and edit the DMR by using the "Clear Parameters" hyperlink and removing data out of the header of the DMR. When you are finished have your Signatory sign and submit the DMR in order to officially delete the DMR.

You cannot delete a COR from NetDMR. If you have one or more CORs that were entered incorrectly you will need to have a Signatory search for the COR and select the





"Correct DMR" option instead. If one or more of your CORs were submitted under suspicious circumstances you will need to contact the Regulatory Administrator for your Instance and have the COR(s) repudiated.

#### **DMR Submission Questions**

#### Why can I not sign and submit a DMR?

Only a Signatory is allowed to sign and submit DMRs. Permittee Users of NetDMR can request a Signatory role for their NetDMR account using the "Request Access" page. Data Provider and Regulatory Authority Users of NetDMR are not allowed to become Signatories.

#### How do I know when my DMR has been submitted to ICIS?

If you are the Signatory for the DMR, NetDMR will send an email to your email address notifying you when your DMR(s) have been submitted to ICIS. Otherwise, check with your Signatory.

#### How do I know my DMR has been processed by ICIS?

If you are the Signatory for the DMR, NetDMR will send an email to your email address notifying you when your DMR(s) have been processed by ICIS. Otherwise, check with your Signatory.

#### How do I know if ICIS had problems processing my DMR?

If you are the Signatory for the DMR, NetDMR will send an email to your email address notifying you your DMRs were processed but had errors and will list the errors. If you are not a Signatory you may search for the COR and click on the Next Steps drop down for the COR and select "Review Submission Errors/Warnings". See the ICIS Error Messages appendix of the Permittee and Data Provider User Guide for a listing of errors and what caused them.

#### How does NetDMR provide ICIS with the DMR Received Date from my DMR?

When a DMR is submitted to ICIS for the first time, NetDMR uses the date the DMR was signed and submitted for all reported values as the DMR Received Date. If a corrected DMR is signed and submitted, NetDMR uses the date the corrected DMR was signed and submitted for only the values that differ from the previous COR.

#### **COR Questions**

#### What is a COR?

A COR or "Copy of Record" means a true and correct copy of an electronic document received by an electronic document receiving system, which copy can be viewed in a human-readable format that clearly and accurately associates all the information provided in the electronic document with descriptions or labeling of the information. A copy of record includes:

(1) All electronic signatures contained in or logically associated with that document;

(2) The date and time of receipt; and

(3) Any other information used to record the meaning of the document or the circumstances of its receipt."

All DMRs signed and submitted to ICIS from NetDMR become the "Copy of Record". I downloaded one or more CORs. When I open them they are hard to read or contain a lot of strange characters. How can I look display the COR like the NetDMR does?



The first step in viewing downloaded CORs is to open the master COR file that you downloaded extract all zipped file contents into a directory of your choosing. Each of these extracted zipped files is a COR. Open one of these files and extract the three main files along with any attachments that were included with the DMR when it was signed and submitted. The three main files are as follows:

- dmrSubmission.xml = This file contains all of the user entered data for the COR when its DMR was signated and submitted.
- DischargeMonitoringReport.xsl = This is a stylesheet that will format the dmrSubmission.xml file to look like the NetDMR COR View page for easy viewing when viewed in a web browser.
- submissionReceipt.xml = This file documents when the COR was submitted, by whom, and with what electronic hashing algorithm.

The easiest way to view the DMR data is to view the dmrSubmission.xml file in a web browser such as Microsoft Internet Explorer. When opened in this way, the web browser will automatically format the data based on the stylesheet file

dischargeMonitoringReport.xsl. Note that the web browser will NOT be able to locate the stylesheet if the user does not first unzip all of the contents of the zip file into the same directory. The user may choose to also view the XML data directly in any text editor of their choice.

Any attachments that were uploaded for the DMR prior to signing will also be included in the COR files. These files have the names supplied by the person who uploaded them and can be in almost any format. NetDMR will not convert these files so it is up to the user to figure out how best to work with these files.

# I downloaded a COR and am trying to open it with my web browser but get a "The XML page cannot be displayed" error message from my web browser. How can I fix this?

Be sure to extract the DischargeMonitoringReport.xsl file into the same directory where the dmrSubmission.xml file you are trying to view is located.

#### **Assistance Questions**

#### Who should I contact for assistance with NetDMR?

For questions regarding access to your permit(s) contact the Permit Administrator for your permit(s). For questions regarding deleting a DMR or correcting a COR contact the Signatory for your permit(s). For all other questions or problems, contact your Regulatory Authority using the email address provided under the "New to NetDMR?" section of the NetDMR login page for your Instance.





### **Appendix K. Requesting Assistance**

Contact your Regulatory Authority using the email address displayed under the "New to NetDMR?" section of the login page of your Instance. Use this form as a guideline when contacting your Regulatory Authority.

Nama	<b>Requestor Contact Information</b>
Facility/Organization: Email Address: Phone Number:	
NetDMR Account Name: NPDES Permit ID:	NetDMR Identifying Information
User Type: Role:	Permittee/Facility Staff Data Provider/Lab/Contractor         View Edit Signatory Permit Administrator
A NetDMR Page:	Area of NetDMR Requiring Assistance
Question or Problem:	
Steps followed when question or problem arose:	
	OMR or COR Identifying Information

Permitted Feature ID:	
Discharge ID:	
Monitoring Period End Date:	
Parameter:	





### Appendix L – Signatory Authority

### 40 CFR 122.22 - Signatories to permit applications and reports (applicable to State programs, see 123.25).

Code of Federal Regulations - Title 40: Protection of Environment

Id. vLex: VLEX-19812669 http://vlex.com/vid/122-signatories-applicable-see-123-19812669

#### Text

TITLE 40 - PROTECTION OF ENVIRONMENT

CHAPTER I - ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

SUBCHAPTER D - WATER PROGRAMS

PART 122 - EPA ADMINISTERED PERMIT PROGRAMS: THE NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM

subpart b - PERMIT APPLICATION AND SPECIAL NPDES PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS

122.22 - Signatories to permit applications and reports (applicable to State programs, see 123.25).

(a) Applications. All permit applications shall be signed as follows: (1) For a corporation. By a responsible corporate officer. For the purpose of this section, a responsible corporate officer means: (i) A president, secretary, treasurer, or vice-president of the corporation in charge of a principal business function, or any other person who perfoms similar policy- or decision-making functions for the corporation, or (ii) the manager of one or more manufacturing, production, or operating facilities, provided, the manager is authorized to make management decisions which govern the operation of the regulated facility including having the explicit or implicit duty of making major capital investment recommendations, and initiating and directing other comprehensive measures to assure long term environmental compliance with environmental laws and regulations; the manager can ensure that the necessary systems are established or actions taken to gather complete and accurate information for permit application requirements; and where authority to sign documents has been

User-generated version Anonymous March 07, 2011 Page 1/3





40 CFR 122.22 - Signatories to permit applications and reports (applicable to... http://vlex.com/vid/122-signatories-applicable-see-123-19812669

assigned or delegated to the manager in accordance with corporate procedures.

Note: EPA does not require specific assignments or delegations of authority to responsible corporate officers identified in 122.22(a)(1)(i). The Agency will presume that these responsible corporate officers have the requisite authority to sign permit applications unless the corporation has notified the Director to the contrary. Corporate procedures governing authority to sign permit applications may provide for assignment or delegation to applicable corporate positions under 122.22(a)(1)(ii) rather than to specific individuals.

(2) For a partnership or sole proprietorship. By a general partner or the proprietor, respectively; or (3) For a municipality, State, Federal, or other public agency. By either a principal executive officer or ranking elected official. For purposes of this section, a principal executive officer of a Federal agency includes: (i) The chief executive officer of the agency, or (ii) a senior executive officer having responsibility for the overall operations of a principal geographic unit of the agency (e.g., Regional Administrators of EPA).

(b) All reports required by permits, and other information requested by the Director shall be signed by a person described in paragraph (a) of this section, or by a duly authorized representative of that person. A person is a duly authorized representative only if: (1) The authorization is made in writing by a person described in paragraph (a) of this section; (2) The authorization specifies either an individual or a position having responsibility for the overall operation of the regulated facility or activity such as the position of plant manager, operator of a well or a well field, superintendent, position of equivalent responsibility, or an individual or position having overall responsibility for environmental matters for the company, (A duly authorized representative may thus be either a named individual or any individual occupying a named position.) and, (3) The written authorization is submitted to the Director.

(c) Changes to authorization. If an authorization under paragraph (b) of this section is no longer accurate because a different individual or position has responsibility for the overall operation of the facility, a new authorization satisfying the requirements of paragraph (b) of this section must be submitted to the Director prior to or together with any reports, information, or applications to be signed by an authorized representative.

(d) Certification. Any person signing a document under paragraph (a) or (b) of this section shall make the following certification: I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing violations.

User-generated version Anonymous

Page 2/3



#### NetDMR Permittee and Data Provider User Guide July 2012



vlex

40 CFR 122.22 - Signatories to permit applications and reports (applicable to... http://vlex.com/vid/122-signatories-applicable-see-123-19812669

(Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.), Safe Drinking Water Act (42 U.S.C. 300f et seq.), Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 7401 et seq.), Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. 6901 et seq.)) [48 FR 14153, Apr. 1, 1983, as amended at 48 FR 39619, Sept. 1, 1983; 49 FR 38047, Sept. 29, 1984; 50 FR 6941, Feb. 19, 1985; 55 FR 48063, Nov.

16, 1990; 65 FR 30907, May 15, 2000]